
30 March 2015

NOTICE OF MEETING

CABINET
will meet on

Thursday, 9 April 2015
beginning at

6:00 pm
in the

Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Keith House – Leader of the Council & Chair of Cabinet
Councillor Anne Winstanley – Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor David Airey - Cabinet Member for Transport and Streetscene 
Councillor Louise Bloom - Cabinet Member for Environment and Sustainability
Councillor Alan Broadhurst - Cabinet Member for Leisure
Councillor Tonia Craig - Cabinet Member for Heath and Community Safety
Councillor Suzy Hamel - Cabinet Member for Business, Skills and Education
Councillor Steve Sollitt – Cabinet Member for Youth and Social Policy

Staff Contacts: Jon Brown, Asst. Head of Legal & Democratic Services 
Tel: 023 8068 8124; Email: jon.brown@eastleigh.gov.uk

RICHARD WARD
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in 

other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public.

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 6) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2015.

2. Apologies    

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4. Community Investment Programme - Strategy Review and Approval of Schemes    
(Pages 7 - 26)

5. Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029: Inspector's Report    (Pages 27 - 30) 

The appendix to this report can be found as part of the online agenda at 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk 

6. Local Development Scheme for the 2011-36 Local Plan    (Pages 31 - 34) 

The appendix to this report can be found as part of the online agenda at 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk 

7. Preliminary estimates of the Borough's housing need and supply to 2036    (Pages 
35 - 44) 

The appendix to this report can be found as part of the online agenda at 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk 

8. Eastleigh Borough Travelling Communities DPD: Representations on the draft 
Travelling Communities DPD and next steps    (Pages 45 - 48) 

The appendix to this report can be found as part of the online agenda at 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk 

9. Fleming Park Leisure Centre Redevelopment Project    (Pages 49 - 54)

10. Project Integra: Change to the Constitution and Approval of the Action Plan 2015-
2018    (Pages 55 - 84)

11. Land at Moorgreen Hospital and Moorgreen Dairy Farm Development Brief    
(Pages 85 - 114)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 21 May 2015 at 6:00 pm

in Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/


CABINET

Thursday, 5 March 2015  (6:00 pm – 6:03 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Winstanley, A Broadhurst, Craig and 
Hamel

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Airey, Bloom and 
Sollitt

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

1. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2015 be agreed 
as a correct record.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING 1 APRIL TO 31 DECEMBER 
2014

Issue

To consider the Corporate Financial Monitoring and Budget Management 
report for the period 1 April – 31 December 2014 (Paper 4)

Considerations

The report presents the Council’s overall financial position for the period 
from 1 April 2014 to 31 December 2014.  The forecast to the end of the 
financial year is a favourable variance of £145,714.  The Community 
Investment Programme budget for 2014/15 is £7,299,593, of which 
£4,054,667 had been spent as at 31 December 2014 with the forecast 
being that all budgets will be spent by the year end.  Budget Management 
proposals total £87,740.  Commitment to approval is subject to the 
availability of resources once the final outturn position for 2014/15 is 
known.
An updated Risk Assessment (Appendix D) was tabled at the meeting.

RESOLVED -

1

Agenda Item 1



(1) That the General Fund Revenue position as at 31 
December be noted;
(2) That the Community Investment Programme as at 31 
December 2014 be noted; and
(3) That Budget Management items totalling £87,740, as 
detailed in Appendix C of the report, be approved subject to 
the availability of resources.

4. DISCRETIONARY REDUCTION IN LIABILITY POLICY

Issue

To consider a proposed Discretionary Reduction in Liability Policy (Paper 
5)

Considerations

Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides the 
Council with additional discretionary powers to enable it to reduce the 
Council Tax liability where statutory discounts, exemptions and reductions 
do not apply or in such circumstances where the Council feels the level of 
discount, exemption or reductions is insufficient given the circumstances.  
The Council does not currently have a policy for dealing with applications 
for discretionary discount other than the policy for consideration of a 
discount under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) which 
replaced Council Tax Benefit from April 2013.  It is therefore appropriate to 
consider introducing a policy for this Council to ensure transparency of 
decision making and equality of service to our customers.

RESOLVED – 

That the Discretionary Reduction in Liability Policy, as detailed in 
Appendix 1 to the report, be approved.

5. BUSINESS RATE RELIEF

Issue

To consider the application of discretionary powers in respect of 
Transitional Relief awards, and related matters (Paper 6)

Considerations

There has been an extension of Transitional Relief for small and medium 
properties for a further two years, using the Councils discretionary powers, 
under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act.  Cabinet is asked 
to consider the implications and application of this, along with a number of 
related issues.

2



Additional information was tabled at the meeting to advise that the 
government has recently announced proposals to increase central funding 
for rate relief for retail premises with rateable value of less than £50,000 
from £1000 in 2014/15 to £1500 for 2015/16.

As Members have previously agreed the policy for granting relief it is 
recommended that the proposed increase is incorporated into that policy 
from 1 April 2015 for 2015/16 only.

In addition, as the Head of Revenue & Benefits has delegated powers to 
award relief under S47 of the Local Government Act 1988, it is also 
recommended that any future changes or extension to discretionary relief, 
where fully funded by Central Government, be incorporated into our local 
policies without further requirement to report to Cabinet. 

RESOLVED - 

(1) That the Council uses its discretionary powers to continue to 
award Transitional Relief to those qualifying properties in line 
with the details given in paragraphs 4-15 of the report;

(2) That the Council does not use its discretionary powers to 
award relief to registered care providers as detailed in 
paragraphs 16-21 of the report, due to the cost that will be 
borne by residents of the borough;

(3) That the Council does not use its discretionary powers to 
award relief to providers of cash machines (ATMs) as detailed 
in paragraphs 23-28 of the report, due to the cost that will be 
borne by residents of the borough;

(4) That increasing the discretionary relief be given to retail 
premises with a rateable value of £50,000 from £1000 to £1500 
for 2015/16; and

(5) That the Head of Revenue & Benefits includes any future 
changes or extensions to Discretionary Relief into current 
policies without the requirement to report to Cabinet.

6. WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS

Issue

To consider the write off of irrecoverable debts in respect of Council Tax, 
NNDR and Housing Benefit Overpayments (Paper 7)

Considerations

3

%5Cebc01-130
%5Cebc01-130


The Head of Revenue & Benefits has exercised delegated powers to write-
off certain debts and approval is sought for 4 debts over £2,000 to be 
written off.

RESOLVED –

(1) That the 550 written-off debts under £2,000 totalling £24,050.55 
be noted;

(2) That the 89 written-off debts due to bankruptcy/liquidation 
totalling £197,080.52 be noted;

(3) That the 94 reversed or recovered debts totalling £729.66 be 
noted; and

(4) That approval be given to write-off 4 debts over £2,000, as 
detailed in the report, totalling £10,217.06.

7. FIRST AID RISK ASSESSMENT NEEDS - DEFIBRILLATORS

Issue

To consider defibrillator requirements in the Borough (Paper 8)

Considerations

The report suggests the purchase of five additional defibrillators to be 
located at Itchen Valley Country Park, Lakeside, Eastleigh House, The 
Berry and The Depot. The need is based on a suitable and sufficient first 
aid risk assessment whereby all influencing factors have been carefully 
considered by the Corporate Health & Safety Manager and Assistant 
Facilities Manager. The total cost of acquisition for five defibrillators and 
three outdoor security boxes is £9400. The total cost of installation for the 
three outdoor security boxes is £1600. The total running cost is £100 per 
year per defibrillator.  All first aid staff at these sites will require suitable 
training in the use of the defibrillators if they have not done so already, and 
the Council’s first aid policy will require amending to reflect these changes. 

It is noted that the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area 
Committee (HEWEB LAC) approved funding in March 2014 for public 
access defibrillators to be installed at five Parish & Town Council 
premises. Therefore it is recommended that the public access defibrillators 
acquired for Eastleigh Borough Council operational buildings and open 
spaces should be consistent with those purchased by HEWEB LAC.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the purchase of 2 Automated External Defibrillators 
(AEDs) and 3 Public Access Defibrillators (PADs) be approved, 

4



to be located at or near the Council’s higher risk Operational 
Buildings; and

(2) That a one off sum of £11,000 be added to the Health and 
Safety Budget to allow for the purchase and installation of the 
defibrillators, and permanent growth of £500 per annum also 
be added to that Budget for ongoing operational/maintenance 
costs.

5



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Thursday 9 April 2015

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME – STRATEGY REVIEW 
AND APPROVAL OF SCHEMES

Report of the Chief Financial Officer

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(1) recommend to Council to approve the Community Investment 
Programme Strategy 2015/16 to 2018/19 as set out in Appendix A;

(2) recommend to Council the changes to the Prudential Indicators 
(Appendix B);

(3) approve £500,000 for the initial works for demolition and making safe at 
the former Civic Office site.  This will be funded by future income from 
the development of the site;

(4) approve £150,000 ongoing to enable the development of the Digital 
Strategy and initial delivery of projects.  This will be self financing from 
efficiencies as projects are implemented;

(5) approve a grant of up to £60,000 for 2015/16 for the resurfacing of 
Hiltingbury Tennis Courts to be funded from New Homes Bonus;

(6) approve £35,000 to repair the roof of units 3A & 3D Herald and £19,000 
be approved for the urgent redecoration works of units 3A, C & D.  The 
total sum will be funded as an invest to save scheme;

(7) approve allocation of £12,500 from the allocated housing capital funds to 
purchase the Homeless Module of the Hampshire Home Choice, Abritas 
software, web-based solution and

(8) note the change in funding from future S106 contributions to New 
Homes Bonus to fund the new guides HQ and scout hall at Ramalley.

Summary

The Community Investment Programme set out in this report is based on the best 
information available regarding costs and phasing of individual schemes but it 
should be recognised that, particularly for the later years, the estimates are only 
indicative.

1 7

Agenda Item 4



Alongside the provision of schemes to enhance the Community is the need to 
minimise historic long term unfunded debt.  The continuation of the policy to use of 
50% of future capital receipts (not already earmarked) to reduce this debt is 
included within this Strategy.

This Strategy covers the 4 years from 2015/16 to 2018/19 and totals over £89M.

Statutory Powers 
Local Government Act 1972, Sections 111, 151 

Background

1. The overall aim of the CIP Strategy is to ensure it delivers the priorities of the 
Council.  These priorities are:

 A Clean and Green Borough – making a difference to our environment.
 A Healthy Community – active and lively with a spirit of community, 

togetherness and wellbeing.
 A Prosperous Place – where business can flourish and everyone is 

able to share in prosperity.

2. Each year Cabinet approves a 4 Year Strategy for the Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).  In addition reports are submitted to Cabinet on a monthly 
basis seeking approval for individual schemes as necessary.  Local Area 
Committees approve the schemes within their respective Programme.  All 
schemes included within Cabinet reports for approval have been considered 
and recommended by the relevant Programme Board.

3. Since December 2002 almost 820 individual schemes totalling over £170M 
have been completed delivering a wide range of facilities across the Borough.   
These vary from major construction works costing £Ms down to smaller, 
mainly Area Committee schemes.  

4. The original Strategy in 2002 was established on the basis that finance would 
be realised from the sale of some major assets and a continuing stream of 
developers’ contributions.  The Council had, until 2009, limited its borrowing to 
only one scheme, the purchase of Wessex House.  However, the economic 
downturn that developed in the latter half of 2008 created a situation where 
the Council could no longer generate the volume of asset sales and 
developers’ contributions previously enjoyed.  

5. The financing of the CIP follows a hierarchy to ensure that schemes are 
funded by appropriate resources.  Financing tools applied to schemes are 
primarily:

 Capital Receipts and Developers Contributions
 Prudential Borrowing
 New Homes Bonus – typically to support infrastructure where there is a 

gap in the business case
 Revenue funding or other grant income

28



6. The core financing for the CIP is now Prudential Borrowing and the Strategy 
adopted from 2010/11 onwards reflects a significant increase in the Council’s 
plans to borrow from the Money Market.  Over the past few years the Council 
has very effectively used the Prudential Code for capital financing for those 
schemes generating an income.  This has been particularly relevant to the 
Property Acquisition Strategy which has enabled strategic property purchases 
with rental income meeting borrowing costs.  Steps are taken to ensure that 
schemes are self financing wherever possible and financial appraisals are 
undertaken to ensure that capital and borrowing costs can be recovered over 
the life of the asset.

7. The bigger challenge is the schemes within the CIP for which there is no 
income, most particularly operational building repairs, vehicles and IT 
replacement equipment.  Expenditure on these infrastructure assets is 
unavoidable as without them the Council cannot provide services however 
they do not directly generate income.  With limited capital receipts it is 
important that borrowing does not simply grow without related costs being 
recognised and a source of finance being identified.  Efforts are being made 
where possible to reduce the historic long term unfunded debt.  This includes 
the annual application of 50% of future non-earmarked capital receipts to 
finance non-income generating / unfunded assets.

8. To control non income generating expenditure it is vital that long term asset 
plans are in place to profile projects and expenditure.  These plans can then 
be built into the Budget.  The Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme is 
being developed as part of the review of the Transport Unit that is currently 
underway.  This will be brought to Cabinet in September 2015 and the 
financial effects will be incorporated within the Medium Term Budget process.

9. A long term Asset Plan concentrating on our Property Portfolio is also 
important to identify the level and timing of potential maintenance costs.  The 
Head of Regeneration and Policy Planning reported the current Asset Plan to 
Cabinet in September 2014 and the financial effect is included within this 
strategy where known.

10. The development of the Digital Strategy is a key strand of the Future Eastleigh 
programme which will ensure that the Council operates effectively and 
efficiently in the future with regard to digital innovation.  In order to develop the 
strategy there is a need to invest to determine a programme of change that 
will lead to efficiencies and budget savings for the future.  Cabinet are asked 
to approve an ongoing capital budget of £150,000, initially funded by 
borrowing, which will be repaid from future efficiencies as digital projects are 
developed.

11. The cost of assets is written off over their useful life ensuring that we do not 
have any borrowing outstanding for an asset that no longer exists.  There is 
already provision for the revenue costs of non-income generating assets 
within the revenue budget.  In approving future plans for non-income 
generating assets consideration will need to be given to the level of available 
funding.  Additional revenue costs would need to either be found from within 
existing resources or considered as a growth bid. 

3 9



12. There are two significant CIP projects in the short term.  The Council is 
continuing to support the development at the Ageas Bowl and will spend £27M 
to take ownership on completion of the hotel/conference centre early in 
2015/16.  The other material scheme is the redevelopment of the Fleming 
Park Leisure Centre.  Progress on this scheme is detailed elsewhere on this 
Cabinet agenda.

Process of Scheme Approval and Monitoring

13. The CIP Strategy consists of schemes identified by Members and Officers as 
being of benefit to the community.  The Strategy gives an indication of the 
indicative cost of schemes and when they are planned to commence 
depending upon funding becoming available.  Many of the schemes begin with 
a feasibility study after which the scope, timescale and costs of schemes will 
be refined.  The CIP is a rolling Strategy to maximise the use of resources and 
conflicting scheme priorities.  

14. The Planning Policy Team identify potential infrastructure improvements as 
part of the Local Plan process.  In future it is intended to incorporate relevant 
areas of this plan into the CIP strategy and monitoring.  This will enable the 
Planning Policy Team to more easily identify sources of funding for schemes.  
This will also be a mechanism for identifying schemes to be considered as 
part of the negotiation of Developers Contributions.
 

15. To provide a manageable structure there are 4 Programme Areas:
 CIP (Infrastructure/Urban Regeneration & Leisure)
 Housing
 Information Communications and Technology (ICT)
 Local Areas

16. For each Programme Area there is a Programme Board managed by a 
member of Management Team and comprising a member of Cabinet 
alongside officers involved with the implementation of the schemes.  The aim 
of the Boards is to ensure that schemes progress as planned and that 
finances and staff resources are managed efficiently and effectively.  Crucial 
to this work is the determination and changing of priorities to ensure that the 
potential for implementing schemes is maximised.

Housing Strategy

17. Substantial funding was injected into the Council’s Housing Capital 
Programme in March 1996, when the Council successfully achieved a Large 
Scale Voluntary Transfer (LSVT) of its Council houses.  The total gross receipt 
for the sale was subject to a Government levy, capital receipt reservation and 
other deductible costs eventually resulting in the Council receiving £14M as a 
usable capital receipt.

18. The Council allocated the entire sum of £14m to Housing Capital Programme 
projects.  A further £7M, mainly resulting from a Right to Buy (RTB) contract 
with housing associations associated with the LSVT have also been 
progressively credited to the housing funds over the years.  However, these 

410



RTB receipts have reduced considerably in recent times due to a reduction in 
qualifying, long-standing tenants wishing to exercise their RTB intent.

19. The Housing and Environmental Health Unit have carefully managed the 
capital funds over the many years since its creation and a sum of nearly £6M 
is still retained for future application to housing capital projects in line with the 
Housing Strategy.  A new income stream for the Housing Strategy is the 
affordable housing element of the New Homes Bonus.  This is further 
discussed in paragraph 27.

20. Cabinet are asked to approve the commitment of £12,500 from the Housing 
capital fund to implement the Homeless module within the Hampshire Home 
Choice system.  This will cover the cost of Licenses (Fixed fee – unlimited 
number), training and expenses incurred in the delivery of the software 
solution.  £3,200 per annum annual support and maintenance is to be funded 
from existing revenue budgets.

21. The new Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) has been set up in partnership with 
Fareham Borough Council, First Wessex and Radian Housing.  This new 
company, Aspect Building Communities Limited, is an independent company 
to aid in the delivery of housing across the Borough.

22. The Council and its partners will issue repayable grants to the company to 
help facilitate its activities.  These grants will be treated as capital expenditure 
and will be financed by Prudential Borrowing.  Each scheme will be 
considered individually and will be treated on a commercial basis to ensure 
payback of revenue costs.  In line with the Council’s strategy for New Homes 
Bonus there is the opportunity to subsidise schemes to offset borrowing costs 
and achieve a viable financial position.

Funding Streams

23. As previously mentioned, there is no longer a high volume of capital receipts 
or developers contributions available to fund the CIP.  CIP funding comes from 
a variety of sources and the table below shows the use of funding tools over 
the past 4 years:

2011/12 – 
2014/15

£000 %
Developers Contributions 6,061 8.9
Capital Receipts 166 0.2
New Homes Bonus 4,049 5.9
Other Grants 4,240 6.2
Revenue Contributions including grants and reserves 2,196 3.2
Borrowing 51,462 75.6

Total 68,174 100.0

24. The costs of borrowing are borne by the General Fund Revenue Account as 
interest costs and the repayment of capital over the life of the asset (Minimum 

5 11



Revenue Provision - MRP).  Although the level of borrowing is high this needs 
to be seen in context as much of this is funded from additional income 
accruing to the General Fund.  All borrowing is made in accordance with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy.  The table below demonstrates the 
split between funded/income generating assets and non income generating 
assets that are funded by borrowing:

Borrowing costs to end 2015/16
£M

Income generating assets 126
Non Income generating assets 36
Total 162

25. With pressures on the Revenue Budget and the need to secure additional 
efficiencies in the General Fund Revenue Account any increased level of 
borrowing must be accompanied by the identification of revenue 
consequences and resources.  Interest rates have been at 0.5% since 2009 
and our treasury advisors suggest that we may see the first modest rises 
during 2016 and increased costs of borrowing for non income generating 
assets can only result in growth.

26. Each individual income generating CIP scheme is assessed to determine 
whether there is a reasonable payback period compared to the expected life of 
the related asset.  The financial appraisal model applies the long term interest 
rate to each scheme to determine viability.  Currently the majority of borrowing 
is short term and therefore at more favourable rates than those used within the 
appraisal. 

New Homes Bonus

27. The New Homes Bonus grant scheme was introduced by the Government in 
2011/12 with the aim of incentivising housing build and also bringing empty 
residential properties back into use.  The Council has committed all New 
Homes Bonus grant income to community projects as detailed below:

2011/12-
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

2017/18-
2021/22 Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Housing Strategy  87  2,709 1,207 2,888 6,891
Lowford Community Centre 3,782  3,782
Lakeside Country Park  1,000 1,000
Chandler’s Ford Projects  110 469 286 135 1,000
Fleming Park Leisure Centre  3,747 3,747
Total 3,979 3,178 2,493 6,770 16,420

Developers’ Contributions

28. Clearly there are risks from implementing schemes before funding has been 
secured.  To minimise these risks there need to be parameters in place before 
schemes to be forward funded from Developers’ Contributions can be 
approved.  

612



 The scheme earmarked to provide the Developers’ Contribution must have 
received outline planning approval;

 The Section 106 agreement must have been negotiated with the 
Developer;  

 The scheme being proposed must be covered by the potential Developers’ 
Contribution and be part of the list of schemes already highlighted as 
desirable within the CIP;  

 The borrowing costs relating to the scheme costs will need to be included 
as part of the CIP scheme cost.  

 There must be some certainty that the Developers’ Contributions will 
payback the costs within 3 years.  

 The level of CIP expenditure being forward funded will be regularly 
reported to Members as part of the quarterly financial monitoring process.

As this is a new policy it will be closely monitored and may need to be refined 
as more instances are worked through practically.

Capital Receipts

29. Although capital receipts are no longer a significant source of finance there are 
still receipts each year from the sales of assets including vehicles and some 
properties.  The policy to earmark 50% of annual capital receipts not 
specifically earmarked to non-income generating assets is continuing.  The 
aim of this is to reduce borrowing costs for assets that historically led to 
increased debt.

Proposed Programme 2015/16 to 2018/19

30. The proposed Programme contains a range of schemes, some of which are 
committed and underway whereas others have been submitted by Programme 
Boards as potential bids for future resources.  Recognising the current 
economic climate and the importance of aligning the CIP to meet the strategic 
priorities all of the Programme Boards have undertaken a review of their 
respective schemes priorities.   As a result the proposed Programme in this 
Strategy amounts to schemes totalling over £89M analysed as follows (see 
Appendix A for details):

7

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Developers’ 
Contributions 3,799 419 0 700 4,918
Revenue Contribution 327 1,137 984 1,081 3,529
New Homes Bonus 3,158 2,493 2,299 1,767 9,737
Grants 5,504 436 400 400 6,740
Borrowing 62,798 876 0 461 64,135

75,606 5,361 5,333 4,604 89,059

13



31. The delay in realising the developers’ contribution for the Drapers site in 
Chandler’s Ford means that funding needs to be reassigned from New Homes 
Bonus monies to ensure that the scheme to develop a new girl guiding and 
scouts headquarters is fully funded (recommendation 8).

32. The implementation of individual schemes will be in accordance with the 
currently agreed processes requiring approval from the respective Programme 
Board and then progressing to Cabinet via the monthly CIP Approval of 
Schemes report.  Area Committee schemes are approved by the respective 
Area Committee.  Included in the Corporate Financial Monitoring Report 
submitted to Cabinet each quarter is an update on the overall Programme and 
explanations of significant variances. 

33. Members are requested to consider and approve the overall Strategy.

Approval of Schemes

Demolition and making safe of former Civic Offices site £500,000

34. With the imminent redevelopment of the former Civic Offices and Magistrates 
Court site, approval is sought for £500,000 to enable the demolition and 
making safe at the site.  All costs of developing the site will be recovered from 
future income streams.  Further details on the development proposals for the 
site will be brought to Members when more details are known.

Resurfacing of Hiltingbury Tennis Courts £60,000

35. At the November 2014 meeting of the Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury local 
area committee, Members approved a list of priority capital schemes for the 
area that could be funded by the New Homes Bonus grant.  This included the 
funding of the resurfacing of the tennis courts at the Hiltingbury Recreation 
Ground which has recently been transferred to Chandler’s Ford parish council.

36. Cabinet are asked to approve the allocation of £60,000 to the scheme and the 
parish council will undertake the project during 2015/2016.  The scheme will 
comply with appropriate tendering processes and monies will be payable on 
receipt of invoices. 

Herald Industrial Estate Repairs

37. In November 2014 £45,000 was set aside from reserves for roof works at 
Herald Industrial Estate.  External repair works have been completed to unit 
2b however no acceptable quotes were obtained for the repair works 
necessary to units 3a and 3d.  Contractors were unwilling to offer guarantees 
for the works due to the fragile nature of the surrounding roof.  Therefore the 
most viable option is to completely recover the roof of each unit.  This has 

814



been estimated to cost £30,000 per unit.  £25,000 is remaining from the 
original budget and there is a requirement for an additional £35,000 to 
undertake this work.  The work will come with a 10 year guarantee.

38. In addition, the industrial estate is in urgent need of external decoration.  The 
Council has an obligation to undertake the decoration of 3 units (Units 3a,3c 
and 3d).  A sum of £19,000 is required for this work.  

39. Terms have recently been agreed with a new tenant on a unit previously 
unoccupied for some years.  This additional rental income will be set aside to 
fund the repair and redecoration works identified above as an invest to save 
scheme.

Financial Implications

40. The background to this Strategy report explains the financial implications 
regarding the overall Strategy and the financing of the additions to the 
Programme will be financed in accordance with the Strategy.

41. The table in paragraph 30 gives an initial view of funding but this will be 
dependent on the actual Developers’ Contributions and Capital Receipts 
received.  New Homes Bonus will be utilised on projects with a direct 
community benefit.  Any borrowing will be financed from revenue over the life 
of the asset.  For example the cost of vehicles will be recovered over seven 
years.  It is therefore very important when considering schemes that all the 
revenue implications, including borrowing costs, are properly considered and 
provision identified in the Revenue Budget. 

42. In order to minimise growth in the Revenue Budget resulting from capital 
expenditure, all future corporate non-income generating projects will be 
funded from within existing revenue budgets where possible.

43. Prudential rules will continue to be followed and the financial viability of each 
scheme will be fully assessed and presented to the relevant committee for 
approval.  The financial impact of the potential increased level of borrowing is 
built within the current Budget Strategy and is reflected in the recently 
approved Budget. 

44. All borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy.  The Prudential Indicators are included at Appendix B.

 
45. Previous experience has shown that schemes within the Programme will be 

re-phased into future years and the reality is that there is a limit to the amount 
that can actually be spent in any one year.  What is clear, however, is that 
there is very little scope to add additional schemes to the Programme without 
first deleting existing schemes and that as the Programme is rolled forward 
year on year the level of borrowing will increase.

46. Financial Standing Orders make it very clear that no capital spend can be 
committed unless the revenue implications have also been considered and 
included in the Revenue Budget.  

9 15



Risk Assessment

47. The management of risk has always been an essential element of the 
Programme, particularly in respect of finance.  This remains the crucial issue 
and it is important to assess the source of funding whether Capital receipts or 
borrowing before a scheme can progress.

48. With the funding of schemes from Developers’ Contributions not yet received 
there is a risk that income will be delayed or indeed not received at all.  The 
measures set out in para 28 aim to mitigate this risk. 

49. As with previous years, active management of the Programme is essential 
with Programme Boards being prepared to react swiftly to the changes in the 
financial position.  This process has worked very successfully to date and it is 
envisaged that it will continue to do so for 2015/16 and beyond. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

50. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out as there are no 
proposed significant changes to new or existing services, policies or 
strategies.
 
Chief Financial Officer’s Statement

51. The Local Government Act 2003 (sections 25 and 26) requires the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) to report to the Council, when making budget related 
decisions, on:

i. The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of setting the 
Council Tax

ii. The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves

52. It has been demonstrated over the past eleven years that the financing of the 
overall CIP has been very prudent.  This current Strategy reflects the shift in 
funding in that the Council will now rely heavily on borrowing to ensure 
schemes progress as planned.  With the current economic climate this is a 
sensible and prudent plan but it will need to be kept under close scrutiny to 
ensure the borrowing is undertaken at the most advantageous terms.  All 
borrowing will be undertaken in line with the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy.

Conclusion

53. The Council should quite rightly be very proud of what it has achieved over the 
past eleven years since the CIP Strategy, in its current form, was launched.  
This Strategy for the next four years seeks to preserve the ambition to 
implement a wide range of schemes but in doing so also takes account of the 
current economic climate.

54. The CIP Strategy has been revised for the period 2015/16 to 2018/19.  In 

1016



doing so it sets out a further ambitious and exciting Programme for the next 
four years totalling over £89M.

55. As in previous years the importance of managing the financial resources 
available cannot be over emphasised and it needs to be understood that 
action will have to be taken to vary the Programme to match available 
resources.

56. The implication of the Capital Strategy is progressing and this report seeks:

 Cabinet’s recommendation to the Council of the Community Investment 
Programme Strategy 2015/16 to 2018/19 as set out in Appendix A 

 Cabinet’s recommendation to the Council of the changes to the 
Prudential Indicators (Appendix B)

 Approval of £500,000 for the initial works in demolition and making safe 
at the former Civic Office site.  This will be funded by future income 
from the development of the site (para 34)

 Approval for £150,000 ongoing to facilitate the Digital Strategy to be 
funded from future efficiencies  (para 10)

 Approval of £60,000 for 2015/16 for the resurfacing of Hiltingbury 
Tennis Courts to be funded from New Homes Bonus (paras 35-36)

 Approval of £35,000 to repair the roof of units 3A & 3D Herald and 
£19,000 be approved for the urgent redecoration works of units 3A, C & 
D.  The total sum will be funded as an invest to save scheme. (para 37-
39)

 Approval of the allocation of £12,500 from Housing capital funds to 
purchase the Homeless Module of the Hampshire Home Choice, 
Arbritas software, web-based solution. (para 20)

 Note the change in funding from future S106 contributions to New 
Homes Bonus to fund new guides HQ and scout hall at Ramalley (para 
31).

SARAH KING

Chief Financial Officer

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh
Hants
SO50 9YN

11 17



Date: 18 March 2015
Contact Officer: Sarah King
Tel No: (023 8068 8011)
E-Mail: - sarah.king@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 2
Report No: fs517

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report.  This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: 

None

1218

mailto:sarah.king@eastleigh.gov.uk


4 Year CIP Programme (as at April 2015) Appendix A

Costs shown here include funds from all sources e.g. EBC, Borrowing, Developer Contributions and other external funds.

TOTAL 4 YEAR CIP PROGRAMME
Cost -
Total 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Schemes
Summary

ICT 894,432 259,150 185,282 150,000 150,000 150,000
Housing 14,569,339 1,686,260 5,302,581 2,886,098 2,464,800 2,229,600
Infrastructure 13,621,728 2,797,071 6,760,240 1,801,677 933,475 1,329,265
Local Area, Town and Village Centre 4,885,250 1,376,549 2,850,239 523,462 135,000 0
Urban Regeneration 35,294,553 661,762 34,632,791 0 0 0
Leisure 27,416,682 841,479 25,875,203 0 0 700,000
Grand Total 96,681,984 7,622,271 75,606,336 5,361,237 3,683,275 4,408,865

19



Infrastructure
Thornden to Otterbourne Cycleway 222 Y 222
Vehicle & Plant Programme 5,248,741 Y 568,806 1,468,975 1,534,800 622,885 1,053,275
Waste Collection Receptacles 186,392 Y 76,392 55,000 55,000
Waste Collection Receptacles 110,000 n 55,000 55,000
General Packet Radio Service System 8,181 Y 8,181
Public Transport Initiative 72,211 Y 28,251 10,990 10,990 10,990 10,990
Twyford Rd Access & Env. Imp Feasibility 38,992 Y 18,225 20,767
Asset Management Programme 0 Y 0 0
The Point Minor Building Works 48,443 Y 870 47,573
Asset Management Programme 566,337 Y 11,800 154,537 200,000 200,000
Hedge End Depot Building works 1,802 Y 1,802
Solar Photo Voltaic (PV) Panels (climate change) 206,948 Y 2,667 204,281
Hedge End Railway Station Car Park 154,490 Y 154,490
Street Lights & Banners 2,000 Y 2,000
Netley Cliff Coastal Erosion Scheme 13,000 Y 13,000
Black Horse House paint & ceilings 205,000 Y 205,000
Grange Park Road Resurfacing 6,518 Y 68 6,450
Anaerobic Digestion Feasibility Study 60,000 Y 60,000
Hiltingbury Pavilion Roof 25,000 Y 25,000
Corporate branding and signage project 9,810 Y 9,810
Garden Waste Wheeled Bins 99,869 Y 59,869 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
Wessex House Kitchenettes 12,597 Y 12,597
Brookwood Cemetery Lodge 15,751 Y 15,751
The Point R&R 5,500 Y 5,500
Trade Waste Bins 62,170 Y 50,170 12,000
Solar Photo Voltaic Farm IVCP 1,178,457 Y 10,000 1,168,457
Wessex House Cladding 839,509 Y 500,000 339,509
Bus Station Toilets 10,000 Y 5,000 5,000
Lakeside Hot Water Provision 2,828 Y 2,828
Solent Green Deal Community Fund 3,336,900 Y 836,900 2,500,000
The Hub Heating Manifold 5,000 Y 5,000
Replacement Car Club 8,000 Y 8,000
Hedge End Depot Roof 90,000 Y 40,000 50,000
The Point Capital Works 471,697 Y 76,787 394,910
Herald Industrial Estate Roof Repairs 45,000 Y 20,072 24,928
Franking Machine 6,000 Y 6,000
Sidings Industrial Estate Dilapidation Works 147,550 Y 2,000 74,600 36,350 34,600
Depot Control Room 12,000 Y 6,000 6,000
The Hub Heating Alterations 4,813 Y 4,813
Mitchell Road Car Park Lifts 250,000 Y 15,000 235,000
Herald Industrial Estate Roof/Redecoration 54,000 n 54,000
Total 13,621,728 2,797,071 6,760,240 1,801,677 933,475 1,329,265

Total Infrastructure Committed 13,457,728 2,797,071 6,706,240 1,801,677 878,475 1,274,265

2017/182016/172015/162014/15Project Total Cost Committed 2018/19

20



Local Area, Town and Village Centres
BFOHH 
Youth Area Facility 5,769 Y 5,769
Botley Rd/Eastleigh Rd Junction 4,014 Y 4,014
Community Building Horton Heath 97,176 Y 97,176
Community Building Whalesmead 70,286 Y 70,286
Sandy Lane Bus Shelter Northbound 8,844 Y 8,844
Glebe Meadow Refurbishment 14,694 Y 4,694 10,000
BHH 
Cycle Network - Grange Rd/Soton Boundary 682 Y 682
Old Netley Rec Ground - Pavilion 19,275 Y 19,275
Hound Corner Pond Creation 304 Y 304
Dog/litter Bins 854 Y 854
Station Rd Rec. Grnd Fencing 8,000 Y 8,000
Hamble Public Art 2,179 Y 2,179
Station/Hound Rd Cycle Link 5,000 Y 5,000
Long Lane Rec. Grnd Grant 3,575 Y 3,050 525
Strawberry Trail Improvements 6,513 Y 6,513
Pilands Skateramp 85,000 Y 85,000
Improvements to Open Space areas in Bursledon 3,391 Y 3,391
Sophie's Pond Imp. Near RVCP Entrance 1,256 Y 1,256
Verdon Ave Improvements 530 Y 530
Hamble Rail Trail Resurfacing 3,354 Y 3,354
Priory Road Pedestrian Crossing Imp. 5,440 Y 5,440
Station Pub TRO 25 Y 25
Manor House TRO 26 Y 26
Station Rd Pedestrian Crossing 5,711 Y 0 5,711
Greyladyes Art Foundation (GAF) 50,000 Y 50,000 0
Hamble Lifeboat Station Redevelopment 50,000 Y 30,000 20,000
Abbey Hall Changing Rooms 6,000 Y 6,000
Abbotts Lodge Cycle Barrier 1,000 Y 1,000
Ensign Way Bin 515 Y 515
Hound Rd/Hound Way Crossing 49,789 Y 49,789
Lowford Signage 1,000 Y 1,000
The Grove to Long Lane Footpath Imp. 5,243 Y 5,243
HEWEB 
HEWEB Unallocated Resources 10,691 n 10,691
Botley Transport Initiatives 7,000 Y 7,000
Moorgreen Meadows 6,825 Y 6,825
Pedestrian Refuge in Lower Northam Rd - Feasibility 2,664 Y 2,664
Telegraph Woods 14,058 Y 3,521 10,537
Wildern Studio/Theatre 1,096 Y 1,096
Botley allotments & Community Hut - improve security 80,000 n 80,000
Environmental Imp. Botley Square, Car Park 50,000 n 50,000
Wildern School - extended Floodlight MUGA 95,000 n 95,000
Wildern School - Swimming Pool Upgrade/roof 400,000 n 400,000
Hedge End Town Centre - Environmental Improvements 380,000 n 380,000
Public Artwork Ageas Bowl 36,993 Y 36,993
Public Art creating a history trail West End Village 6,926 Y 6,926
Public Art Kings Copse Primary School 29,212 Y 29,212
Public Art at the Crematorium, West End 11,731 Y 11,731
Dowds Farm Links 22,169 Y 2,000 20,169
Creation of new open space Hedge End 1,791 Y 1,791
Upgrade gravel paths adj to Hargreaves Site 2,494 Y 2,494
Kings Community Church Youth Zone 40,000 Y 40,000
Wellstead Park & Stride 98,071 Y 98,071
Hedge End Station Cycle Parking Improvements 11,724 Y 11,724
Dowd's Farm Community Building 4,932 Y 4,932
Winchester Street Bus Stop 4,427 Y 4,427
Turnpike Way Football Goal Unit 15,000 Y 15,000
IVCP - Forest School Kindergarden 23,205 Y 23,205
Lower Northam Rd Footway Links 14,370 Y 2,605 11,765
Allen Road Dropped Kerbs 3,650 Y 3,650
Hedge End Community Tennis Project 3,541 Y 3,541
Botleigh Bridge Improvements 11,000 Y 11,000
Ageas Bowl Boxing Facilities 360,000 Y 50,000 310,000
IVCP Car Park Feasibility Study 2,000 Y 1,300 700

2017/182016/172015/162014/15Project Total Cost Committed 2018/19

21



Eastleigh 
Eastleigh Unallocated Resources 9,805 n 9,805
Freespace BMX track improvements 35,000 Y 35,000
Pirelli Grants 20,868 Y 20,868
Engraved Paving Stones 11,161 Y 11,161
Leigh Rd Rec. Ground - Surface Improvements 950 Y 950
Energy Youth Facility 2,768 Y 2,768
New Litter Bins & Benches 7,283 Y 4,425 2,858
ELAC Notice Boards 967 Y 967
Lakeside Country Park Access Road 5,806 Y 5,806
Lakeside Country Park Car Parks 12,892 Y 12,892
Falcon Square Open Space Imp. 8,604 Y 8,604
Pavilion on the Park Annexe 236,441 Y 107,441 129,000
Air Quality Management Area Signs 1,035 Y 1,035
Cranbury Centre Garage Extension 1,496 Y 1,496
Eastleigh Street Furniture 34,145 Y 9,145 25,000
Leigh Rd Rec. Ground - replacement furniture 20,249 Y 13,249 7,000
Market Place Environmental Improvements 574,682 Y 324,682 250,000
Eastleigh Town Centre Cycle Parking 1,726 Y 1,726
Eastleigh Town Centre Public Art 22,166 Y 22,166
Surrey Court Public Art 73 Y 73
Barton Peveril Public Art 10,663 Y 10,663
Leigh Rd Rec. Ground Play Area - resurfacing paths 1,540 Y 1,540
Monks Way Play Area 3,805 Y 3,805
War Memorial 16,080 Y 16,080
The Hub LED Floodlights 70,000 Y 61,000 9,000
The Hub new third rugby pitch 9,550 Y 9,550
Equiping Cable Works on the Sirocco Pk Estate 90,000 Y 60,000 30,000
Grantham Green replacement play equipment 1,000 Y 1,000
Twyford Rd Pedestrian Crossing TSI 465 13,081 Y 13,081
Lakeside Estate Play Areas 139,978 Y 139,978
Fleming Park Old Golf Course Improvements 350,000 Y 350,000
Resurfacing Burns Close Allotments Access Rd 2,648 Y 2,648
Chandlers Ford
Hiltingbury Water Meadows 652 Y 652
Pennine Way Recreation Grnd Improvements 15,531 Y 15,531
CFORD New Street Furniture 8,691 Y 75 8,616
The Arch Youth Theatre Public Art 250 Y 250
Th Arch upgrade of facilities 19,712 Y 3,000 16,712
Fryern Pavilion 7,151 Y 275 6,876
Hiltingbury Recreation Ground Playing Surface 33,415 Y 33,415
Brickfield Lane Cycle Strategy TSI 231 17,553 Y 17,553
St Swithun Wells Primary School Cycle Shelter 259 Y 259
Hiltingbury Skate Ramp 15,695 Y 15,695
Winchester Rd Footway Widening 18,665 Y 18,665
Winchester/Kings Rd Shelter 3,475 Y 3,475
Cycle Parking CPYT 915 Y 238 677
Hiltingbury Lakes Countryside Site 15,000 Y 5,000 10,000
Ramalley Countryside Site 15,000 Y 5,000 10,000
Hut Farm Play Area 60,809 Y 60,809
Hiltingbury Rec. Grnd - Upgrade of Tennis Courts 40,000 n 40,000
Ramalley Guides HQ and Scout Hall 189,000 n 189,000
Funding from NHB - schemes to be advised 441,000 n 306,000 135,000

4,885,250 1,376,549 2,850,239 523,462 135,000 0

Total Local Area, Town & Village Centres Committed 3,189,754 1,365,858 1,656,434 167,462 0 0

Leisure
Fleming Park Leisure Centre 22,000,000 n 22,000,000
Fleming Park Leisure Centre 1,497,250 Y 500,000 997,250
Lakeside Waterside Centre 2,502,809 Y 279,856 2,222,953
New Playing Fields - Hedge End 700,000 n 700,000
Fleming Park Paddling Pool 1,079 Y 1,079
Itchen Valley Country Park Visitor Facilities 600,000 n 600,000
Itchen Valley Country Park Visitor Facilities Expansion 34,600 Y 19,600 15,000
Fleming Park Bowling Green 80,944 Y 40,944 40,000
Total 27,416,682 841,479 25,875,203 0 0 700,000

Total Leisure Committed 4,116,682 841,479 3,275,203 0 0 0

2017/182016/17

2014/15

2014/15Project Total Cost Committed

Project Total Cost Committed 2018/19

2018/192015/16

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

22



Urban Regeneration
Woodside Ave Development 1,194 Y 1,194
Eastleigh House Refurbishment 89,001 Y 89,001
Bursledon Comm. GP Surgery 0 Y 0
Ageas Bowl Development 27,476,552 Y 76,552 27,400,000
Mitchell Rd Car Pk ext. works to Town Centre 5,741 Y 5,741
Household Waste Recycle Centre Stoneycroft Rise 1,777,107 Y 237,220 1,539,887
Channon Retail Park POD Building 51,270 Y 51,270
CIP Project Management Training 6,100 Y 6,100
Regal Walk Env. Improvements 20,859 Y 20,859
Hampshire House 201,229 Y 166 201,063
Hampshire Community Bank 500,000 Y 500,000
M&S Retail Unit 3,820,000 Y 50,000 3,770,000
Dutton Lane Car Park 275,000 Y 25,000 250,000
Cash Machine Eastleigh House 10,500 Y 10,500
Fryern Pavilion 300,000 Y 100,000 200,000
Land 73a Hiltingbury Road 260,000 Y 260,000
Civic Site 500,000 n 500,000
Total 35,294,553 661,762 34,632,791 0 0 0

Total Urban Regeneration Committed 34,794,553 661,762 34,132,791 0 0 0

ICT 
Self Service Project 8,086 Y 6,096 1,990
Digital Strategy 600,000 n 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
Network Infrastructure 8,436 Y 8,436
Website Redevelopment & Phase 2 5,525 Y 2,763 2,762
Reporting Development Resource 24,060 Y 24,060
EDRM Project 51,039 Y 51,039
ICT Repairs & Renewals 51,979 Y 51,979
Hampshire Public Service Network (HPSN 2) 300 Y 300
Financial Payroll Services System 8,313 Y 4,313 4,000
Academy Upgrade 2,821 Y 2,400 421
Wessex House ICT/Telephony Services 670 Y 670
Land Registry GIS Dataset 3,000 Y 3,000
Intranet Project 31,453 Y 17,671 13,782
Mobile Device Management Software 10,000 Y 10,000
Lagan Upgrade 45,000 Y 41,109 3,891
Integra 2 Finance System Upgrade 43,750 Y 43,750
Total 894,432 259,150 185,282 150,000 150,000 150,000

Total ICT Committed 294,432 259,150 35,282 0 0 0

HOUSING
Empty  Home Loans Scheme 350,000 n 50,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Empty Home Loans Scheme 50,000 Y 50,000
H.M.O.Grants 20,000 n 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
H.M.O.Grant 5,000 Y 5,000
Disabled Facility Grant 1,212,683 Y 1,212,683
Disabled Facility Grant 4,800,000 n 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000
Home Improvement Loan/Grant 400,000 n 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Home Improvement Loan 100,000 Y 50,000 50,000
Redevelopment of Monks Brook 827,392 Y 327,360 226,176 273,856
Priority Housing Development 500,000 n 500,000
Redevelopment of Surrey Court 400,000 Y 400,000
Woodside Ave & Hatch Farm (outline planning) 498,455 Y 86,695 411,760
SPV Projects 5,388,787 n 2,297,145 1,207,242 1,059,800 824,600
Hampshire Home Choice Lettings Scheme 4,522 Y 4,522
Homeless Module (Abritas software) 12,500 n 12,500
Total 14,569,339 1,686,260 5,302,581 2,886,098 2,464,800 2,229,600

Total Housing Committed 3,098,052 1,686,260 1,137,936 273,856 0 0
TOTAL 4 YEAR CIP PROGRAMME 96,681,984 7,622,271 75,606,336 5,361,237 3,683,275 4,408,865
TOTAL COMMITTED 58,951,201 7,611,580 46,943,886 2,242,995 878,475 1,274,265

2017/18

2017/18

2017/18

2016/17

2016/17

2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

2014/15

2014/15

Total Cost

Committed

Project

2014/15Project

Project Total Cost Committed

Total Cost

Committed 2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2015/16

23



This page is intentionally left blank



2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total Annual Capital Expenditure 23,156 7,622 75,417 5,550 3,683

% % % % %
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 16.4 24.0 33.8 45.0 54.0

Net borrowing requirement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Brought forward 1 April 50,788 67,215 67,685 128,493 128,064
       Carried forward 31 March 67,215 67,685 128,493 128,064 127,400
       In year borrowing requirement 16,427 470 60,808 (429) (664)

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 92,777 93,247 154,055 153,626 152,962

Annual change in capital financing requirement 16,427 470 60,808 (429) (664)

Net debt and the capital financing requirement
Net debt as at 31st March 67,215 67,685 128,493 128,064 127,400
Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 92,777 93,247 154,055 153,626 152,962

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £ p £ p £ p £ p £ p
on the Council Tax
       Cumulative impact of all decisions taken at Full Council (44.79) (48.43) (56.62) (36.03) (20.71)

Authorised limit for external debt £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Borrowing 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000
       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
       Total 141,000 141,000 141,000 141,000 141,000

Operational boundary for external debt
       borrowing 135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000
       other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
       Total 136,000 136,000 136,000 136,000 136,000

% % % % %
Upper limit for fixed rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

% % % % %
Upper limit for variable rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Upper limit for total principal sums invested >364 days 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing during 2012/2013 Upper
Limit

%
       under 12 months 100 Note - the Council has no Housing Revenue
       12 months and within 24 months 100 Account (HRA) and therefore all indicators
       24 months and within 5 years 100 refer to non-HRA amounts
       5 years and within 10 years 100
       10 years and above 100

Prudential Indicators April 2015

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

Appendix B

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

CABINET 

Thursday 9 April 2015

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN 2011-2029: INSPECTOR’S 
REPORT 

Report of the Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the findings of the Inspector’s Report following the examination of 
the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 are noted.

Summary

The Inspector’s Report on the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was received on 
11 February 2015. His formal findings reflect his preliminary conclusions previously 
reported in December 2014, namely that insufficient housing was being provided to meet 
the borough’s needs and that the Council could not demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply. Work has now commenced on a new Local Plan for the period to 2011-2036 which 
will serve to address these concerns. 

Statutory Powers

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Planning Act 2008
Localism Act 2011
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

Introduction

1. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
to the Secretary of State on 15 July 2014. A government appointed Inspector, 
Simon Emerson, subsequently held public hearings between 10 and 13 
November 2014. These hearings focussed on the borough’s housing needs 
and supply including those of the travelling communities, economic growth 
strategy and the Council’s approach to Habitats Regulation Assessment.

2. The Council received the Inspector’s preliminary conclusions on 1 December 
2014. These raised significant concerns relating to the level of housing 
proposed to be provided for (particularly affordable housing) and the Council’s 
five-year housing land supply position. These interim findings, as clarified by 

27

Agenda Item 5



Eastleigh Borough Council

subsequent correspondence with the Inspector, were reported to Cabinet and 
Council on 18 December where members resolved that the Inspector be 
requested to submit his final report to the Council. 

3. The Inspector’s report was subsequently received by this Council on 11 
February. A copy of his full report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. His 
formal key findings are summarised below. 

Key findings 

4. The key findings of the Inspector’s report are to all intents and purposes 
unchanged from those previously reported. His non-technical summary on 
page 3 of the report reads as follows:

“This report concludes that the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan has a number of 
shortcomings in relation to housing need, the identified housing requirement 
and housing supply which are sufficient on their own to recommend non-
adoption of the Plan.

I have found that the Council has not recognised the full extent of affordable 
housing need in the Borough and, as a consequence, has not considered all 
options to seek to better address that need.  There are also market signals 
which indicate that some additional market housing is required in any case.  
The five year land supply position is inadequate, even for the housing 
requirement identified in the submitted plan, because a 20% buffer is required 
and the overall supply position is tight, with no flexibility to respond to 
changing circumstances.”

5. The Inspector did briefly comment on other issues. With regard to compliance 
with the Duty to Co-operate, whilst not coming to a formal and final conclusion 
on this matter, he did consider that the Duty was met in relation to strategic 
housing and employment matters because of the Council’s involvement with 
The Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) and its willingness to 
take forward the South Hampshire Strategy 2012. Such endorsement of 
PUSH and its work is clearly encouraging in this regard.

6. The Inspector was also broadly satisfied with the Council’s proposed 
economic development strategy stating that the scale of new employment 
floorspace proposed, along with policies to enable further economic growth, 
was justified. He was also satisfied that sufficient new housing was proposed 
to accommodate the workers needed to support this new employment 
floorspace. 

7. With regard to the proposed approach to addressing the potential significant 
effects on environmental habitats which could arise from development sites 
(technically known as Habitats Regulation Assessment), the Inspector 
suggested that further details should be included within the allocation policies 
of the Plan to clarify the general scope of measures to mitigate the impact of 
development. In relation to the proposed allocation of land south of Chestnut 
Avenue, Eastleigh the Inspector also made it clear that further details should 
be set out as to the purpose of securing a financial contribution towards 

28



Eastleigh Borough Council

Forest Park/Lakeside. In the event that Forest Park is not available/deliverable 
as mitigation, the Plan should also set out what alterative mitigation measures 
would be suitable.

8. The Council has made a number of representations to the Minister for 
Housing and Planning on conclusions reached by the Inspector.  A holding 
reply only has so far been received, following a meeting between the Minister, 
Mike Thornton MP and the Leader of the Council.  The full response will feed 
into the Local Plan process.

Next steps

9. At the 18 December meeting of the Council, members resolved to begin work 
on a new Local Plan to cover the period 2011-2036. This work has now 
started and a new Local Development Scheme to provide the timetable for 
this work is the subject of a separate agenda item.  

10. With regard to the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, 
Section 23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended 
by the 2011 Localism Act, is clear that the Council cannot adopt the Plan 
where an Inspector recommends non-adoption. 

11. Section 22 of the above Act enables the Council to withdraw the Plan in such 
instances, but your officers are not aware of any provision within legislation 
which compels a Council to do so. 

12. Paragraph 25 of the Local Plans section of the Planning Practice Guidance 
published by the government does however state that in such circumstances 
a local plan should be withdrawn. It goes on to say that the speedy withdrawal 
of a plan provides certainty to the local community, applicants and other 
interests about the planning framework in the area. It reminds authorities that 
until a revised plan is brought forward to adoption, policies of the existing 
Local Plan remain in place. 

13. Clearly the weight attributable to the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029 as a material planning consideration in determining planning 
applications is extremely limited given the findings of the Planning Inspector. 
On the other hand, the policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan were 
adopted nine years ago in 2006. The 2011-2029 Plan represents the most 
recent expression of the Council’s views on a spatial strategy and, until a new 
Local Plan is prepared, may help to assist the bringing forward of 
development that the 2011-2029 Local Plan provided for.

Financial Implications

14. None arising from this report.

Risk Assessment

15. The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 has been found un-
sound by a government appointed planning inspector. Not withdrawing the 

29



Eastleigh Borough Council

Plan creates greater uncertainty for the local communities and other 
interested parties. If given significant weight in determining planning 
applications, it also presents a risk of future judicial review of the decision to 
approve or refuse planning permission. However, withdrawing the Plan would 
formally remove the most recent expression of a spatial strategy through 
which development could be brought forward to meet short term needs. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

16. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

17. The receipt of the Inspector’s Report attached as Appendix 1 confirms that, in 
the Inspector’s view, the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was 
unsound. This Plan cannot therefore be adopted. Members have previously 
resolved to commence work on a new Local Plan to cover the period 2011-
2036 which will serve to address these concerns. A separate report proposing 
a work programme for this work is provided as a separate agenda item. 

PAUL RAMSHAW
Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy

Date: 27 March 2015
Contact Officer: Tim Guymer
Tel No: 023 8068 8231
e-mail: tim.guymer@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1
Report No PP000151

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information:

None

30



Report to Eastleigh Borough Council

by Simon Emerson BSc DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government

Date: 11th February 2015

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS AMENDED)

SECTION 20

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL’S 

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN 2011 - 2029

Document submitted for examination on 15 July 2014

Examination hearings held between 10 and 13 November 2014

File Ref: PINS/W1715/429/4

31



-2-

Abbreviations Used in this Report

HMA Housing Market Area
HRA Habitat Regulations Assessment
DPA Dwellings per annum
LDS Local Development Scheme
LHA Local housing allowance
PRS Private rented sector
ONS Office for National Statistics
PUSH Partnership for Urban South Hampshire
SA Sustainability Appraisal
SCI Statement of Community Involvement
SCS Sustainable Community Strategy
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment
UPC Unattributable Population Change 

32



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 3 -

Non-Technical Summary

This report concludes that the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan has a number of 
shortcomings in relation to housing need, the identified housing requirement and 
housing supply which are sufficient on their own to recommend non-adoption of 
the Plan.

I have found that the Council has not recognised the full extent of affordable 
housing need in the Borough and, as a consequence, has not considered all 
options to seek to better address that need.  There are also market signals which 
indicate that some additional market housing is required in any case.  The five 
year land supply position is inadequate, even for the housing requirement 
identified in the submitted plan, because a 20% buffer is required and the overall 
supply position is tight, with no flexibility to respond to changing circumstances.

33



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 4 -

Introduction 
1. This report contains my assessment of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011- 

2029 in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended).  It considers whether the Plan is sound and whether it is 
compliant with the legal requirements.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework, paragraph 182) makes clear that to be sound, a 
local plan should be positively prepared; justified; effective and consistent 
with national policy.

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The basis for 
my Examination is the draft plan submitted in July 2014 which is the same as 
the document published for consultation in February 2014.

3. This report addresses only the most significant issues arising from the 
hearings held in November 2014.  Those hearings primarily considered 
matters relating to housing and employment needs, the Plan’s requirements 
for the provision of housing and employment land and housing delivery and 
supply.  Following those hearings, I published Preliminary Conclusions 
(Examination Document, ID/4) 26 November 2014 in which I identified a 
number of shortcomings relating to the identification of housing needs, the 
housing requirement and land supply.  The Council raised various questions of 
clarification on those conclusions (EBC/10) which I addressed in ID/6, 
although this did not change my reasoning in my Preliminary Conclusions. 

4. Given the shortcomings I had identified in my Preliminary Conclusions I 
decided that it was not a cost-effective or efficient use of all parties’ time to 
continue with further hearings which had been planned for January/February 
2015, which would have considered site-specific allocations, amongst other 
matters.  I had further exchanges with the Council about whether the 
Examination could be suspended for further work or should be stopped at this 
stage (EBC/11 and /12 and ID/7 and /8).  Eastleigh Borough Council decided 
on 18th December 2014 that, among other matters, work should begin on a 
new local plan for the period 2011-2036 and that I be requested to submit my 
report on the Examination to date.  That request was made by the letter of 
22 December 2014 (EBC/13).  

5. This report is produced in response to the Council’s request.  It incorporates 
the greater part of my Preliminary Conclusions so far as relevant in relation to 
housing needs, the requirement and supply.  The report does not change the 
reasoning previously set out and I have made only minor amendments and 
corrections to the previous text for clarity and to reflect the passage of time.  I 
do not reproduce in this report the previous discussion of possible ways 
forward, since that is no longer relevant.  Reflecting its chosen way forward 
and the difficulties of making potentially significant changes to the submitted 
Plan, the Council has, rightly, not made a request for me to recommend 
modifications to remedy the Plan’s deficiencies and thus my report is confined 
to recommending non-adoption of the Plan.

6. Following the November hearings I also issued some conclusions and 
comments on a few other, less significant, matters (Post Hearing Note 3 - 

34



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 5 -

Other Matters ID/5).  The problems I identified in that Note appeared capable 
of being addressed by modifications without requiring substantial further work.  
Other than in relation to the Habitat Regulations (see below) I do not refer to 
these other matters further in this report as they do not relate to main issues I 
am addressing here.  

Assessment of Soundness 
Main Issues

7. Taking account of all matters discussed at the hearings in November 2014 and 
all relevant related representations and written evidence I have identified two 
main issues on which I have assessed the soundness of the Plan. 

Issue 1 – Whether the plan makes adequate provision for housing and 
economic growth

Derivation of the housing requirement in the Plan

8. The Framework (paragraphs 47 and 159) requires Councils to assess their 
area's housing needs and to meet those needs in full in their local plans.  
Those needs should be established by a Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) based on an objective assessment of housing needs involving 
neighbouring authorities where housing market areas (HMA) cross 
administrative boundaries.  The only provision in the Framework (paragraph 
14) for not fully meeting needs is if any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or the specific policies in 
the Framework which indicate that development should be restricted. 

9. This Local Plan has a protracted history with the original draft plan being 
published three years ago.  Since then there have been significant changes in 
the planning context: publication of the Partnership for Urban South 
Hampshire (PUSH) South Hampshire Strategy 2012; publication of the 
Framework; and revocation of the South East Plan.  The submitted Plan 
proposes in policy S2 a minimum of 10,140 new dwellings in the plan period of 
2011 - 2029 which equates to 564 dwelling per annum (dpa).  How this figure 
has been derived and justified is summarised in the Housing Background 
Paper EBC/H1 (July 2014) and in the Sustainability Appraisal EBC/G2 (10.2.3 -
10.2.9).  The figure of 10,140 is derived from the apportionment made to 
Eastleigh Borough in the PUSH SHS 2012, increased by 5%.  The South 
Hampshire Strategy was not based on an objective assessment of housing 
need in an up to date SHMA and thus, whilst reflecting a positive co-operative 
approach by all authorities in the sub-region, was not compliant with the 
Framework.  

10. Irrespective of how the 10,140 was originally derived, I consider that the 
relevant test now is whether, in practice, in the light of all the evidence 
available it meets the requirements of the Framework. The Council's position is 
somewhat ambiguous as to whether it considers there is an objective 
assessment appropriate for Eastleigh Borough to inform this Plan.

35



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 6 -

The PUSH SHMA and PUSH Strategy

11. The South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) January 
2014 (EBC/H4A) was published just before the publication of the pre-
submission Plan.  It was produced on behalf of all the PUSH authorities in the 
South Hampshire sub-region and covers needs in the period 2011-2036.  It 
identifies two HMAs within the PUSH area.  Eastleigh Borough is wholly within 
the Southampton HMA.  I have seen no evidence to justify a different 
definition of an HMA for Eastleigh.  The SHMA includes nine different 
projections to explore objectively assessed needs.  Some, such as zero net 
migration or zero employment growth are so at odds with Framework as to not 
be worth putting forward, but they have not been used to determine the 
recommended outcome.  I note that many local residents support much lower 
projections of housing need, but these would not be consistent with national 
policy. 

12. In relation to household/population projections, the methodology used in the 
SHMA is not fundamentally criticised.  Its conclusion is that needs amount to 
2,115 dpa in the Portsmouth HMA and 2,045 in the Southampton HMA 
(11.24).  Appendices to the SHMA set out all nine projections individually for 
the local authorities (or parts thereof) within the PUSH area.  For Eastleigh 
Borough, applying the report’s recommended projection at a Borough level 
amounts to 615 dpa (SHMA, Appendix U, Table 19).  This equates to 11,070 
dwellings for the Local Plan period to 2029 (EBC/H1 paragraph 4.68), 930 
more than the Plan proposes. 

13. The SHMA focuses on assessing needs on the basis of the two identified HMAs. 
This is consistent with the approach to preparing SHMAs in the Framework.  
However, to progress a local plan a Council needs to determine the needs 
within its area.  The SHMA states that the figures it provides for individual 
Boroughs should be used with caution.  The Council highlights this cautionary 
approach in resisting the use of the 615 dpa figure referred to above in 
determining its housing need/requirement.  However, there needs to be some 
basis to do so and, in my view, the PUSH SHMA and the JGC Study (see 
below) provide a reasonable starting point.  If the Council considered that the 
Borough-based assessments were fundamentally inadequate then it should 
have withdrawn this Plan and undertaken what further work it considered 
necessary.   

14. The Council see the PUSH Spatial Strategies as the tool to derive the 
requirements for each Borough in a manner which meets the Duty to Co-
operate.  But as I have already noted, the 2012 Strategy was not based on an 
objective assessment of need compliant with the Framework, which weakens 
its suitability for this purpose.  The PUSH authorities have agreed a 
programme of work to prepare a new PUSH Spatial Strategy.  This envisages 
public consultation on options in summer 2015 and consultation on a final 
strategy early in 2016.  

15. The Borough Council see this new Strategy as the appropriate means to 
address the spatial response to the PUSH SHMA 2014 and to determine 
housing needs and requirements at a Borough level.  Accordingly, it has 
already included in its Local Development Scheme (LDS) a review of the Local 
Plan to be published in 2016 to respond to the new Strategy.  This intention 

36



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 7 -

shows a commendable commitment to co-operative working in the future.  I 
recognise that a planned review can be a relevant consideration in assessing 
the soundness of a plan.  However, the planned review is at least two years 
away and the timetable for the finalisation of the new PUSH Strategy could 
easily slip, given the number of authorities involved and the complex and 
potentially controversial issues it needs to address.  Similarly, the long 
gestation period of the current Local Plan inevitably raises uncertainty over the 
Council's ability to deliver a review so tightly aligned to the finalisation of the 
new PUSH Strategy.     

16. Accordingly, I consider that for the short/medium term at least, this Local Plan 
should seek to meet the expectations of the Framework and any significant 
shortcomings should be addressed now and not be postponed to the review.  A 
planned review cannot make an unsound plan sound.

17. The Council estimates (EBC/H1 Table 5.1) that existing local plans covering 
the Southampton HMA are proposing to deliver nearly enough housing to meet 
the SHMA's recommended need for the period 2011-2026, with a shortfall 
averaging 50 dpa (750 dwellings overall).  Of the Councils covering at least 
part of this area, only Test Valley has not got an adopted plan in place for this 
period.  Southampton City is the largest single provider of housing within the 
HMA and Eastleigh Borough is second.  The contributions from the other 
authorities are much smaller, reflecting that only parts of those authorities are 
in the PUSH area and the Southampton HMA.  The current shortfall estimated 
by the Council for the Portsmouth HMA is much greater at nearly 500 dpa 
(EBC/H1 Table 5.2).

18. No Councils within PUSH object to the scale of housing provision proposed in 
this Local Plan and none have requested Eastleigh Borough to accommodate 
any of their housing needs.  In this context, I do not see the Duty to Co-
operate as requiring Eastleigh Borough to anticipate whether or not other 
authorities in PUSH will be able to meet their housing needs.  To do so would 
involve drawing conclusions about the ability of those authorities to deliver 
housing which neither the Council nor I are in a position to do.  Such 
assumptions would not reflect a co-operative approach.  

19. It is a legitimate role for the PUSH strategy, as an expression of the Duty to 
Co-operate, to assign all unmet needs within the HMA beyond 2026 and, if 
required, between the 2 HMAs.  Provided that a new PUSH Strategy is finalised 
in 2016 there would be sufficient time for all plan reviews to roll forward 
provision on the agreed basis from 2026.  The difficulty is with the modest 
shortfall emerging in the short/medium term, as the timing of the PUSH 
Strategy and subsequent reviews of plans will unacceptably delay that shortfall 
being addressed.  I consider this further below after considering the JGC 
Study.    

20. The PUSH authorities clearly have the structure in place and a commitment to 
working together in the future as they have done in the past.  The PUSH 
structure and the work it has produced and intends to produce demonstrate an 
admirable co-operative approach.  But the process is time-consuming and 
there is a danger of building-in delay to local plans.  This is why it is essential 
that this Plan responds as fully as possible to the identified needs of Eastleigh 
Borough.  

37



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 8 -

The JGC Study 

21. Subsequent to the publication of the Local Plan and the PUSH SHMA, the 
Council commissioned further work on population projections - the JGC Study 
An Analysis of Objectively Assessed Needs in the light of the 2012 based Sub-
national Population Projections (EBC/H1A) June 2014.  As its name implies, 
this took account of the recent publication of the 2012- based SNPP which 
were not available for the PUSH SMHA.  The JGC Study produces a new 
household projection for Eastleigh Borough and the Southampton HMA.  Fig 
8.3 shows a need for 549 dpa for Eastleigh Borough when calculated for the 
plan period to 2029.  This equates to a need for 9,882 dwellings for Eastleigh 
Borough (see EBC/H1, 4.90).  For the Southampton HMA, the Study projects 
need for each 5 year period to 2036 (Figure 8.2, EBC/H1A) and the annual 
requirement varies slightly for different periods.  The need is 2,027 dpa 
between 2011-2026; 2,019 dpa 2011-2029; and 2,005 dpa 2011 -2036.  On 
the basis of these figures the deficit on delivery in the HMA to 2026 would 
range from only 10 dpa using the required rate to 2036 to 32 dpa using the 
rate up to 2026.  Given that the Eastleigh Plan covers the period to 2029 it 
seems appropriate to use the rate for that period which results in the deficit in 
the HMA being 24 dpa.

22. There are three important points to note about the difference between the 
projection in the JGC Study and the projection favoured in the PUSH SHMA.  
Firstly, the Study was published after the consultation period on the Local 
Plan.  There is no indication that other planning authorities within 
Southampton HMA agree with its analysis.  Whilst the figure for Eastleigh 
Borough is materially lower than that in the PUSH SHMA, the figure for the 
whole HMA is only slightly lower, indicating that Eastleigh is generating a lower 
proportion of the housing needs in the HMA.  If these figures are used for the 
housing requirement in Eastleigh, a greater proportion of needs would be met 
in the rest of the HMA than suggested in the SHMA.  My understanding is that 
it is the PUSH SHMA that will primarily inform the work on the revised PUSH 
Strategy and it is not clear whether there will be any general updating of 
projections on a PUSH-wide basis.  Accordingly, it would not be wise to rely 
solely on the JGC Study.    

23. Secondly, the SHMA had included within the projection of future migration the 
Office for National Statistics’ (ONS) Unattributable Population Change (UPC) 
factor which had to be added (or subtracted) to the ONS's Mid-Year Estimates 
to ensure that there is alignment in all the data across the country between 
the 2001 and 2011 Censuses.  For Eastleigh, the UPC is a significant positive 
figure suggesting likely under-recording of past in-migration.  However, ONS 
has not included the UPC component in the 2012 SNPP, hence the population 
projections for Eastleigh are lower than before.  ONS consider that the UPC 
should not be attributed to migration because, as its name implies, the 
reasons for the adjustment is unknown.  Given this advice and ONS' approach 
to its own projections, it is reasonable for the JGC study to follow the same 
approach.  Over time, the significance of the UPC will decline and ONS has 
improved its methodology for assigning international migration.   
Nevertheless, UPC may represent higher than accounted for migration into 
Eastleigh in the past, which may continue in the future.  This is not reflected in 
the 2012- based SNPP and thus not in the JGC Study's outputs.  The higher 
figure for the recommended projection in the SHMA represents, at least in 

38



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 9 -

part, this possibility.  

24. Thirdly, the JGC Study carried out a more detailed analysis than the SHMA on 
the local reasons behind the slowing of the trend of household formation 
(headship rates) revealed in the 2011 Census.  In the light of this analysis, it 
recommends a part return to the underlying long term trend to reach 73% of 
the 2008-based rate by the end of the projection period.  I consider that this is 
a well-informed analysis consistent with the evidence and with other 
Inspectors' conclusions on this issue.  The recommended projection in the 
SHMA had not assumed such a high degree of convergence and so the 
application of this analysis to its population projection would result in more 
new households, particularly towards the end of the projection period.    

25. In relation to the starting point of a demographic projection, I consider that 
whilst the JGC Study is a robust piece of work in this regard, the projection in 
the PUSH SHMA should not be ignored.  Thus demographic evidence indicates 
that Eastleigh should be providing between about 550 - 615 dpa.  For the 
reasons given above, the most robust approach would be a figure toward the 
upper end of the range.  The proposed rate in the Local Plan of 564 dpa sits 
within this range, but I consider that it is marginally too low in relation to the 
most appropriate demographic projection.

26. On the Council's evidence, there is a shortfall in housing supply of between 
360-750 dwellings between 2011 -2026 in the Southampton HMA, depending 
on whether the PUSH SHMA or the JGC Study is used.  Considered in isolation, 
Eastleigh Borough does not have to accommodate all this shortfall, but it 
should seek to accommodate some of it so as to reduce the extent to which 
any PUSH Review has to address a backlog of provision.  More importantly, in 
the light of my conclusion in relation to affordable housing below, this shortfall 
in the HMA suggests that on demographic projections alone there is some 
scope to increase the provision of market housing to deliver more affordable 
housing.  The shortfall in the HMA clearly provides an opportunity for housing 
provision in Eastleigh to be increased without any wider impact on the HMA, 
although I see no reason why any such uplift would need to be capped at this 
shortfall figure.     

27. The demographic projections are only the starting point for determining 
housing need and ultimately the housing requirement.  I thus turn below to 
these other relevant matters. 

Affordable Housing

28. Affordable housing for planning purposes is defined in the Framework's 
Glossary. 

29. The PUSH SHMA was not published until close to the publication date of the 
Plan.  Whilst the Council was aware of its preliminary findings prior to 
publication, it is clear that much of the early preparatory work for this Plan 
was not informed by an up-to-date understanding of the need for affordable 
housing in the district.  This is a significant shortcoming.

30. The PUSH SHMA identifies 1,661 households pa in the Southampton HMA in 
need of affordable housing, of which the need in Eastleigh Borough is 509 pa 
(SHMA Appendices, Table 34, p79).  The SHMA notes (8.78) that 

39



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 10 -

accommodation in the private rented sector (PRS), where households are in 
receipt of the local housing allowance (LHA, also termed housing benefit), is 
not a recognised form of affordable housing.  It suggests that the extent to 
which Councils wish to see the PRS being used to make up for shortages of 
affordable housing is ultimately a local policy decision.  Nevertheless, the 
SHMA goes on to assume that the current role of the PRS continues.  On that 
basis, the SHMA reduces the need for affordable housing by discounting from 
assessed need an estimate for future lettings in the PRS to households in 
receipt of the LHA (SHMA, Appendices, Table 36, p81).  Accordingly, it 
substantially reduces overall affordable housing needs in the Southampton 
HMA to 400 dwellings, of which the need in Eastleigh Borough is 310.  

31. On the basis of these reduced figures, it concludes that there is no PUSH-wide 
need to increase housing provision to meet affordable housing needs 
(paragraph 11.9), but for Eastleigh Borough it comments (8.79):  even 
assuming the current role of the private rented sector continues we identify a 
need to deliver around 310 affordable homes pa which would require overall 
housing provision in the region of 1,000 to 1,100 dpa.  The Council, however, 
does not consider that any increase in housing provision to meet affordable 
needs is justified in this Plan.  I consider below the three key assumptions 
leading to these conclusions. 

32. Firstly, the PUSH SHMA assumes (EBC/H4A, 8.6) 30% of gross income spent 
on housing is the threshold for households in need of affordable housing.  
Many developer interests consider that this is too high and highlight the 
reference to a 25% threshold in the 2007 DCLG SHMA Guidance.  But that 
document has been cancelled.  National Policy Guidance (the Guidance) does 
not specify a threshold.  I note that 30% of the estimated income required to 
access market housing in Eastleigh would be (just) insufficient to rent an entry 
level two bedroom property.  Three bedrooms would be out of reach.  Thus a 
proportion of families would not be able to secure accommodation of adequate 
size when spending 30% of income on housing (SHMA Appendices, Table 23, 
p73 and Figure 18, p70).  A 30% threshold should thus be seen as the upper 
end of a possible range.  

33. Using the SHMA methodology, a 25% income threshold would increase the 
identified need for affordable housing to about 624 dpa for Eastleigh (prior to 
any role assigned to the PRS).  This highlights the sensitivity of the threshold 
used.  Accordingly, the figure in the SHMA of 509 dpa should be seen as a 
baseline, with actual needs recognised as potentially greater.  In this context, 
I see no justification for the Council assuming that more than 30% of income 
could reasonably be spent on housing.  Some households may be forced to do 
so, but that does not make it a justified approach to assessing need. 

34. Secondly, there is no justification in the Framework or Guidance for reducing 
the identified need for affordable housing by the assumed continued role of 
the PRS with LHA. This category of housing does not come within the definition 
of affordable housing in the Framework.  There is not the same security of 
tenure as with affordable housing and at the lower-priced end of the PRS the 
standard of accommodation may well be poor (see for example: Can't 
complain: why poor conditions prevail in the private rented sector, Shelter 
March 2014, provided by Tetlow King on behalf of Landhold Capital).  

40



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 11 -

35. The Framework requires planning authorities to meet the housing needs of 
their area including affordable housing needs.  The availability of 
accommodation within the PRS where households are in receipt of the LHA is 
outside the control of the Council, being determined by the willingness of 
private landlords to let to tenants in receipt of the LHA.  The operation of the 
LHA is determined by the government.  I have no doubt that households in 
need of affordable housing readily perceive a substantial difference between 
these two types of housing for the reasons already given.  Accordingly, 
affordable housing needs in Eastleigh Borough are at least 509 dpa and would 
be higher if a more cautious approach were to be taken to the proportion of 
income which it is assumed is reasonable to spend on housing.  

36. Most of this need for 509 dpa is not additional to the 550 - 615 dpa arising 
from the demographic projections.  It is a requirement for a distinct type of 
housing.  I recognise that much of the need may be households in 
accommodation which is inadequate for their needs, but which may be 
adequate for other households.  The SHMA's assessment takes account of the 
release of affordable units for those needing to move who are already in 
affordable housing (EBC/H4A, 8.32).  Similarly, a move of a household from 
an unsuitable private rented unit to a suitable affordable unit would free-up 
that private rented unit, but such moves cannot happen unless affordable 
homes are available. 

37. In relation to affordable housing provision over the plan period, the Council 
notes that 323 affordable units had been delivered between 2011-2014; 
existing planning permissions have secured a further 686 units; and on the 
basis of the percentages in policy DM28, a further 2,000 could be secured 
from future permissions, resulting in about 3,000 new affordable housing units 
over the plan period.  This is the maximum likely to be delivered.  Actual 
delivery might be less as it depends on the viability of specific sites to deliver 
at 35%.  The Council's estimate equates to an average of 167 pa, substantially 
below the need for affordable housing and below even the SHMA's figure of 
310 pa where the role of the PRS with LHA was assumed to be meeting part of 
the need.  

38. The failure of the Council to recognise the true scale of need for affordable 
housing and therefore the consequential failure to consider how it might be 
addressed is a serious shortcoming.  

Market signals

39. The Framework and Guidance indicate that household projections should be 
adjusted to take into account market signals.  The Guidance refers to 
appropriate comparison of indicators both in absolute levels and rates of 
change.  The SHMA (EBC/H4A, 6.90-6.97) highlights Eastleigh and Fareham 
among the core PUSH authorities as experiencing the highest median prices 
for most property types and where affordability issues are more acute.  
Overall, it concludes that market signals are not significant for most of the 
core authorities, but identifies modest market pressure in Eastleigh and 
Fareham.

40. Developer interests highlight a range of market signals (see, for example, 
Table 5.3 in Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners work for Gladman 

41



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 12 -

Developments).  Not all signals demonstrate that Eastleigh is worse than the 
national or regional/sub regional averages.  But on some crucial indicators it 
is.  Between 1997 and 2012, the affordability ratio for Eastleigh worsened by 
97%.  For the Southampton HMA and England the figures are 92% and 85% 
respectively (Barton Wilmore, Open House October 2014, Table 6.4, for 
Hallam Land).  Time series rental data from the Valuation Office Agency is 
available only between 2011 and 2013, but indicates rents rising by 7.4% in 
Eastleigh compared with 4.4% nationally and 6.9% in Hampshire (Open 
House, paragraph 5.12).  Overall, market signals do justify an upward 
adjustment above the housing need derived from demographic projections 
only.  

41. It is very difficult to judge the appropriate scale of such an uplift.  I consider a 
cautious approach is reasonable bearing in mind that any practical benefit is 
likely to be very limited because Eastleigh is only a part of a much larger HMA.  
Exploration of an uplift of, say, 10% would be compatible with the "modest" 
pressure of market signals recognised in the SHMA itself.

Accommodating economic growth

42. Local Economic Partnerships (LEPs) are the lead body for promoting local 
economic development.  In this case, it is the Solent LEP, which covers a 
similar geographic area to PUSH.  I consider that a key test of the economic 
strategy of the Plan is compatibility with the intentions of the LEP, given its 
role, which includes control of substantial public funds to support economic 
development.  The LEP's current strategy is the Solent Economic Plan 2014-
2020 (EBC/G1) published in March 2014.  This sets out a number of economic 
aspirations, including job growth, drawn from economic projections provided 
by Oxford Economics (Solent LEP Economic Outlook, March 2014).  This 
included a baseline forecast and preferred growth scenario.  The LEP's 
Economic Plan mostly seeks to achieve the headline indicators of the preferred 
scenario (comparing p6 of EBC/G15 with 4.1 of the Economic Outlook).  

43. An important element of the LEP strategy is the promotion of various key sites 
for economic development.  There are seven key sites identified for 2015-
2017.  None are in Eastleigh Borough.   There are a further five sites identified 
as Future Pipeline Sites. One of these, described as:  Ford site, Eastleigh 
Riverside and Southampton Airport extends over a large area which straddles 
the boundary between Southampton City and Eastleigh Borough.  The Ford 
factory which closed in 2013 is not in Eastleigh and its redevelopment is not 
dependent on any proposals within Eastleigh.   The submitted Local Plan 
includes proposals for facilitating various types of economic development in 
this area:  at Eastleigh Riverside (policy E9, mainly business areas for 
redevelopment), adjoining Eastleigh Riverside side (policy E10, 9.60 ha of 
greenfield land) and Southampton Airport (policy E12, including 21 ha of 
undeveloped land north east of the runway).  

44. The site-specific merits of these three allocations and the requirements of each 
policy were not explored at the hearings in November.  The main area of 
dispute/uncertainty concerns achieving a new access road to facilitate major 
greenfield development and the requirements to accommodate such a 
potential future road in any redevelopment of other areas.  Because of the 
current uncertainty, the Council has not included the allocated greenfield 

42



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 13 -

employment land as part of its employment land supply for the plan period, 
but sees it as an opportunity for more economic development if economic 
circumstances are favourable.  Given the scope for redevelopment on the Ford 
site and parts of the allocations in Eastleigh, I see nothing at odds between 
the intentions of the LEP in identifying Ford/Airport/Riverside and this Plan.  

45. In the summer of 2014, the LEP received substantial public funding to help 
bring forward a number of its identified key sites.  But there was no such 
funding for the Ford/Airport/Riverside area.  Delivery of the LEP’s preferred 
growth scenario will therefore depend on delivery on sites outside Eastleigh 
and on various generic measures.  The LEP has not commented on the Plan.  
(It did comment on the adjoining Test Valley Local Plan which was published 
at a similar time, so I do not regard this lack of comment as an omission).  I 
conclude that the LEP is content with the economic intentions of the Plan and 
that in the short-medium term, the most likely opportunities for achieving 
aspirational growth in the LEP area are largely outside Eastleigh Borough.

46. The Plan proposes a minimum of 133,000 sq m of employment development 
(which is largely intended to be within the B use class).  Table 3 in the Plan 
indicates that total anticipated new floorspace exceeds this minimum at about 
148,000 sq m.  (Appendix 5 of EBC/2 gives details of the sites which make up 
this figure.)  The Council has taken into account a wide variety of evidence in 
initially identifying and subsequently justifying this level of provision in the 
Plan (see, in particular, Employment Land Strategy Report July 2014 EC1c).  
The minimum floorspace figure in the Plan is made up of two components.  
The Employment Land Requirements Study January 2012 (EC1b) identified a 
need for about 92,500 sq m net additional employment floorspace.  The 
Council identified a need for an additional 40,700 sq m of B class floorspace to 
replace anticipated losses of existing major employment sites (over and above 
the past trends for such losses - see section 3.3, EC1c).

47. An Employment Land Requirements Study Update was published in May 2014 
(EC1b1), after the publication of the Plan.  This took into account an updated 
job growth forecast from Experian of March 2014.  This economic forecast 
resulted in a much higher figure for additional B class floorspace of nearly 
228,000 sq m (Table 2.13).  However, whilst being mindful that this new 
evidence may point to greater economic potential of the Borough, I largely 
accept the Council's reasons, summarised below, for not seeking to increase 
employment floorspace to match this new forecast.

48. Economic forecasts have a high degree of uncertainty and, in isolation, do not 
provide a robust basis for planning land use requirements.  The floorspace 
projections based on this most recent forecast seem particularly out of step 
with a range of other forecasts and methods of assessing future floorspace 
needs (as illustrated in Table 3.9, reproduced in EC1c, p20).   It is also 
preferable for economic forecasts to be based on the functional economic area 
rather than an individual district and the LEP/PUSH best reflect this approach.

49. In addition, the scale and type of new employment provision proposed in the 
Plan (not including the replacement floorspace) broadly aligns with what 
Eastleigh Borough is expected to deliver in the PUSH South Hampshire 
Strategy 2012 (90,000 sq m for manufacturing and distribution and only 2,000 
sq m for offices - Policy 6, EBC/G7).   That strategy envisaged substantial 

43



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 14 -

office development in Southampton and Portsmouth, with notable large scale 
office and other B1 development also at: the new community north of 
Fareham, at Whiteley (Winchester District), Havant and Gosport.  This 
strategy reflects a "city-first" priority and existing or emerging commitments 
at the time.  Even if little weight were to be given to the 2012 Strategy as a 
policy document, the scale of provision envisaged in Policy 6 is now largely 
embedded in the adopted Core Strategies of other PUSH authorities and, in 
some places, is being taken forward in greater detail in local plans such as that 
for Welborne (the new community north of Fareham), currently at 
Examination.  The key sites for economic development being targeted by the 
LEP with public financial support also largely reflect the PUSH strategy and 
these development plans.

50. Given that Eastleigh Borough is part of this wider functional economic area, if 
employment floorspace in Eastleigh Borough were to be substantially 
increased it could well undermine the delivery of these other sites for 
economic development.  This would also undermine the wider strategies of 
which these employment sites form part.  Such a potential consequence is 
highly undesirable.  

51. This context is also why I am not persuaded by the desire of Hampshire 
Chamber of Commerce for more employment land to be allocated in this Plan, 
particularly land close to the motorway for offices or logistics.  Offices are a 
use which should first be accommodated in town centres and this is reflected 
in the PUSH Strategy.  I accept that demand for major office development in 
Southampton City appears weak, but such demand is only likely to be 
undermined further by greenfield allocations on the edge of the City in 
Eastleigh Borough.  Development plans outside Eastleigh Borough appear to 
be making substantial provision for manufacturing and distribution/logistics 
close to the motorway to respond to the needs of these sectors within this 
economic area.

52. Accordingly, I consider that the scale of new employment floorspace is 
justified bearing in mind that:  it is expressed as a minimum; there are further 
opportunities for intensification and redevelopment of existing employment 
premises supported by other policies in the Plan; and longer term 
opportunities may exist for additional employment development on parts of 
the Eastleigh Riverside allocations.    

53. I am also satisfied on the basis of the Council's calculations (EBC/G12) that 
the proposed level of housing provision would provide more than enough 
workers to support employment development of the scale proposed in the 
Plan.  Such calculations are however fraught with uncertainty and can only be 
a broad guide.  The close economic relationship between Eastleigh Borough 
and adjoining parts of the economic area are reflected in high daily flows of 
residents to work outside the Borough and inflows of workers to Eastleigh from 
elsewhere.  In these circumstances, I do not see a pressing need for job 
growth and population growth to necessarily be closely matched.  Some 
increase in the overall housing requirement in the Plan arising from my 
conclusions in relation to affordable housing and market signals would not 
undermine the economic strategy for the area and may help to support it.

44



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 15 -

Overall conclusion on issue 1

54. I have found that the Council has failed to recognise the true scale of need for 
affordable housing.  There is also the consequential failure to consider how 
that need might be addressed.  The Framework (paragraph 17, 3rd bullet) 
requires every effort to be made to meet needs.  I see no justification for 
delaying this consideration for 2-3 years pending a review of the Plan.  

55. The Guidance states that:  an increase in the total housing figures included in 
the local plan should be considered where it could help deliver the required 
number of affordable homes.   Increasing market housing to meet all the 
identified affordable housing need would require a threefold increase in overall 
provision.  I do not consider that this a realistic option to explore.  In addition 
to the inevitable difficulties of securing delivery of such a scale of 
development, particularly in the short term and of providing sufficient 
infrastructure, such a scale of provision is much greater than even the most 
optimistic demographic projection.  It would also result in the release back 
into the market of many dwellings in the PRS currently occupied by tenants in 
receipt of the LHA.  Thus the cumulative effect of such provision over and 
above underlying demographic change would be very substantial and the 
consequences for the housing market are difficult to anticipate.  

56. However, there is evidence which strongly suggests that some increase in 
delivery of market housing is achievable and could deliver a significant 
proportion of affordable housing.  The developers of the major sites allocated 
in the Plan and included in the five year supply are keen to start delivering 
(see below) and where planning permission has not already been granted they 
are intending to submit planning applications very shortly.  There is also 
clearly strong interest from other developers for additional housing sites to be 
allocated in the Plan and some of these appear likely also to be progressed as 
planning applications soon.     

57. I have indicated that the PUSH SHMA's preferred projection (which equates to 
615 dpa for Eastleigh) should not be ignored and that the demographic 
requirement is best seen as a range.  I have also noted that on the basis of 
that projection, the Council calculates a shortfall in delivery in the HMA of 
about 750 dwellings to 2026.  This background strongly indicates the 
opportunity for Eastleigh to deliver more housing with no adverse impact on 
delivery in the rest of the HMA.  Market signals also point to both a need to 
provide more housing and the market's strength to do so.

58. If the Plan was being progressed, the Council would have to identify a possible 
range for what is practical in terms of increased delivery.  That range would 
then have needed to be tested through Sustainability Appraisal in relation to 
the environmental impact of development on various sites in order to identify 
the appropriate requirement to be included in the Plan.  I note that the 
Sustainability Appraisal (EBC/G2) submitted with the Plan includes in Appendix 
II an assessment of alternative growth options including  11,628-12,060 
dwellings, which had been assessed in the SA accompanying the draft Plan 
published in October 2013.  Whilst that assessment concluded that this higher 
level of growth would be difficult to accommodate without threatening the 
environmental integrity of the Borough it is difficult to understand the 
evidential basis for that conclusion.  Equally importantly, that testing did not 

45



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 16 -

weigh in the balance the substantial unmet need for affordable housing.  
Paragraph 14 of the Framework requires an explicit balancing exercise in the 
terms it sets out. This has not been done on the basis of the most appropriate 
and up to date evidence.

Issue 2 – Would the plan ensure an adequate supply of housing land to 
meet identified needs.

59. A housing trajectory is included as an Appendix to the Plan.  Table 2 in the 
Plan sets out expected delivery of housing by Parish from different categories 
of supply:  completions, specific urban sites, broad areas (also urban); and 
greenfield allocations.  The figures in the Plan are now out of date.  More detail 
on the sites and sources contributing to these categories is in the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (EBC/G4 July 2014) which 
updates the position to 1 April 2014.   Detail on how the Council has been 
calculating the five year supply and a trajectory for the delivery of the 
allocated sites is in the Council's paper:  Five Year Land Supply 
Position/Housing Implementation Strategy September 2014 (H15).  For sites 
allocated in the Plan a year-by-year trajectory for the first five years is 
included as an Appendix to the Council's pre-hearing statement on this matter.   
I comment below only on those sources of supply where I consider that the 
Council's approach is not justified. 

60. The category of broad areas includes additional dwellings from the 
redevelopment of sites in Eastleigh town centre and three district centres:  
Fair Oak, Hedge End and West End.  The total supply relied on by the Council 
from these sources is 300 for the former and 226 for the latter group.  None of 
this supply is included in the five year supply calculation (SHLAA, EBC/G4 
paragraph 4.38 and Table 4.8).  More detail on these centres is in SHLAA 
Appendices 7 and 8.  In relation to Eastleigh town centre, the SHLAA refers to 
the challenge to be overcome, including a degree of inertia demonstrated by 
the fact that private owners have been reluctant or unable to bring schemes 
forward, particularly within the central block, during the last 25 years.  Given 
this context, the only evidence that there are reasonable prospects (the 
relevant test in the Framework, paragraph 47, Footnote 12) of some delivery 
coming forward here is the Council's ownership (or intended acquisition) of 
sites, given the Council's commitment to change in the town centre.  
Accordingly, delivery from sites 5, 6, 7, 8 in the table in Appendix 7 is justified 
(and does not need discounting), but not from any others.  The supply is thus 
137, not 300.

61. Similarly, the assessment of the supply from the three district centres is too 
focused on physical capacity rather than providing evidence of reasonable 
prospects.  There is nothing to indicate why redevelopment, which was not 
triggered by the previous economic boom, will happen in the future.  The need 
for land assembly or the existing nature of the premises on some of the sites 
suggests that delivery is very uncertain.  Rather than assess each parcel 
individually, I have increased the Council's discount on delivery from 25% to 
50% to be more realistic.  Supply thus falls from 226 to about 150.         

62. The Council acknowledges (hearing statement, 3.9-3.10) the potential for 
overlap between the site-size threshold in the SHLAA of 0.2 ha (which might 
be for less than 10 dwellings) and the calculation of the small site windfall 

46



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 17 -

allowance of less than 10 dwellings and identifies three such sites.  Once the 
Council's discount is applied, the assumed contribution to supply appears very 
small, but for accuracy should be removed.  

63. The Council has included small site windfalls in years 3-5 of the five year 
supply and from year six onwards.  The inclusion of the contribution from 
windfalls from year three is justified given the Council's evidence on the time 
within which planning permissions are normally implemented and thus avoids 
double counting. A 10% discount is applied to the average past supply of small 
site windfalls.  Given that there is no change in the policies in the submitted 
Plan compared with policies in the adopted Plan, this continuation is realistic in 
the short term.  However, to reflect uncertainty and the possibility of fewer 
such sites in the future, I consider that from year six the discount should be 
increased to 25%.  

64. Contrary to the definition of windfalls in the Framework, the Council had 
included garden land sites in the windfall assessment for years 6-15.  These 
should be removed (amounting to eight dwellings pa).  The Council needs to 
recalculate the windfall contribution for years 6-15 taking into account the 
above two points, but it is likely to reduce the assumed 700 to about 520.  

65. The Council calculated that at 30 September 2014 there was a total supply of 
10,746 dwellings, including the Hamble Lane appeal site (see Council's hearing 
statement on this matter, EBC/4/3, Appendix 3).  In the light of the required 
reductions, the supply figure is about 10,200, only marginally above the 
overall requirement identified in the Plan.  This is not a robust position.  But in 
any case, I have identified a need for a higher housing requirement and there 
is not an identified supply to meet any such higher figure.  

66. For completeness, I consider below the five year supply position based on the 
housing requirement identified in the Plan.  The five year supply is primarily 
dependent on whether the anticipated start date and expected annual rate of 
delivery from the allocated greenfield sites is justified.  In general, the Council 
is showing a clear commitment to working effectively and speedily with 
landowners/developers to progress planning applications on allocated sites and 
to encourage speedy commencement (through various conditions).  
Accordingly, background evidence on the slow delivery of strategic sites 
elsewhere in the country is not particularly relevant. 

67. There is conflicting evidence about delivery rates.  Developer interests put the 
rate at between 40-60 dwellings per site per developer, including the delivery 
of affordable housing.  The Council highlights three large sites in Eastleigh 
Borough where delivery, including during the recession, was much higher.  It 
thus considers that its assumption of 150 dwellings per annum on the three 
largest allocations with two developers is reasonable.  There is clearly 
considerable uncertainty about market conditions in the future and what 
developers will want to achieve from their sites.  The landowners and 
promoters of the three largest allocations in the Plan were at the hearing for 
this matter and I have given particular weight to their estimates for delivery.        

68. Allocation BO1 Boorley Green has planning permission.  The landowner 
confirms there are now three developers committed to this scheme who 
expect to start on site in October 2015.  I consider that the Council's 

47



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 18 -

expectation of 35 units within 2015/16 is rather tight and thus uncertain, but 
given the three developers involved, the 150 units for each of the following 
three years is reasonable.

69. Three different owners control the land making up site E1 land south of 
Chestnut Avenue, Eastleigh.  A planning application was expected to be 
submitted in January 2015.  The Council anticipates 50 units in 2016/17 then 
100 units each year.  The representative of one of the landowners considers 
that delivery will start a year later than the Council expects, but agrees with 
the same stepped increase in delivery thereafter.  Adopting this later start 
would be more robust give the complexities of the site, the requirements of 
the allocation policy and the three landowners.  Somewhat confusingly, for 
sites without planning permission such as E1, the Council discounts its figures 
in the trajectory by 25% before inclusion in the calculation of the housing 
supply (H15 paragraph 5.22, table after 5.28 and 7.1).  Pushing back delivery 
by a year would give a robust figure (which does not need any discount) and 
thus results in only a small reduction in the contribution of this site to 
Council's five year supply figure (of about 40 dwellings.)  

70. The promoter of site WE1, land west and south of Horton Heath, indicated that 
a planning application would be submitted by December 2014. This would be 
progressed in accordance with a performance agreement with the Council.  
The masterplan envisages two distinct residential areas and thus it is logical to 
assume two different developers.  A new secondary school forms part of this 
allocation and the County Council requires this to be available by September 
2018.  This is clearly providing an impetus to progress the development 
quickly.  A start on site mid-2016 seems realistic and the developer envisages 
30 units per outlet in the first year to March 2017 (the Council assumes none).  
Subsequently, the developer estimates 60 units per outlet per year, not as 
much as the 155/160 units per year in the Council's trajectory.  But as this 
site is without planning permission, the Council's housing supply calculation 
discounts the figures in the trajectory by 25%.  Thus the Council’s discounted 
delivery rate is cautious compared with the developer’s and is robust.     

71. On some other allocated sites, I consider that delivery might be delayed by a 
year compared with Council's assumptions,  but still take place within five 
years, thus not reducing overall supply in this period.  

72. In the three years since the base date of the Plan (2011), less than the Plan's 
average of 564 dpa has been delivered.  The shortfall to 30 September 2014 is 
790 homes (H15, 4.14).  The Guidance states that Councils should aim to deal 
with any undersupply within the first five years of the plan where possible.  
Where this cannot be met they will need to work with neighbouring authorities 
under the Duty to Co-operate.  The Council considers that the undersupply 
should be made-up over more than five years and to do otherwise is 
unrealistic.  It cites the on-going effects of the recent recession; shortages of 
materials and skills; and the cycle of local plan production, resulting in 
previously allocated sites having been built out.  However, in publishing the 
Guidance last year the Government would have been mindful of national 
circumstances in the house-building industry.  The delay in having an up-to-
date local plan is the Council's responsibility and does not justify delay in 
making good the shortfall.  I have seen no evidence that it is not possible to 
achieve the preferred approach of the Guidance.  Accordingly, on the basis of 

48



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 19 -

the submitted Plan and current evidence, the shortfall should be made up in 
the first five years (the "Sedgefield" method). 

73. I recognise that if the housing requirement were to be increased to help 
deliver more affordable housing, the shortfall would be greater and there 
would be a need to deliver even more in the first five years.  Whether in that 
scenario such increased delivery would be possible would need to be 
considered in the light of the evidence at the time.  The Council should have 
regard to the totality of the Guidance on this matter.  

74. The Framework (paragraph 47) requires a buffer to be added to the five year 
supply of 5% or 20% where there has been persistent under delivery of the 
housing requirement.  The assessment of past delivery needs to be considered 
over at least a 10 year period so as to cover a full economic cycle. In addition, 
as none of the plans required a specific target to be met each year, it is 
appropriate to consider delivery not just on an annual basis but over a whole 
plan period or phase if this is possible, so as to better iron-out ups and downs 
in delivery.  In this case the adopted Local Plan Review covers the period 
2001-2011 and so total delivery during this period can be compared with the 
overall requirement. 

75. The Council has set out the past requirements and delivery from 2001-2 based 
on the Hampshire Structure Plan (421pa), the adopted Local Plan (561pa, 
excluding the reserve sites), and the South East Plan (SEP) (354 dpa).  For 
the period 2001-2006 I consider that the requirement is that set out in the 
adopted Local Plan as this was adopted after the Structure Plan and 
reinterpreted that Plan's requirements, whilst remaining in conformity with it 
(see the complex explanation of the housing figures in the adopted Plan at 
5.2-5.4, 5.10-5.18).   

76. I requested a post-hearing note from the Council on the interpretation of the 
requirements of the SEP.  Participants were given the opportunity to comment 
on the Council's interpretation and I have taken into account all relevant 
comments.  The Council considers that the requirement during the period 
2006-2013 (when the SEP was finally revoked) should be 354 pa, as a result 
of excluding any requirement arising from the Strategic Development Area 
(SDA) for 6,000 dwellings proposed for north/north east of Hedge End.  Policy 
SH5 of the SEP sets out the annual average for the districts of South 
Hampshire and the SDAs over the period 2006-2026.  For the Hedge End SDA 
the figure is 300 dpa implying an expected even supply from 2006.  For this 
reason, developer interests consider that this figure should be added to the 
figure for Eastleigh Borough to create an overall requirement of 654 pa from 
2006.  The Council highlight that SEP Policy SH1 and supporting text 16.5 
makes clear that delivery from the SDA was not expected to occur until 2016 
(because of the required long lead-in to get development underway).   There 
is clearly a tension in these different policies which makes their proper 
interpretation difficult for the exercise here. 

77. It is important to bear in mind that the Framework's requirement for a 20% 
buffer is intended to assist delivery where Councils have experienced difficulty 
in the past delivering what they planned to deliver.  Given the context in which 
the SEP was approved (recognising, as it did, that it was not meeting all 
housing needs in the South East), it would be perverse if the requirements of 

49



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 20 -

the SEP were to be interpreted for the purpose of this exercise as setting a 
housing requirement substantially below what was required at the time in the 
adopted Local Plan.  That Plan had been adopted as recently as May 2006 and, 
until 2009 when the SEP was actually approved, the Council could not have 
been certain of what the requirement in the SEP would be.  The Local Plan 
reflected what the Council thought it could deliver during this time and there is 
no suggestion that once the SEP was published the Local Plan was abandoned.  
I therefore consider that it would be fair and more relevant to the issue at 
hand to test delivery against the requirement of the Local Plan (561 dpa) 
rather than either of the interpretations of the SEP (354 dpa or 654 dpa).   

78. For the 10 year period 2001-2011 the Local Plan's annual average was met in 
only two years and overall delivery fell well short of the required total.  This is 
clear evidence of persistent under delivery.  I have already noted that there 
has been under delivery since 2011 of the requirement identified in the 
submitted Plan.  (Even if the lower requirement in the first draft of this Plan is 
used, delivery fell short, see footnote 8 in the Council's pre-hearing statement 
EBC/4/3).  If the last years of the adopted Local Plan are replaced with the 
Council's preferred figure from the SEP, then delivery would have been met in 
2009-2011, but in my view that is not sufficient to tip the overall balance to 
adequate delivery, given the shortfall before and since.  Accordingly, I 
consider that a 20% buffer is currently required as part of the five year land 
supply calculation.  Although there was a shortfall in delivery under the 
adopted Local Plan, I consider that the PUSH SHMA and the adjustments 
required as a result of my conclusions under issue 1 above represent a 
comprehensive new starting point for the assessment of needs from 2011 and 
so I do not add this backlog to the new requirement.  

79. With a 20% buffer and making up the shortfall since 2011 within five years 
(the "Sedgefield" method), the Council calculates that there is only a 4.37 
years supply (H15, Table after 5.30) in relation to the requirement set out in 
the  submitted Local Plan.  (There are small downward adjustments to be 
made to delivery from sites BO1 and E1, but these might be offset by better 
than projected delivery on WE1.)  Accordingly, irrespective of the need to look 
to increase the overall requirement for the other reasons I have given, there is 
a need to boost the five year supply.  From the evidence before me, I cannot 
see how the Council would be able to bring forward supply from later in the 
plan period and so the necessary boost is likely to require additional 
allocations which are capable of rapid delivery.  

80. The overall supply position over the whole plan period is equally tight.  This is 
not a robust position to take the Plan forward.  There is no realistic flexibility 
in the Plan to respond to changing circumstances.  It is important to ensure 
that any small delay in assumed delivery from sites contributing to the five 
year supply does not too easily result in a less than five year supply being 
available.  The Plan needs to provide confidence that there will a five year 
supply at adoption and in future years.

81. There might be some large windfall sites in the future, but given that the 
SHLAA appears to have been very comprehensive in its search for sites this is 
too uncertain to be relied on as providing flexibility.  The major greenfield sites 
included in the five year supply are being delivered as quickly as possible and 
there is nothing more that the Council can do to bring this delivery forward.  

50



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 21 -

The largest allocated sites expected to commence beyond the five year period 
(eg BO2 and HE1) are owned, or mainly owned, by the County Council which 
does not wish to the bring the land forward any earlier.  Accordingly, the 
Council has no means of increasing supply if there is a problem, other than 
through a Plan review which is time consuming.  Accordingly, the Plan needs 
to demonstrate that it has some flexibility to respond to changing 
circumstances.  

Overall conclusion on issue 2

82. Even on the basis of the housing requirement identified in the submitted Plan, 
the land supply is inadequate because there is not sufficient flexibility to 
respond to changing circumstances and because the supply in the first five 
years needs to be increased.  With the identified need for greater housing 
provision, the land supply will need to be increased even further.  

Assessment of Legal Compliance
83. This report is based on a limited number of hearings.  In the light of my 

adverse Preliminary Conclusions, I cancelled the hearings that were due to 
take place in January 2015 on, among other matters, site allocations.  Those 
hearings would have taken into account representations in relation to the site 
assessment and selection process set out in the Sustainability Appraisal 
(EBC/G2) accompanying the submitted plan.  I am therefore unable to come 
to any formal conclusion on the adequacy of the Sustainability Appraisal in this 
report. 

84. For similar reasons, I am not able to come to a formal, final conclusion on the 
Duty to Co-operate.  Some representations concerning this matter relate to 
infrastructure provision, which would have been heard at the later hearings.  
The Council has explained in its Statement of Compliance with the Duty to Co-
operate (EBC/Subn5) why it considers that the Duty has been met.  For the 
reasons set out under issue 1 above, I consider that the Council met the Duty 
in relation to strategic housing and employment matters because of its 
involvement with PUSH and willingness to take forward the South Hampshire 
Strategy 2012. 

85. The following three paragraphs reproduce the relevant parts of my conclusions 
on the Council’s Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) which I set out in my 
Post Hearing Note 3 - Other Matters ID/5.

86. The site-specific mitigation measures taken into account in screening-out 
potential significant effects which might arise from various allocations (see 
Habitats Regulations Screening Report EBC/GI10, 4.6.5/4.6.6 and 5.6.9-
5.6.13) should be included in the policy requirements of the allocations 
concerned, even though an application-stage HRA would still be required as is 
already noted in the text of the Plan.  This is to ensure that the general scope 
of the likely mitigation measures is made clear and that there is a 
complementarity between the HRA and the proposals/requirements in the Plan 
which the HRA is assessing.  I note the necessary importance of retaining 
some flexibility in the scope and design of mitigation measures pending the 
application-level HRAs.  Accordingly, I consider that changes along the lines of 
Option 2 of the Council's suggested alternatives would have been appropriate 

51



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 22 -

if the Plan was being progressed (EBC/8, Appendix 1).  

87. The Screening Report (8.4.7) highlights the Forest Park and its linkage to 
Lakeside Country Park as an important element of the required mitigation in 
relation to the New Forest Special Area of Conservation and Special Protection 
Area.  Policy E1 requires financial contributions to the Forest Park and an 
extension to Lakeside Country Park.  But the Forest Park is largely outside the 
Borough boundary and its delivery is not directly within the control of the 
Council or developer.  Test Valley Borough Council's Forest Park 
Implementation Framework October 2014 (GI14) includes Home Wood as part 
of the proposals for phase 1 in 2014-2019.  Home Wood is adjacent to 
allocation E1, so there is a reasonable degree of alignment between the 
expectation to deliver part of the Forest Park and delivery of E1.

88. In order to meet the assumptions of the HRA, it is essential that the Plan 
highlights the purpose of the financial contribution to the Forest Park/Lakeside 
in relation to mitigation.  It must also require alternative mitigation measures 
if an appropriate element of the Forest Park (eg Home Wood) has not been 
delivered in a timely manner in relation to the development of E1.  Any such 
alternative mitigation must be of a suitable scale, quality and accessibility to 
achieve its purpose and its delivery closely linked to progress on the 
residential development.  Accordingly, some additional wording along these 
lines would have been required in addition to the Council's suggestion in 
EBC/9, but would not need to be as specific as that suggested by Hampshire 
Wildlife Trust. 

89. My conclusions regarding compliance on other legal requirements are 
summarised below. 

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The Local Plan is identified within the approved LDS 
June 2014 (EBC/Subn 9).  The Local Plan’s content 
and timing to date are compliant with the LDS, 
although it will no longer be adopted. 

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations

The SCI (EBC/Subn 8) was adopted in September 
2013 and consultation has been compliant with the 
requirements therein.  

Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS)

Satisfactory regard has been paid to the SCS.

Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED)

The Local Plan complies with the Duty (see G5 and 
the Council’s hearing statement on Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople).

2004 Act (as amended) 
and 2012 Regulations.

The Local Plan complies with the Act and the 
Regulations.

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation
90. My Examination of this Plan has been limited to matters mainly 

relating to the housing need, the housing requirement and housing 
supply.  I have identified a number of deficiencies for the reasons set 
out.  The unsoundness I have identified is sufficient on its own for me 

52



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan, Inspector’s Report February 2015

- 23 -

to recommend non-adoption of the Plan in accordance with Section 
20(7A) of the 2004 Act.

Simon Emerson
Inspector

53



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

CABINET 

Thursday 9 April 2015

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR 2011-2036 LOCAL PLAN

Report of the Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Local Development Scheme attached at Appendix 1 be 
adopted and brought into effect immediately. 

Summary

For the Local Plan to be found sound, it must be prepared in accordance with the Council’s 
Local Development Scheme (LDS). The borough’s most recent LDS (the programme for 
preparing a Local Plan) was last updated in June 2014.  This related to the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 which has now been found unsound by a planning 
inspector. Work has commenced on a new Local Plan to cover the period 2011-2036. An 
update to the Statement of Community Involvement will also be necessary. A new LDS is 
therefore required to provide the future programme for preparing this document. The new 
LDS is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

Statutory Powers

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Planning Act 2008
Localism Act 2011
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

Introduction

1. It is a legislative requirement and part of the tests of soundness that a Local 
Plan is prepared in accordance with the Council’s Local Development Scheme 
(LDS).   

2. An LDS was most recently prepared in June 2014, prior to the submission of 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 for examination by the Secretary 
of State. As advised separately on this agenda, the Inspector’s final report has 
now been received by the Council. This found the Plan unsound and unable to 
proceed to adoption. Work has now commenced on a new plan to cover the 

55

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

period 2011-2036. It is therefore necessary to prepare a new LDS to provide 
the broad timetable for this work.

Local Development Scheme (LDS) 

3. This new LDS sets out the intended programme for the preparation of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036. A significant amount of work will 
need to be undertaken over the next few months in preparing a new evidence 
base to support the Local Plan. It is also important to ensure that time is spent 
engaging with local communities and other interested parties to ensure that 
their ideas, and concerns, are taken into account in working up potential 
options for developing a long term strategy to guide development in the 
borough. At the same time, the Council recognises its responsibilities to plan 
expediently to meet people’s pressing development needs, including the need 
to provide a five year supply of housing land. 

4. The LDS therefore proposes consultation on broad options for development 
(regulation 18) at the end of this year (December 2015). It is intended that this 
consultation document will set out the broad strategic issues arising in the 
borough through the period to 2036, and the suggested strategic responses 
including broad locations. This consultation would be followed by publication 
of a detailed pre-publication draft of the Local Plan in June 2016. The Plan 
would then be submitted for examination by the Secretary of State in 
November 2016 with adoption anticipated by September 2017. 

5. This timetable broadly aligns with officer’s understanding of the current 
timetable for the preparation of the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire’s 
update to the South Hampshire Strategy.  

6. The Statement of Community Involvement will also need to be updated.

7. The new version of the LDS is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

Financial Implications

8. It is anticipated that the work programme set out in this LDS can be achieved 
within the committed resources of the Planning Policy & Implementation 
section. The previous LDS had envisaged the need to start a review of the 
2011-2029 Local Plan in early 2016. This LDS essentially brings this work 
forward by one year. The additional costs associated with this are offset in 
part by the lower than anticipated costs of the examination of the 2011-2029 
Local Plan.  

Risk Assessment

9. If the Council does not have an up-to-date LDS, or a Local Plan prepared in 
accordance with it, there is a high risk that the Local Plan will be found 
unsound, and will not be able to progress to adoption.

56



Eastleigh Borough Council

Equality and Diversity Implications

10. This LDS sets out the Council’s intention to prepare a Local Plan for the 
borough that is readily accessible, takes into account community aspirations 
and accords with national policy.  

11. An equalities impact assessment will be prepared in time for consultation on 
an issues and options paper for the Local Plan at the end of this year. 
Previous assessments in relation to the 2011-2029 Local Plan identified no 
potentially adverse impacts for any particular group.

Conclusion

12. The preparation of a new Local Plan to cover the period 2011-2036 requires a 
new LDS to set out the broad timetable, and key milestones, for this work. The 
proposed timetable strikes a balance between seeking to meet short term 
development pressures, including a five year supply of housing land, whilst 
ensuring that a robust evidence base is prepared to inform a Local Plan which 
has been prepared with meaningful engagement with local communities and 
interested parties. It is recommended that the revised LDS at Appendix 1 to 
this report should be adopted and brought into effect immediately.  

PAUL RAMSHAW
Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy

Date: 27 March 2015
Contact Officer: Tim Guymer
Tel No: 023 8068 8231
e-mail: tim.guymer@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1
Report No PP000152

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information:

None

 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



i

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN 2011-2029

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

April 2015

Paul Ramshaw
Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy

Eastleigh Borough Council
Eastleigh House

Upper Market Street
Eastleigh
SO50 9YN

59



ii

 This page is intentionally blank

60



iii

FOREWORD

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that local authorities should 
prepare local plans and publish their programme for preparation of these documents.  
The programme for preparation of the Local Plan is the local development scheme 
(LDS).  The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local authorities to 
prepare and publish a LDS so that the community is aware of the programme for 
preparing the local plan and of when there will opportunities to respond to 
consultations on it. National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG or PPG) explains 
what the LDS should include.  

This is the eighth edition of the Council’s LDS.  It replaces the previously adopted LDS 
of June 2014 and explains:
 that the Council intends to produce a local plan for the period 2011-36;
 the subject matter and geographic area for the local plan and DPD;
 the timetable and resources available for the preparation the local plan and DPD;

and
 the status of the existing adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 

and related documents until these are replaced by the new local plan; and
 that the Council proposes to update its Statement of Community Involvement

The main change from the June 2014 LDS is the recognition that a new local plan is 
required to cover the period 2011-36. The reasons for this are that:
i. the local plan previously being prepared (the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 

– 2029) was found unsound at examination; and 
ii. to enable the Council to respond to an expected revision of the South Hampshire 

Strategy for the same period which will seek to incorporate the findings of 
updated evidence base work, including the 2014 South Hampshire Housing 
Market Assessment and the Solent LEP Strategic Economic Plan.

The new Local Plan will incorporate the Travelling Communities DPD that was being 
prepared under the previous LDS.

The Council adopted the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 in May 
2006.  The majority of its policies were saved by Secretary of State Direction in May 
2009.  The Statement of Community Involvement was first adopted in July 2006.  A 
revised Statement of Community Involvement was adopted 10 September 2009.  It 
was updated in 2013 and is now subject to a further update.

A glossary of terms is included at the beginning of this document.

Further Information
If you would like further information about the Council’s programme of work or about 
planning policy issues in general, please contact the Planning Policy Team, 
Regeneration & Planning Policy, Eastleigh Borough Council, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO50 9YN, E-mail: local.plan@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Tel: 023 8068 8242   Fax: 023 8068 8418

61

mailto:local.plan@eastleigh.gov.uk


iv

CONTENTS Page no.

Glossary of terms v

1. Introduction 1
2. Relevant Documents 1
3. Local Development Scheme 2
4. Saved Policies 3
5. Evidence Base 3
6. Sustainability Appraisal 4
7. Annual Monitoring Report 4
8. Tests of Soundness 5
9. Resources and Joint Working 5
10. Risk Assessment 6

Appendices 7
Appendix 1 Eastleigh Borough’s Local Development 9

Documents and Local Plan preparation 
process

Appendix 2 Schedule of Development Plan Document 11
Preparation

Appendix 3 Programme for preparing the Local Plan 12
Appendix 4 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 13

2001-2011 – saved policies to be replaced
by Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029

Appendix 5 Saved Supplementary Planning Guidance/ 17
Documents

Appendix 6 The Evidence Base 19
Appendix 7 Risk Assessment 26

List of Figures
Fig. 1 Eastleigh Borough’s Local Development Documents   9
Fig. 2 Local Plan preparation process  10

62



v

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

AMR Annual Monitoring Report
A document produced each year showing progress in achieving the timetable set out in the 
LDS, and with implementation of Local Plan policies.  

Community The Eastleigh Borough Community Plan 
Plan This is the former Eastleigh Strategic Partnership’s ‘Sustainable Community Strategy’. It 

draws together and provides a common vision for the plans and strategies of a wide variety of 
authorities, organisations and voluntary groups.

CAA Conservation Area Appraisal
Sets out the special qualities of a conservation area, and is generally adopted as a 
supplementary planning document.

DPD Development Plan Document
A document which includes policies for the development and use of land, site specific 
allocations, and environmental, social, design and economic objectives which relate to the 
development and use of land. DPDs form part of a wider suite of ‘local development 
documents’ (see below). The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF – see below) states 
that all policies and proposals should be included in one DPD known as a local plan, and only 
exceptionally should it be necessary to prepare other DPDs or supplementary planning 
documents (SPDs – see below). Local plans are subject to independent examination by a 
government appointed Inspector and have development plan status as defined by Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The examination looks at the 
whole document and assesses it against tests of soundness (see section 8 below).

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment
An assessment of the potential impacts of a plan or proposal on areas of European nature 
conservation importance.

LDD Local Development Document
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 define a Local 
Development Document as:
“Any document prepared by a local planning authority individually or in cooperation with one 
or more other local planning authorities, which contains statements regarding one or more of 
the following – 
(i) the development and use of land which the local planning authority wish to encourage 

during any specified period;
(ii) the allocation of sites for a particular type of development or use;
(iii) any environmental, social, design and economic objectives which are relevant to the 

attainment of the development and use of land mentioned in paragraph (i); and
(iv) development management and site allocation policies, which are intended to guide the 

determination of applications for planning permission.” 
LDDs therefore include the local plan and any other DPDs and related supplementary 
planning documents, along with the annual monitoring report.  As the statement of community 
involvement refers to part of the process of plan preparation, it is also defined as a local 
development document (but it is not a development plan document as it does not contain 
policies for use of land).

LDS Local Development Scheme (this document)
A public statement of the Borough Council’s programme for the production of development 
plan document(s) (the local plan).

LEP Local Enterprise Partnerships
A statutorily established partnership between local authorities and businesses that play a key 
role in promoting local economic development.  

LP Local Plan
The statutory plan for the borough setting out policies for controlling development and 

63



vi

proposals for particular areas/sites.  

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework – a simplified set of national policies published by the 
government in March 2012 that replaces government guidance formerly contained in planning 
policy guidance notes (PPGs) and planning policy statements (PPSs).  It can be viewed at: 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/ 

NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance – produced by the government in March 2014, this 
replaces technical guidance that accompanied PPGs and PPSs.It can be viewed at: 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/ 

PUSH Partnership for Urban South Hampshire
PUSH is a voluntary partnership of the unitary authorities of Portsmouth and Southampton; 
Hampshire County Council and district authorities of Eastleigh, East Hampshire, Fareham, 
Gosport, Havant, Test Valley and Winchester.  It has been established to deliver sustainable, 
economic-led growth and regeneration in south Hampshire.  Isle of Wight Council has 
recently joined the partnership, and New Forest District Council has also re-joined.

Regulations Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
Regulations which set out the statutory requirements for preparing local plans.  

 
SA Sustainability Appraisal

An appraisal of the economic, social and environmental impacts of policies and proposals.  It 
incorporates Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) – see below.  The SA Scoping 
Report identifies the information needed for the appraisal, and describes the methodology for 
undertaking sustainability appraisal.  It is updated periodically.

SCI Statement of Community Involvement
The document that sets out the standards to be achieved by the Borough Council in involving 
the community in the preparation, alteration and continuing review of all local development 
documents (LDDs) and planning applications. The Council’s original SCI was subject to 
independent examination and adopted in June 2006.  An updated SCI was subject to public 
consultation and adopted in September 2009.  In the light of subsequent changes to the 
planning system, a new SCI was published for consultation and adopted in 2013.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment
An assessment of the potential impacts of policies and proposals on the environment, to 
include proposals for the mitigation of any impacts.

SPD Supplementary Planning Document
A document providing further guidance on specific policies or topics, design guidance or site 
development guidance.  It forms part of the authority’s set of local development documents 
but does not have development plan status as it is not subject to examination. However, 
SPDs will be subject to rigorous procedures of community involvement and will be a material 
consideration in determining planning applications.

SPG Supplementary Planning Guidance
A document providing further guidance on specific policies or topics, design guidance or site 
development guidance, prepared before the enactment of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 to supplement policies in the local plan.

Travelling Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople.
Communities

64

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


1

1. Introduction

1.1 This Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the Council’s programme for 
preparing its next Local Plan.  

1.2 The Localism Act 2011, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) require that each local planning 
authority should now produce a local plan for its area.   The Submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2029 was found unsound at 
examination.  The Council is therefore now producing a local plan for the 
period 2011 – 2036.  This will incorporate the former proposed Travelling 
Communities Development Plan Document. 

1.3 The NPPF states that the development plan for an area includes the local 
plan and neighbourhood plans that have been made for the area.  For this 
area, the development plan currently comprises the saved policies of the 
adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 - 2011 adopted in 2006 
and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan adopted in 2013. In the future, 
once the new Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036 has been adopted, 
the development plan will comprise the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-
2036 and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan adopted in 2013.

1.4 In association with the Local Plan, the Council is required to produce:
 Local Development Scheme (LDS) [This document]  
 Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
 Annual Monitoring Report (AMR)
If necessary the Council can also produce supplementary planning 
documents (SPDs) to provide more detailed guidance on the implementation 
of topic and site- or area-specific policies and proposals.  Descriptions of 
these documents are set out in the Glossary at page vi.  A summary diagram 
of the Local Plan and related local development documents is set out at 
Appendix 1 (Fig. 1).  

1.5 The Council is also preparing and updating background papers to set out the 
technical evidence base for the policies and proposals (see Section 5 below).

2. Relevant Documents 

2.1 The Borough Council’s Local Plan must accord with national policy, and must 
also have regard to the strategies of statutory and other bodies.  National 
policy is set out in the new NPPF which also includes a new Planning Policy 
for Traveller Sites, and in the NPPG.  The work on Eastleigh Borough 
Council’s Local Plan is also informed by the work of other local authorities in 
south Hampshire, coordinated by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire 
(PUSH), the voluntary grouping of local authorities based on the cities of 
Southampton and Portsmouth that includes Eastleigh Borough Council.  
PUSH produced an Economic Development Strategy for South Hampshire in 
2006, which informed the former South East Plan.  PUSH revised and 
updated this Economic Development Strategy in 2010 in the light of the 

65



2

economic recession, and has since also produced a spatial strategy for the 
area, the ‘South Hampshire Strategy’ October 2012. A review and update of 
the South Hampshire Strategy has commenced to reflect recent evidence 
base studies, including the January 2014 South Hampshire Strategic Housing 
Market Area Assessment and the Solent Local Economic Partnership 
Strategic Economic Plan.

2.2 The Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan also forms part of the development 
plan, and it is a requirement that the local plan proposals map should show 
adopted minerals and waste planning proposals and minerals safeguarding 
areas.  Preparation of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan is the 
responsibility of Hampshire County Council, Portsmouth & Southampton city 
councils and the New Forest and South Downs national park authorities.  
Details are on the Hampshire County Council web site at: 
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/planning/mineralsandwaste.htm 

2.3 Eastleigh Borough Council’s Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report contains 
a full list of relevant documents that will be taken into account in preparation 
of Eastleigh Borough Council’s DPDs.  The Scoping Report is being updated 
in 2015 to reflect ongoing changes to the planning policy system.  In the 
meantime the 2013 Scoping Report can be viewed at: 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-
implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-
base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx

3. Local Development Scheme (LDS)

3.1 This LDS sets out:
 the programme for preparation of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 

2036; 
 a programme to update the Statement of Community Involvement;
  ‘milestones’ to be achieved as part of the processes leading to the 

adoption of the Local Plan;
 a list of other supporting documents which will form part of the evidence 

base for the Local Plan;
 information on the Annual Monitoring Report;
 current Council policies and documents that the Council has requested 

should be "saved" pending adoption of the new Local Plan; and 
 the resources available and any constraints.

3.2 The LDS is published so that the public know what the Council is intending to 
do and when, and at what stage they can get involved in the process.

3.3 The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2036 will contain the Council’s 
strategy for the borough, including the distribution of new development and for 
the promotion and control of development generally. It will also include the 
detailed site allocations and policies for development management. So far as 
possible it will be prepared in accordance with the roll-forward of the PUSH 
South Hampshire Strategy.  A schedule with a brief description of the Local 

66

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/planning/mineralsandwaste.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/planning/mineralsandwaste.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/planning/mineralsandwaste.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/planning/mineralsandwaste.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/planning-policy-implementation/local-plan/draft-local-plan/local-plan-maps-evidence-base/local-plan-supporting-evidence/sustainability-appraisal.aspx


3

Plan, its area of coverage and timetable for producing it is set out at Appendix 
2.   

3.4 The process of local plan preparation is set out diagrammatically at Fig. 2 in 
Appendix 1, including the relevant regulations that apply from the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  A chart 
illustrating the proposed programme for preparation of the Local Plan, along 
with the Annual Monitoring Report is at Appendix 3.  The programme focuses 
on key milestones for the Local Plan which are:
 consulting statutory bodies on the subject of the Local Plan – this includes 

consultation with specific and general consultation bodies as defined in the 
regulations, and residents and local businesses as the Council considers 
appropriate;

 publication of the Local Plan as proposed to be submitted to the Secretary 
of State;

 submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State;
 examination of the Local Plan and objections to it; and
 adoption of the Local Plan

4. Saved Policies

4.1 When the new Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2036 is complete, it will 
replace the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 – 2011 adopted May 
2006.  Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, existing local 
plan policies were saved for three years from the date of adoption.  In the 
case of Eastleigh Borough, the adopted Local Plan Review policies were 
therefore effective until May 2009.  The Secretary of State issued a Direction 
in May 2009 that a number of these local plan policies should be ‘saved’ 
pending adoption of the core strategy (now the Local Plan) through which they 
would be reviewed.  These policies are listed in Appendix 4.  Related 
supplementary planning documents / guidance are also carried forward as 
listed in Appendix 5.

4.2 In reviewing the existing policies, the Borough Council will be mindful of 
government advice that local policies should not repeat national planning 
policies, and should be fewer and more succinct.

5. Evidence Base

5.1 The evidence base is being developed from the list of studies and documents 
in Appendix 6, including borough data, County Council data and census 
information.  Additional studies will be undertaken as required.  The evidence 
base will be reviewed regularly to ensure that it is kept up to date and reflects 
local circumstances.  Documents comprising the evidence base will be placed 
on the Borough Council’s web site as they become available, and the 
opportunity will be given to comment on them.

5.2 There will be supporting documentation for the Local Plan.  This will include:
 a Sustainability Appraisal Report, a Habitats Regulations Assessment 

67



4

Screening Report and a Transport Assessment;
 a Statement of Consultations setting out:

 which bodies were invited to make representations; 
 how they were invited to make representations; 
 a summary of the main issues raised in those representations; and 
 how those issues were addressed in the Local Plan; and

 supporting technical documents that are relevant to the preparation of the 
Local Plan including a self-assessment of its ‘soundness’ (see section 8 
below) and of how the Council has met the Duty to Cooperate.

6. Sustainability Appraisal and other assessments

6.1 In accordance with national legislation and advice, the Local Plan will be 
subject to sustainability appraisal (SA). SA is integral to document preparation 
as a means of assessing potential social, environmental and economic effects 
of policies and proposals.  SA will also contribute to the reasoned justification 
for policies.

6.2 The SA must comply with the requirements of EU Directive 2001/42/EC on 
Strategic Environmental Assessments. The key UK requirements for SA of 
development plan documents are set out in:

 CLG Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014): Strategic environmental 
assessment and sustainability appraisal. Sustainability requirements for 
Local Plans; 

 CLG Plan Making Manual: Sustainability Appraisal - Department for 
Communities and Local Government (CLG, September 2009).  

6.3 The Local Plan will also be subject to a Habitats Regulations assessment to 
ascertain whether an Appropriate Assessment is required, for example if a 
policy or proposal is likely to have a significant impact on a nature 
conservation site which is of European significance.  Transport assessment 
will be undertaken in accordance with Highways Agency guidelines to assess 
the potential effects on the local and strategic road network.  A strategic flood 
risk assessment undertaken for South Hampshire by the Partnership for 
Urban South Hampshire will also inform development proposals.

7. Annual Monitoring Report

7.1 The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) sets out progress being made in the 
preparation of the Local Plan in terms of the programme set out in the LDS, 
and in implementing any existing adopted objectives and policies.  It was 
formerly published each December, although there is no longer a statutory 
requirement to do this. It includes information on:
 how the Council is performing against the timescales set out within the 

LDS, including reasons why any timetable or milestones have not been 
met, and a timetable of steps to remedy this;

 progress on policies and related local and national targets; initially this will 

68



5

refer to progress on ‘saved’ local plan policies, but in due course will 
monitor the progress of the new local plan policies once these have been 
adopted.   Reports on progress will include:
 information about how policies are used, whether they are achieving 

their intended purpose, and their significant effects in terms of 
sustainability appraisal objectives;

 policies that are not being used and reasons why;
 indications of where policies need to be reviewed (e.g. because they 

are not working, or having unintended unacceptable effects, or 
because of changes in national policy) and how this review is to be 
achieved;

 progress on the number of dwellings built in the monitoring period and the 
plan period to date, and a trajectory demonstrating the likely pace of future 
house-building;

 progress with any necessary infrastructure provision; and 

 any major changes in the borough and data on housing, employment and 
population trends.

8. Tests of Soundness

8.1 The tests of soundness set out in the NPPF indicate that the Borough Council 
will need to demonstrate that the new Local Plan is:
 Positively prepared – it should be based on a strategy which seeks to 

meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure requirements;
 Justified – it should represent the most appropriate strategy, when 

considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate 
evidence;

 Effective – the Local Plan should be deliverable over the plan period and 
based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities; and

 Consistent with national policy – the Local Plan should enable the delivery 
of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF.

8.2 The Local Plan and the process of preparing it must also comply with 
legislative requirements. 

9. Resources and Duty to Cooperate

9.1 The Policy Team within the Planning Policy & Implementation Section 
currently comprises four full-time officers, and the part-time services of a 
planning technician. A new Section Manager is due to start in May, along with 
a temporary planning officer on a 12 month contract.  Officers in the 
Implementation and Design Team (the other team in the Planning Policy & 
Implementation Section) and other units of the Council will contribute to the 
preparation of the Local Plan.  Subject to resource constraints, the Council 
may use consultants during the process, particularly in specialist areas.  

9.2 A key resource in the preparation of the new Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
will be the main public, private and voluntary sector organisations that provide 

69



6

services to our communities and which helped to prepare the borough’s 
former Community Plan (Sustainable Community Strategy). These 
organisations will have an important role in contributing to the evolution of the 
Local Plan. The Council is currently preparing a new Corporate Strategy 
which provides an opportunity to ensure that these working relationships 
continue to develop. 

9.3 The Localism Act replaced strategic planning with a ‘duty to cooperate’ 
between local planning authorities.  The Council liaises with other south 
Hampshire local planning authorities in order to achieve a co-ordinated 
approach particularly to sub-regional issues, and is an active participant in the 
Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH).  Joint working continues with 
Southampton City Council and other neighbouring authorities as necessary. 

10. Risk Assessment

10.1 Preparation of the former Local Plan was substantially delayed by County 
Council political intervention and finally brought to a halt by being found 
unsound at examination.  There are further risks that may prejudice the 
achievement of the new LDS programme, for example further changes in 
landowners’ priorities, changes in staff resources, political change, changes in 
government guidance and further legislative change.  Appendix 7 identifies 
the level of risks and their potential impact, and possible mitigation and 
contingency measures.  

70



7

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Eastleigh Borough’s Local Development Documents
Appendix 2: Schedule of Local Plan preparation 2015-2017
Appendix 3: Programme for preparing DPDs and AMR
Appendix 4: Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review – Policies saved post 

2009 and DPDs in which they will be replaced
Appendix 5: Saved documents
Appendix 6: Evidence Base
Appendix 7: Risk Assessment

71



8

This page is intentionally blank

72



9

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS

APPENDIX 1

Development plan documents and DPD preparation process

Fig. 1:  Eastleigh Borough’s Local Development Documents 

 Eastleigh Borough 
Community Plan 2009 
update

 Hampshire Sustainable 
Community Strategy 2008

Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review
2001 – 2011 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS

Annual 
Monitoring 

Report

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement

Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan 2011-2036

Supplementary 
Planning 

Documents

Local Development 
Scheme

 Partnership for Urban 
South Hampshire 
(PUSH) revised 
Economic 
Development Strategy 
for South Hampshire 
2010

 PUSH Strategy for 
South Hampshire

73



10

Fig. 2: Local Plan preparation process

*

Evidence gathering 

Identification of issues 
and options

Publication (of 
proposed submission 
document) for formal 
consultation

Submission

Examination 

Inspector’s report

Consulting on options

Regulation 18:

Consultation with 
statutory bodies.

Stakeholder and 
public consultation

Adoption

Monitoring and review

Regulations 19 & 20: 
Publication for formal public 
consultation

S
us

ta
in

ab
ili

ty
 A

pp
ra

is
al

Pr
od

uc
tio

n *

* If significant changes need to be made to 
the proposed submission document in 
response to representations at the 
Regulations 19-20 stage, the document has to 
be withdrawn and subjected to further 
consultation through the Regulation 18 
process.  The Regulations 19-20 publication 
stage is then repeated.

Su
bm

is
si

on
/ E

xa
m

in
at

io
n

Regulation 22: Submission to 
Secretary of State

Regulations 23 & 24: 
Independent examination

Regulation 25: Publication of 
Inspector’s recommendations

Regulation 26: Adoption of 
Local Plan

74



11

APPENDIX 2
Schedule of Development Plan Document Preparation 2015-2017 
Notes: 
(i)   The ‘Regulations’ referred to are the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
(ii)   The Statement of Community Involvement adopted in 2006.  It was revised in 2009, again in 2013 to reflect changes in legislation and the Local Development Scheme.  

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS

Document 
title

Role and content Geographical 
Coverage

Chain of 
conformity

Preparation of a 
Local Plan*
(Reg. 18)

Publication of a 
Local Plan**
(Regs. 19 & 20)

Submission***  (Reg. 
22) & Examination 
(Regs. 23 & 24)

Adoption 
(Reg. 26)

Eastleigh 
Borough 
Local Plan 
2011-2036

Strategy for 
development in the 
borough; spatial 
expression of 
Community Strategy; 
vision, objectives and 
strategic policies; broad 
distribution of new 
development, and other 
strategic principles e.g. 
countryside gaps 
between settlements.  
Illustrated by key 
diagram and a new 
Ordnance Survey-based 
Policies Map.

Defines urban areas, 
gaps and new site 
allocations and includes 
development 
management policies, 
all also illustrated on the 
Ordnance Survey-based 
Policies Map

Eastleigh Borough National Planning 
Policy Framework 
Hampshire Minerals & 

Waste Framework/ 
Plan

Regard will also be had 
to:
PUSH strategies
Hampshire 

Sustainable 
Community Strategy
Eastleigh Borough 

Community Plan
Other strategies of the 

Borough Council and 
other statutory bodies.

Stakeholder and 
community consultation 
on issues, options and 
preferred approach (draft 
local plan):

December 2015 – 
February 2016

Publication of pre-
submission local plan:

June - July 2016

Submission to the Secretary 
of State  November 2016

Examination:
-  Pre-Examination meeting (if 
required) January 2017
-  Hearing sessions open 
March  2017
-  Inspector’s Report fact 
check May 2017
-  Inspector’s Report final 
June 2017

September 
2017

* Consultation with specific and general consultation bodies (as defined in the Regulations and the adopted Statement of Community Involvement) on the contents of the draft Local Plan.
** Publication = Publication for formal public consultation on soundness of the Local Plan as it is proposed to submit it to the Secretary of State (the pre-submission Local Plan)
*** Submission = Submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State for formal examination
NOTE: The Policies Map will illustrate geographically on an Ordnance Survey base the application of local plan policies.

75



12

APPENDIX 3
Programme for Preparing the Local Plan, Statement of Community Involvement and the Annual Monitoring Report

2015 2016 2017
J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S

Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Review 
2001 – 2011 
Saved Policies

I/O P S Pe H Rc Rf A
Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Review 
2011-2036 & 
policies map

SCI
Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 

Am AmAnnual Monitoring 
Report

KEY
Saved Policies Rc Inspector’s Report fact check
Public & stakeholder participation in preparation (Reg. 18) Rf Inspectors Report Final (Reg. 25)

I/O Consult on issues, options and preferred approach (Reg.18) A Adoption (Reg. 26)
P Publication – Pre-publication consultation (Regs. 19 & 20) Annual Monitoring Report preparation

Su Submission to Secretary of State (Reg. 22) Am Publication of Annual Monitoring Report
Examination (Reg. s. 23 & 24) Consultation SCI

Pe Pre-examination meeting (if required) SCI Publication of SCI
H Hearing sessions open

Notes: 
i. The ‘Regulations’ referred to in the key are the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

76



13

 APPENDIX 4

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 - 2011 – 
saved policies to be replaced by Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan 2011-2036

Policy Summary
1.0 The Countryside
1.CO Criteria for development in the countryside
2.CO Presumption against development in strategic gaps
3.CO Criteria for development in local gaps
5.CO Farm diversification 
6.CO Criteria for agricultural workers dwellings 
7.CO Agricultural occupancy condition 
8.CO Replacement dwellings in the countryside
9.CO Residential extensions in the countryside
10.CO Replacement of non-residential buildings in the countryside 
11.CO Extensions to non-residential buildings in the countryside
12.CO Hamble Community Sports College SPA
13.CO Hampshire Police Headquarters SPA
14.CO Mobile Home Parks
15.CO Conversion of rural buildings for employment purposes 
16.CO Conversion of rural buildings to residential 
17.CO Extension of authorised commercial uses in the countryside
18.CO Protection of the landscape
19.CO Protection of landscape features
20.CO Landscape Improvements
2.0 Nature Conservation
22.NC Protection of SSSIs
23.NC Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation
25.NC Promotion of biodiversity 
26.NC Protection of wildlife network
27.NC Designation of Local Nature Reserves
3.0 Environmental Sustainability
28.ES Waste collection and storage
29.ES Development next to noise sensitive premises
30.ES Noise sensitive development 
31.ES Residential development and noise 
32.ES Pollution control
33.ES Air Quality
34.ES Reduction of greenhouse gases
35.ES Contaminated land
36.ES Lighting
37.ES Sustainable construction
38.ES Renewable energy
39.ES River corridors
40.ES Southampton Water and Hamble estuary
41.ES Development affecting water courses 
42.ES Development in a catchment of a water course
43.ES Areas at risk of flooding
44.ES Development in areas at risk of flooding
45.ES Sustainable drainage

77



14

Policy Summary
4.0 Urban Renaissance and the Built Environment
52.BE Improving Eastleigh approach roads
53.BE Eastleigh Renaissance Quarter
54.BE Financial contributions in Renaissance Quarter
55.BE Recreation Ground
56.BE Barton Park
57.BE Barton Park
58.BE Protection of greenspaces
59.BE Design Criteria
60.BE Road and Rail corridors
61.BE Homezones
62.BE People with disabilities
63.BE Car park design 
64.BE Overhead electricity lines
65.BE Criteria for telecommunications proposals
66.BE Information and communications technology
67.BE Criteria for advertisement proposals
68.BE Notifiable installations
69.BE Airport Public Safety Zone
5.0 Housing
71.H Mixed use development 
72.H Density 
73.H Housing mix
74.H Affordable housing 
75.H Affordable housing on smaller sites
76.H Dowd’s Farm, Hedge End
77.H South Street, Eastleigh
79.H Development off Woodside Avenue, Eastleigh
80.H Pirelli Phase 2
81.H Reserve Housing Sites
82.H Hardings Lane Fair Oak
83.H Fair Oak Lodge
84.H Romill Close, West End
85.H Conversion to flats
86.H HMOSs
87.H Gypsy sites.  Note – the Council also intends to prepare a 

Travelling Communities DPD
88.H Scotland Close, Fair Oak 
6.0 Transport & Accessibility
89.T Investment criteria
91.T Transport Schemes
92.T Local transport proposals
93.T Park and Ride at Stoneham 
94.T Park and Ride at Windhover, Bursledon
95.T Parking at Southampton Parkway
96.T Interchange facilities
97.T Parking at Airport
98.T Small Park and Ride schemes 
99.T Freight
100.T Transport and New Development 
101.T RTRA targets
102.T New accesses
103.T Green travel plans 
104.T Off-highway parking
105.T Parking in town centres

78



15

Policy Summary
7.0 The Economy
108.E Start-up businesses
109.E Leigh Road Offices
111.E Railway Works
112.E Prysmian Land
113.E Wide Lane/Mitchell Way
114.E Northern Business Park
115.E Airport SPA
117.E Existing employment sites
118.E Redevelopment of existing employment sites
119.E Town centre employment sites
120.E Employment development on non-identified sites
121.E Dutton Lane
122.E Toynbee Road
123.E Chalcroft Distribution Park, West End
124.E Boatyards
8.0 Town & Local Centres
125.TC Eastleigh Town Centre
126.TC Eastleigh Town Centre
127.TC Eastleigh Town Centre
128.TC Core retail area
129.TC North of Wells Place
130.TC Leigh Road
131.TC Romsey Road
132.TC Market Street
133.TC District and local centres
134.TC Major retail development
135.TC Warehouse clubs
136.TC Core Zone
137.TC Primary shopping zones
138.TC Secondary shopping zones
139.TC Change of use in local centres
140.TC Changes of use which don’t attract customers
141.TC Upper floors
142.TC Change of use to A3 in shopping areas
143.TC Amusement centres
144.TC Car Boot Sales
9.0 Public Open Space, Sport & Recreation
145.OS Loss of open space
146.OS Green Network
147.OS Open space requirements
148.OS Shortfall of open space
149.OS Improvement of playing fields
150.OS Berrywood open space
151.OS Allotments
152.OS New footpaths
153.OS Bridleways
154.OS Stables and Riding Schools
155.OS River Hamble Moorings
156.OS Jetties, pontoons, landing stages, etc
157.OS Noisy sports
158.OS Rose Bowl SPA, West End
10.0 Tourism & The Arts
159.TA Sustainable tourism

79



16

Policy Summary
160.TA Leisure and tourism facilities in the countryside
161.TA Leisure and tourism facilities in urban areas
162.TA The Strawberry Trail
163.TA Hotel on Hamble peninsula 
164.TA Conference Centre at Barton Park
165.TA Percent for Art
11.0 Conservation & Listed Buildings
166.LB Protection of scheduled archaeological sites
167.LB Protection of non-scheduled sites
168.LB Archaeological evaluation 
169.LB Criteria for development in a Conservation Area
170.LB Demolition in a Conservation Area
171.LB The setting of buildings in a Conservation Area
172.LB Advertisements in Conservation Areas
173.LB Listed building demolition 
174.LB Listed building alterations
175.LB Buildings of Local Importance 
176.LB Enabling development
177.LB Protection of historic parks and gardens 
178.LB Botley Mill restoration 
179.LB Old Bursledon – protection
180.LB Old Bursledon –roads
181.LB Hiltingbury –protection 
182.LB Bournemouth Road
183.LB The Aviary Estate
184.LB Campbell Road, Eastleigh & Crowsport
12.0 Community Facilities
185.IN Protection of existing community facilities 
186.IN Criteria for new facilities 
187.IN Moorgreen and Nuffield SPAs
188.IN Tankerville SPA
190.IN Infrastructure Provision 
191.IN Developers’ Contributions 

Notes: 
(i) After the adoption of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036, the 

saved policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 – 
2011 will cease to have effect.

80



17

APPENDIX 5

Saved Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents

The following supplementary planning guidance / documents have been 
saved.  The policies to which most relate are the saved policies of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 – 2011 (adopted May 2006).  
These documents are a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications.  They can be viewed on Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
web site at http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-
documents.aspx  and/or at the Borough Council’s offices at Eastleigh House.  
When the new Local Plan has been adopted, these documents will be 
updated and replaced as appropriate to supplement the new policies and 
proposals.

 Accommodation for elderly people and those in need of care SPD (2011)
 Affordable Housing SPD (2009)
 Annexes for Dependent Relatives Supplementary Planning Advice (2005) 
 Biodiversity SPD (December 2009)
 Bishopstoke Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Proposals 

SPD (2011)
 Botley Conservation Area Leaflets (2005) 
 Bursledon Windmill Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 

Proposals SPD (2011)
 Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Character Areas SPD (2005) 
 Character Areas SPD (2007)
 Dowd’s Farm Development and Design Brief (2002)
 Eastleigh Town Centre Vision (2011)
 Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD (2009)
 Fair Oak Village Centre Development Brief (2005)
 Gaters Mill Conservation Area Leaflet (2005) 
 Hamble-le-Rice Conservation Area Appraisal SPD (2008)
 Hatch Farm Development Brief (2012)
 Land north of Kipling Road, Woodside Avenue, Eastleigh Development 

Brief (2009) 
 Moorgreen Hospital Development Brief (2015)
 Netley Abbey Conservation Area Appraisal SPD (2010)
 Old Bursledon Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Proposals 

(2012) 
 Orchards Way Conservation Area Leaflets (2005) 
 Planning Guidance on Shopfronts & Signs (1996) 
 Planning Obligations SPD (2008)
 Prysmian 2 Development Brief (2008)  

81

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents.aspx


18

 Quality Places SPD (2011)
 Residential amenity in the Borough of Eastleigh SPG (2004)
 Residential Parking Standards SPD (2009)
 South Central Eastleigh Development Brief (2003)
 Storage and Collection of Domestic Waste and Recyclable Materials SPD 

(2005)  
 The Mount Bishopstoke Development Brief (2007)

82



19

APPENDIX 6
The Evidence Base
This list will be expanded and updated over time.  These documents are being 
placed on Eastleigh Borough Council’s web site at http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk  
(there will be links to those on other web sites) and can also be viewed at the 
Borough Council’s offices at Eastleigh House.   

Background 
paper no:

Title

1. GENERAL

G0 An introduction to the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2029 and related evidence

G1 Eastleigh Borough Community Plan 2009-2013  September 2009

G2 Sustainability Appraisal July 2014 (link to SA webpage)

G3 Annual Monitoring Report November 2014

G4 SLAA Documents  July 2014

G5 Equalities Impact Assessment 

G6A PUSH Economic Development Strategy - Preferred Growth Scenario

DTZ for PUSH

http://www.push.gov.uk/pos-101109-r02-bto-amm-appendix_d.pdf

G6B PUSH Economic Development Strategy Employment Sites & Premises Demand & 
Supply Analysis

DTZ for PUSH

http://www.push.gov.uk/pos-101109-r02-bto-amm-appendix_e.pdf

G7 PUSH South Hampshire Strategy October 2012

G8 Infrastructure Delivery Plan July 2014

G9 Community Infrastructure Levy Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule October 2013

G10 Community Infrastructure Levy Viabilty Assessment October 2013

G11 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Viability Assessment

G12 Making the links - the relationships between proposed housing and employment 
requirements

G13 Solent Local Enterprise Partnership Vision and Approach

G14 Solent LEP Strategy for Growth

83

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-G0_Intro_to_Local_Plan-July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-G0_Intro_to_Local_Plan-July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-G0_Intro_to_Local_Plan-July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-plan.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/default.aspx?page=575
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/141127%202013-2014%20Annual%20Monitoring%20Report.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_EqualityImpactAssessment.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/pos-101109-r02-bto-amm-appendix_d.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/pos-101109-r02-bto-amm-appendix_e.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_strategy_-_updated_dec_2012.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_strategy_-_updated_dec_2012.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_strategy_-_updated_dec_2012.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_strategy_-_updated_dec_2012.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_strategy_-_updated_dec_2012.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-IDP_BP-G8_140711.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/pdcsreportonconsultation.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/CILViability.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-G11_Local_Plan_Viability-SupplementaryRptv2_DSP_June_2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-G12BP_Making_the_Links_July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-G12BP_Making_the_Links_July2014.pdf
http://solentlep.org.uk/about/vision_and_approach
http://solentlep.org.uk/blog/solent_lep_publishes_strategy_for_growth


20

G15 Solent LEP Strategic Economic Plan (March 2014)

http://solentlep.org.uk/uploads/documents/Solent_Strategic_Economic_Plan.pdf

G16

 

Chapter 16 of the South East Plan - (in relation to housing policies and SDA) Document 
now formally revoked

2. QUALITY PLACES

QP1 Quality Places SPD  November 2011

QP1A PUSH Quality Places Charter  2010

QP2 Heritage Background Paper         July 2014

QP2A Hampshire Archaeology and Historic Buildings Record

QP3 Internal space standards  January 2012

QP4 Public Art Strategy  November 2012

QP5 Historic Landscape Assessment - Land off Chestnut Avenue, Eastleigh Prepared by: 
The Environmental Dimension Partnership (EDP) July 2012

Historic Landscape Assessment - Document

Historic Landscape Assessment - Appendicies (18Mb)

QP6 Landscape and Heritage Assessment - Land to the South of Chestnut Avenue, 
Eastleigh
Prepared by: LUC September 2014 

3. GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

GI1 Green Infrastructure Background Paper  October 2014

GI2 PUSH Green Infrastructure Strategy  June 2010

GI2A PUSH Policy Framework for Gaps   2008

-        Countryside

GI3 Landscape Character Assessment Background Paper (opens new webpage) 
December 2011

GI3A Hampshire Integrated Character Assessment    2011

GI3B Countryside Access Plan for Hampshire (HCC)   

-        Recreation

GI4 PPG17 study  reviewed in light of NPPF  August 2012

GI4A Playing Pitch Strategy  October 2014 (now Annex 2 of PPG17 Study)

GI5 Play Strategy and Action Plan 2007-2017  April 2007

84

http://solentlep.org.uk/uploads/documents/Solent_Strategic_Economic_Plan.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_G16_Chap16_South_East_Plan.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_G16_Chap16_South_East_Plan.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/QualityPlacesCabinetRP-27-0611v5.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/quality_places_charter.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppd_HeritageBP_QP2%20July14%20.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/landscape-and-heritage/historic-environment/historic-buildings-register.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/QP3%20ppdEBCInt_Space_Std-bp120109.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/public-art/public-art-strategy.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-HistoricLandscapeAssessmentdocument.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-HistoricLandscapeAssessmentappendices.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-HistoricLandscapeAssessmentappendices.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-HistoricLandscapeAssessmentappendices.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_QP6_North_Stoneham_Landscape_Assessment_Final_Sept14.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_QP6_North_Stoneham_Landscape_Assessment_Final_Sept14.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi_GI_BP_updateOct2014.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/sustainability-and-social-infrastructure.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/push_policy_framework_for_gaps.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/landscape-character-assessment.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/landscape-character-assessment.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/landscape-character-assessment.aspx
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/landscape-and-heritage/hampshire-integrated-character-assessment.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/countryside/access-plans.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/ppg17-study-2011.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/ppg17-study-2011.aspx#Annex2PPS
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/HCPlayStrategyApril2009.pdf


21

GI6 Health Action Plan  2014 - see C8 below

-        Biodiversity

GI7 Eastleigh Borough Biodiversity Action Plan 2012-2022

GI8 Hampshire Corporate Biodiversity Action Plan 2008-2011  July 2008

GI8A Hampshire Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (Hampshire Biodiversity Partnership)

GI8B A Vision for the Forest of Bere – Hampshire Wildlife Trust.

GI8C UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework

GI8D Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services

-        Coast
 

GI9 Coast Background paper  February 2014

GI9A North Solent Shoreline Management Plan

GI9B Emerging Marine Plan – South Inshore Area

GI9C Hamble River Harbour Authority Strategic Vision, Strategic Plan and Business Plan

-        
Habitats

 

GI10 Habitats Regulation Assessment  July 2014

GI11 Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project

GI12 Test Valley Borough Council Forest Park Implementation Framework Cabinet Report  
29th October 2014

GI13 Test Valley Borough Council Forest Park Implementation Framework – summary 
comments – Annex 1 to the above  October 2014

GI14 Test Valley Borough Council Forest Park Implementation Framework – Annex 2 to the 
above   October 2014

4. ENVIRONMENT

EN1 Climate Change Background Paper April 2014

EN1A PUSH Climate change strategy feasibility study

EN1B  PUSH Sustainability Policy Framework

EN2 Eastleigh Borough Climate Change Strategy  July 2011

EN2A

 

Joint Municipal Waste Strategy (with HCC) refresh 2012

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s50005843/Appendix%203.pdf

85

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence.aspx#C8
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/sport-leisure-and-culture/countryside/biodiversity.aspx
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/biodiversity/corporateactionplan/corporateactionplan-2.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hampshirebiodiversity/boas.htm
http://www.hiwwt.org.uk/forest-bere
http://www.hiwwt.org.uk/forest-bere
http://www.hiwwt.org.uk/forest-bere
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-6189
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/biodiversity-2020-a-strategy-for-england-s-wildlife-and-ecosystem-services
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI_TheCoast%20BP_GI9_Feb14.pdf
http://www.northsolentsmp.co.uk/index.cfm?articleid=6554&articleaction=nthslnt&CFID=14143223&CFTOKEN=83206942
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-vision-and-objectives-for-the-south-marine-plan-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-vision-and-objectives-for-the-south-marine-plan-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-vision-and-objectives-for-the-south-marine-plan-areas
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hambleharbour/harbour-authority.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI-HRA_140704.pdf
http://www.solentforum.org/forum/sub_groups/Natural_Environment_Group/Disturbance_and_Mitigation_Project/
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=vfP5rJWbuvfwTrJF6amSOTcIWeAdaAAVO3oz2uc4w48B6umoxSFMTw%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=SD5zMZw%2fx0a8HBBBsEfg7ZD65dU8rsf2bTnIWE3ayjw5J4z6DOfhcg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=J5t5QANRvKTcT0kNPbQ7yTZ9LkdCbMzCeKpZtLqjets1J45aCyhkIg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=J5t5QANRvKTcT0kNPbQ7yTZ9LkdCbMzCeKpZtLqjets1J45aCyhkIg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=J5t5QANRvKTcT0kNPbQ7yTZ9LkdCbMzCeKpZtLqjets1J45aCyhkIg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://testvalley.cmis.uk.com/TestValleyPublic/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=J5t5QANRvKTcT0kNPbQ7yTZ9LkdCbMzCeKpZtLqjets1J45aCyhkIg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/140415%20-%20Climate%20Change.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/140415%20-%20Climate%20Change.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/140415%20-%20Climate%20Change.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/sustainability-and-social-infrastructure/climate-change-strategy.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/pjc-080318-r03-abi.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-recycling-environment/sustainability/sustainable-council.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s50005843/Appendix%203.pdf


22

EN3 Water Background Paper  July 2014

EN4 PUSH Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  December 2007

PUSH Strategic Flood Risk Assessment map 

EN4A Hampshire County Council Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 2011 – 2017

EN4B Hampshire County Council Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

EN4C Eastleigh Borough Surface Water Management Plan 2013 (HCC and EBC)

EN4D River Basin Management Plan – South East River Basin District Environment Agency 
2009

EN4E South East Hampshire: Catchment Flood Management Plan

EN4F Test and Itchen Catchment flood management plan

EN5 PUSH Integrated Water Management Study  December 2008

EN6 Eastleigh Air Quality Management Plan 

EN7 Environmentally Sustainable Development work for PUSH

Sustainability Guidance - Introduction 

Sustainability Guidance - Water 

Sustainability Guidance - Energy

EN8 Sustainable Development Background Paper  May 2012

EN9 Services and Telecommunications  Jan 2014

EN10 Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013

5. ECONOMY & TRANSPORT

-        Economy

EC1 Eastleigh Borough Employment Land Review

EC1a - Eastleigh Borough Economic & Employment Land Baseline Report July 2014

EC1a - Eastleigh Borough Economic & Employment Land Baseline Appendicies   July 
2014

EC1b - NLP’s Eastleigh Borough Council Employment Land Requirements 
Study January 2012

EC1b1 - NLP's Eastleigh Borough Council Employment Land Requirements Study 
Update  May 2014

EC1c - Eastleigh Employment Land Strategy Report July 2014

EC2 Eastleigh Borough Economic Development Strategy  2013-2015

86

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi_Water_BPEN3_July14.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/final_sfra_report.pdf
http://maps.hants.gov.uk/push/
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/floodriskassessments.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/floodriskassessments.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/floodriskassessments.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/floodriskstrategy.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/surfacewatermanagement/swmp-eastleigh.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-east-river-basin-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-east-river-basin-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-east-river-basin-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-east-river-basin-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-east-hampshire-catchment-flood-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/test-and-itchen-catchment-flood-management-plan
http://www.push.gov.uk/081223_-_iwms_final.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-recycling-environment/environmental--health/pollution/air/air-quality.aspx
http://www.push.gov.uk/spd_introduction.doc
http://www.push.gov.uk/spd_introduction.doc
http://www.push.gov.uk/spd_water.doc
http://www.push.gov.uk/spd_water.doc
http://www.push.gov.uk/spd_energy.doc
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppdsustainabledevelopmentbpmay12.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Services_Telecommunications_BP_EN9-Jan%202014.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/planning-policy-home.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-EC1a_ELRpart1_rpt.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-EC1a_ELRpart1_appx.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-EC1a_ELRpart1_appx.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-EC1a_ELRpart1_appx.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppd_NLP-EmployLandReqStudy_Jan%202012.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppd_NLP-EmployLandReqStudy_Jan%202012.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-EC1b1_ELRpart2(partial%20update).pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-EC1b1_ELRpart2(partial%20update).pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-EC1c_ELRpart3.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/Docs/ECON%20DEV%20STRATEGY%20%202013-2015.doc


23

EC3 Eastleigh Borough Economic Profile Updated annually

EC4 Former Eastleigh River Side background paper – now attached as Appendix 5 to 
Background paper EC1a

EC5 Eastleigh town centre  August 2013

EC6 District and Local Centres  September 2013

EC7 Southampton and Eastleigh Retail Study   July 2011

EC8  Convenience retailing – joint capacity assessment for SCC & EBC (DTZ 2006) Vol 1

 Convenience retailing – joint capacity assessment for SCC & EBC (DTZ 2008) Vol 2

 Convenience retailing – joint capacity assessment for SCC & EBC (DTZ 2008) Vol 3

EC9 South Hampshire town centres – sub-regional study for PUSH (DTZ 2006) Vol 1

South Hampshire town centres – sub-regional study for PUSH (DTZ 2006) Vol 2

South Hampshire town centres – sub-regional study for PUSH (DTZ 2006) Vol 3

EC10 Eastleigh town centre retail study update for Eastleigh Borough Council (DTZ 
2008) Report

Eastleigh town centre retail study update for Eastleigh Borough Council (DTZ 
2008) Model

EC11 Eastleigh town centre health check 

EC12 Annual shopping frontage survey (Details of Occupancy)  August 2014

EC13 Town Centre Vision  August 2013

EC14 Hampshire Faster Broadband Initiative

EC15 Solent LEP Economic Outlook    March 2014

EC16 Solent LEP Technical Annex   March 2014

-        Transport

T1 Transport Background Paper  July 2014

T2 Hampshire Local Transport Plan 2011 - 2029 Final   (link)

T3 Borough of Eastleigh Public Transport Strategy  May 2008

T4 Borough of Eastleigh Cycling Strategy 

T5 Borough of Eastleigh Walking Strategy

T6 Eastleigh Town Access Plan  April 2011

T7 Joint Southampton Eastleigh LDFs Transport Assessment 2008. Stage 1 final report  
April 2009

87

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/business/why-eastleigh/facts-and-figures.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_ELR_EC1ABP_part1Jan2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_ELR_EC1ABP_part1Jan2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_ELR_EC1ABP_part1Jan2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_ELR_EC1ABP_part1Jan2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppiEC5%20_towncentre.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppiEC6_DistrictLocalCentres-Sep2013.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/retail-study.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2Volume%202.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2Volume%202.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2Volume%202.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2Volume%202.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2Volume%202.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201a.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201a.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%201a.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppdshtcVolume2b.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppdshtcVolume2b.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppdshtcVolume2b.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203c.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203c.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/1Volume%203c.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyUpdateFINALREPORT.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyUpdateFINALREPORT.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyUpdateFINALREPORT.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyUpdateFINALREPORT.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyApp%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyApp%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyApp%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/EC10EastleighTownCentreRetailStudyApp%201.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/2010-11%20Eastleigh%20Town%20Centre%20Health%20Check.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_Detailsofoccupancy_Aug2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppd_ETCVision2013.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/broadband.htm
http://solentlep.org.uk/uploads/documents/OE_Solent_LEP_report_March_2014.pdf
http://solentlep.org.uk/uploads/documents/Techincal_annex.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi_Transport_T1BP_update_Jul14.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/transport/local-transport-plan.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/TEPubTransStrat.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/TE_CycleStrategy.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/TE_WalkingStrategy.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/taps/tap-eastleigh
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPDStage1finalreportApr09.pdf


24

Stage 2 draft Report   June 2009

T8 Network Rail Route Utilisation Strategy 2011

T8A Eastleigh Supplementary Rail Study – TfSH   2008

T9 Transport Assessment and appendices September 2013 

T9A Transport Assessment  (10mb) February 2014

Transport assessment appendices (27mb)  February 2014

T9A1 Supplementary Transport Assessment  July 2014

T9B Draft transport assessment of options (15mb)  July 2012

T10 Southampton Airport Masterplan

T11 Eastleigh Borough Transport Statement 2012

T12 Botley Bypass Feasibility Study

T13 Botley Bypass

T14 TfSHIOW Transport Delivery Plan 2012 – 2026

6. COMMUNITY

-        Housing

H1 Housing (general) Background Paper including housing numbers  July 2014

H1A Analysis of objectively assessed housing needs in the light of 2012-based sub-national 
population projections  2014

H2

H2a

Joint Eastleigh/ Southampton Affordable Housing Viability study 2008

Affordable Housing Viability Assessment Update, July 2012

H3 Housing needs survey 2004

H4 PUSH  South Hampshire Housing Market Assessment – Part II (October 2006)  
published October 2006

H4A PUSH Strategic Housing Market Assessment    January 2014

H5 Housing Strategy for Eastleigh 2012-17 

H6 Accessible Homes Strategy 2008-2011

H7 Preventing Homelessness Strategy 2013-18

H8 Eastleigh Borough Council’s Older Person’s Accommodation Strategy 2004 – 2007

H8A Housing provision for older people in Hampshire (HCC 2009)

88

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPDStage2draftreport3Jun09.pdf
http://www.networkrail.co.uk/browse%20documents/rus%20documents/route%20utilisation%20strategies/rus%20generation%202/london%20and%20south%20east/london%20and%20south%20east%20route%20utilisation%20strategy.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Eastleigh_Supp_Rail_Study_Oct08.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Eastleigh_Supp_Rail_Study_Oct08.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Eastleigh_Supp_Rail_Study_Oct08.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Eastleigh_Supp_Rail_Study_Oct08.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi_131009_TA_ReportFINAL.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_TA-FinalReportFeb2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/PPI_TA-FinalAppendiciesFeb2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-T9A1_TA_supplement_July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-TranAssess_Options_models_120713%20.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-TranAssess_Options_models_120713%20.pdf
http://www.southamptonairport.com/about-us/our-vision/
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/eastleigh-transport-statement-final-2012.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/parking-travel--roads/traffic--transport-studies.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-BotleyBypass_T13BP_July2014.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport-for-south-hampshire/TransportDeliveryPlan.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport-for-south-hampshire/TransportDeliveryPlan.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport-for-south-hampshire/TransportDeliveryPlan.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-H1_Housing_BP_July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-H1A_JGC%20Study_Housing_need.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-H1A_JGC%20Study_Housing_need.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/affordable-housing.aspx#HouseViAssStudy
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/affordable-housing.aspx#HouseViAssUpdate
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/HsNeedsEastleighUpd2004.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_housing_market_assessment_part_ii_-_final_-_.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_housing_market_assessment_part_ii_-_final_-_.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_housing_market_assessment_part_ii_-_final_-_.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_housing_market_assessment_part_ii_-_final_-_.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_housing_market_assessment_part_ii_-_final_-_.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/housing-and-planning/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/Housing%20strategy2012-2017.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/Housing%20strategy2012-2017.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/our-strategies-and-plans.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/our-strategies-and-plans.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/OP-AS1.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/OP-AS1.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/OP-AS1.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/housing_provision_for_older_people_nov_2009.pdf


25

H8B Older People’s Well-Being Strategy for Hampshire 2011 - 2014

H9  

Five Year Housing Land Supply Position 31-03-2013

Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Appendix Two

H10 Housing Implementation Strategy -  Five-year Housing Land Supply Position 
Statement - 31 December 2013

H11 Housing Implementation Strategy - Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement 
- 31 March 2014

H12 Addendum to 31 March 2014 Housing implementation Strategy - June 2014

H13a

H13b

Eastleigh Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment  - 
June 2014

Eastleigh Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment  -
 November 2014

H14 Housing Implementation Strategy  - June 2014

H15 Housing Implementation Strategy  - Sept 2014

-        Population and community infrastructure

C1 Demography Background Paper   July 2014

C2 Community infrastructure Background Paper   February 2014

C2A Hampshire Strategic Infrastructure Statement   April 2013

C3 Hampshire County Council School Places Framework 

C4 Eastleigh’s Cultural Strategy  May 2009

C5 Arts Needs Survey for Eastleigh Borough 2011

C6 PUSH Cultural Strategy 2009

C7 The Community Safety Partnership Plan 2012 – 2013

C8 Health Action Plan  2014

89

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/bettertime/cx-olderpeoplesstrategy.htm
http://intranet/EBCInternet62/pdf/ppi_131022_Housing%20Land%20Position%20at%2031-03-13.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppdAppendix-2%20_1-5%20Years_Aug13.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI_HousingImplementationStrategy_H10BPDec2013.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI_HousingImplementationStrategy_H10BPDec2013.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI_HousingImplementationStrategy_H10BPDec2013.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI_HousingImplementationStrategy_H10BPDec2013.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/140407HIS%20March%20Update.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Addendum_to_Housing_Implementation_Strategy_June_2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/PPI-GTAA_Final_Draft_Rpt_June%2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi_GTAA_Final_Report_(Revised%20TSP)_Nov14.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/140804%20HIS%20June%202014%20Final2.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi_HIS_Sept%202014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-Demographics_C1BP_July2014.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/Community%20Infrastructure%20Background%20Paper%20C2%20%20March%2014.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/strategic-planning/infrastructure
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/education/schools/school-places.htm
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/sport-leisure-and-culture/culture-and-the-arts.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/Arts%20Needs%20Executive%20Summary.pdf
http://www.push.gov.uk/push_qpdp_cultural_strategy_jan_092.pdf
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety-and-emergency/about-us.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety-and-emergency/about-us.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety-and-emergency/about-us.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/healthy-living/eastleigh-health-action-plan.aspx


26

APPENDIX 7 
Risk Assessment

The impact and likelihood of identified risks adversely affecting the projects 
are each addressed on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 = very low, 2 = low, 3 = 
medium, 4 = high, 5 = very high.  The risk calculation is the multiplier of these 
two factors, the highest figures revealing the greatest risk.

Risk 
No Risk Description

Im
pa

ct
(S

co
re

 1
-5

)
Li

ke
lih

oo
d

(S
co

re
 1

-5
)

C
al

cu
la

tio
n

(Im
pa

ct
 x

 
lik

el
ih

oo
d)

Countermeasure / 
Contingency

001 A team member 
may leave

4 3 12 Redeploy other staff/employ 
consultants/ engage new 
staff member

002 Shortage of staff 
resources due to 
expenditure cuts

4 4 16 Redeploy other staff/ extend 
programme

003 Unforeseen 
problems in joint 
working with PUSH/ 
HCC/ neighbouring 
authorities 

4 4 16 Maximise opportunities to 
work with PUSH, HCC and 
neighbouring authorities so 
that any issues are detected 
early.

004 Political processes 
– elections and 
changes of political 
leadership can have 
an impact on 
programmes.

4 3 12 Update programme in 
consultation with elected 
Members and DCLG

005 Delays in adoption 
of Local Plan lead 
to difficulties in 
demonstrating a 5-
year housing land 
supply

5 5 25 The Council has prepared a 
Housing Implementation 
Strategy which sets out the 
Council’s approach to 
managing the delivery of 
new housing in the borough. 

006 The capacity of the 
Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) 
and other external 
agencies may not 
be adequate to 
cope with the 
nationwide demand.
  

4 2 8 This is outside the Council’s 
control but we will  give early 
warning of our programme to 
them.

90



27

Risk 
No Risk Description

Im
pa

ct
(S

co
re

 1
-5

)
Li

ke
lih

oo
d

(S
co

re
 1

-5
)

C
al

cu
la

tio
n

(Im
pa

ct
 x

 
lik

el
ih

oo
d)

Countermeasure / 
Contingency

007 DPDs being found 
unsound 

5 4 20 This risk will be minimised 
through continued liaison 
with CLG & PINS at all 
milestone stages.

008 Legal challenge.  3 3 9 This will be minimised by 
ensuring that DPDs are 
“sound” and founded on a 
robust evidence base and 
well audited stakeholder and 
community engagement 
procedures.

009 Programme 
slippage.  

3 4 12 This will be minimised by 
regular contact with PINS, 
ensuring sufficient resources 
are maintained within the 
planning policy team and 
regular contact with 
consultants involved in 
updating the evidence base

011 Unforeseen 
changes to planning 
policy system by 
government.

4 4 16 Work on the Local Plan 
2011-2036 has only just 
commenced and therefore 
there is more scope to 
absorb any impact. 

The risks and dependencies identified highlight the need to ensure regular 
reviews of progress and the risks, and adjust priorities, programme and staff 
resources as appropriate.

 

91



28

This page is intentionally blank 

92



29

Eastleigh Borough Council, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 
Eastleigh, Hampshire, 
SO50 9YN
Tel: 023 8068 8000
Email: local.plan@eastleigh.gov.uk
Web: www.eastleigh.gov.uk

The information can be provided in alternative formats including large 
print, audiotape, Braille and some other languages by calling 023 8068 
8000, emailing local.plan@eastleigh.gov.uk or texting 07797 8700

93



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

CABINET

Thursday 9 April 2015

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATES OF THE BOROUGH’S FUTURE 
HOUSING NEED AND SUPPLY TO 2036

Report of the Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that the preliminary estimates of the borough’s future housing 
requirements and potential land supply (2011-2036) are noted and that these 
estimates are agreed for the purposes of further testing in preparing the evidence 
base for the Local Plan.

Summary 

On the basis of existing objective assessments of housing needs and the Planning 
Inspector’s Report on the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, a preliminary 
indication of the borough’s housing requirements (2011-2036) has been obtained. This 
suggests that a housing requirement of 16,900 dwellings could be required within the 
borough between 2011 and 2036. This figure is questionable given the Council’s 
previously expressed concerns regarding the Inspector’s Report. More detailed work has 
now been commissioned to investigate the borough’s housing requirement further. A 
further report to Cabinet is expected in June 2015. 

An interim update of the urban capacity for new housing in the period 2011-2036 has also 
been undertaken. Combined with the proposed allocations in the 2011-2029 Local Plan, it 
appears that additional greenfield sites may need to be identified to accommodate at least 
6,600 new dwellings within the borough, as an approximate estimate. A full update of the 
borough’s Strategic Land Availability Assessment will commence shortly.

It is important to emphasise that these are very early indicative estimates of housing needs 
and land supply. 

Statutory Powers

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Planning Act 2008

Localism Act 2011

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

95

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

Introduction

1. In accordance with the Council’s decision of 18 December 2014 and in 
response to the Planning Inspector’s preliminary conclusions on the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, work has commenced on preparing a new 
local plan for the period 2011 to 2036. 

2. This report provides members with a preliminary indication of the scale of 
housing development that may be required for the new Local Plan, on the 
basis of preliminary estimates of the borough’s future housing requirements 
and the potential supply of land. 

Background 

3. In support of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, a variety of 
evidence was collected and analysed on the housing requirements for 
Eastleigh Borough and the wider Southampton Housing Market Area. This 
evidence was summarised and reported in the Council’s Housing Background 
Paper of July 20141. Taking this evidence into account, it was proposed that a 
minimum of 10,140 new homes should be built between 2011 and 2029 in 
order to meet the housing market area’s housing requirements. However the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was subsequently found unsound 
following its examination by the Planning Inspector, Simon Emerson. The 
Inspector considered that the Local Plan had failed to provide for the full 
objectively assessed housing needs of the borough (further details of the 
Inspector’s Report are covered in a separate agenda item).

4. In response to the outcome of the examination, the Council is in the process 
of preparing a new local plan that will cover a longer time period (from 2011 to 
2036). This local plan will need to be informed and supported by a robust 
evidence base, including an objective assessment of the borough’s future 
housing requirement and a full update of the Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment. In particular, a new set of household projections with a base 
date of 2012 has just been released (February 2015) by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). These projections will need to 
be taken into consideration.

5. At this stage it is not possible to provide definitive conclusions on the 
borough’s future housing requirements. Further work is planned, to review the 
existing evidence in light of the 2012-based household projections and to 
investigate in detail the implications of the Planning Inspector’s findings. 
Physical and environmental constraints on accommodating development will 
need to be taken into account, as will the outcome of the Partnership for 
Urban South Hampshire’s update to the South Hampshire Strategy. The views 
of consultees, including the borough’s local communities, utility and 
infrastructure providers and the development industry will also be important.

Preliminary Indications of Future Housing Requirements

1 See: http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-H1_Housing_BP_July2014.pdf

96

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/PDF/ppi-H1_Housing_BP_July2014.pdf


Eastleigh Borough Council

6. The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that the 
starting point for determining an area’s housing requirements is the latest 
population and household projections produced by the Office for National 
Statistics and the DCLG. A number of further questions should then be 
considered to see if an adjustment to these projections is necessary to fully 
determine an area’s future housing requirements. These questions relate to 
the projected demographic impacts of economic growth (particularly 
associated with a change in job numbers); market signals on the balance 
between the demand for and the supply of dwellings; and the total 
requirement for affordable housing.

7. In the context of this guidance, a number of information resources can be 
used to inform and provide an early indication of the borough’s future housing 
requirements over the period 2011 to 2036. These include:

(a) The Partnership for Urban South Hampshire’s Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (the PUSH SHMA) (January 2014);

(b) The Planning Inspector’s Report on the Examination into Eastleigh 
Borough Council’s Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029.

8. The Council has raised a number of concerns relating to the Inspector’s 
Report (item b) in the above list) which question its consistency with national 
planning policy and guidance. A letter dated 13 January 2015 was sent to the 
Minister of State for Housing and Planning and a detailed response is 
currently awaited from the DCLG. As such, the Inspector’s findings are 
discussed below on the understanding that they provide just one interpretation 
of the borough’s future housing requirement, which will be appraised and 
superseded by further work to underpin the new Local Plan.

9. The PUSH SHMA provides estimates of the overall need for housing within 
the Portsmouth and Southampton Housing Market Areas between 2011 and 
2036. Results for individual local authority areas were also published in an 
appendix to the SHMA. Despite their limitations (which are discussed below) 
the SHMA results for Eastleigh Borough warrant attention in light of the 
Planning Inspector’s conclusions that the district-level figures provide a 
reasonable starting point for determining the borough’s housing requirement 
(see paragraph 13, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, 
February 2015). Accordingly, Table 1 (below) presents the SHMA’s range of 
estimates, based on different demographic and economic projection 
scenarios, for overall housing need within Eastleigh Borough.

97



Eastleigh Borough Council

Table 1: Estimates of housing need (2011-2036) for Eastleigh Borough from 
the PUSH SHMA (January 2014)

Name of projection 
scenario

Overall Housing 
Numbers (2011-
2036)

Housing Numbers 
per annum (2011-
2036)

PROJ 1 (Sub-
National Population 
Projections (SNPP))

11,839 474

PROJ 2 (SNPP 
adjusted for the 2011 
Census)

13,898 556

PROJ 3 (10-year 
migration trends)

11,795 472

PROJ 4 (5-year 
migration trends)

14,146 646

PROJ A (Jobs 
baseline)

16,159 646

PROJ B (Residents in 
employment)

16,756 670

PROJ X (Zero net 
migration)

4,777 191

PROJ Y (Zero 
employment growth)

5,914 237

PROJ Z (Past 
completions)

12,863 515

PROJ 2A (2008-
based headship)

16,937 677

PROJ 2 (Midpoint of 
2011-based and 
2008-based 
headship)

15,375 615

Source: Appendices U & V of the PUSH South Hampshire SHMA (January 2014)

10. The PUSH SHMA concluded that the scenario entitled: PROJ 2 (Midpoint of 
2011-based and 2008-based headship) was the most robust demographic-
based projection of future needs for the Southampton and Portsmouth 
Housing Market Areas. Subject to a consideration of physical and 
environmental constraints, Table 1 suggests that this could involve an overall 

98



Eastleigh Borough Council

housing requirement of 15,375 new dwellings (615 dwellings per annum) for 
Eastleigh Borough by 2036.

11. The DCLG has recently released a new set of 2012-based household 
projections for England. These projections suggest an increase of 12,762 
households within Eastleigh Borough between 2011 and 2036, based on past 
demographic change and rates of household formation. This is a lower figure 
of household growth than many of the scenarios in Table 1 and will require 
further investigation in preparing the evidence for the new Local Plan.

12. The Planning Inspector’s Report on the Examination into Eastleigh Borough 
Council’s Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 provides a further 
interpretation of what the borough’s future housing requirements could be. 
According to the Inspector, the starting point for the borough’s housing 
requirements (i.e. the evidence from demographic projections) indicates that 
as a minimum between 550 to 615 dwellings should be provided per annum 
(paragraph 25, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, February 
2015). This conclusion was reached on the basis of the PUSH SHMA 
conclusions and a further housing needs study by Justin Gardner Consulting, 
which was commissioned by the Council as part of the evidence base for the 
2011-2029 Local Plan2. 

13. The Council disputes the validity of the Planning Inspector’s conclusions on 
the borough’s housing requirement in terms of the PUSH SHMA. This is 
because the borough level figures do not relate to an entire housing market 
area in accordance with national policy and were noted to be less robust (see 
paragraph 1.25 of Appendix U to the PUSH SHMA). Notwithstanding these 
concerns, the Planning Inspector’s conclusions would suggest that the starting 
point for the borough’s overall housing requirement could be between 13,750 
and 15,375 dwellings over the period 2011-2036. 

14. In accordance with the PPG, this is only the Inspector’s recommended starting 
point for determining the borough’s housing requirement.  After hearing the 
evidence presented by the Council and by objectors to the Submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, the Inspector indicated that a 
further increase to the demographic-based projections could be justified as a 
result of:

 Market signals for Eastleigh Borough; 

 The affordable housing requirement for Eastleigh Borough;

 A shortfall in housing supply in the Southampton Housing Market Area 
between 2011 and 2026. 

15. The Inspector’s Report does not however include quantified overall 
conclusions on the borough’s housing requirements for the period 2011-2029. 
This is partly because the range of housing requirements that would result 

2 See: http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-H1A_JGC%20Study_Housing_need.pdf 

99

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/pdf/ppi-H1A_JGC%20Study_Housing_need.pdf


Eastleigh Borough Council

from an uplift to the demographic projections would need to be tested through 
Sustainability Appraisal to ensure that they would be capable of being 
delivered in a sustainable manner. However, the Inspector was also equivocal 
on the implications of market signals and did not offer any estimate of the 
increase in housing supply that would, in his opinion, enable the Council to 
take full account of the borough’s affordable housing requirement.

16. With regard to market signals, the Inspector suggested that the Council 
should explore an uplift to demographic projections that is compatible with the 
“modest” market pressure recognised by the SHMA. An increase of 10% was 
suggested as one option to be explored (paragraph 41, Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Inspector’s Report, February 2015), although this figure does not 
appear to be wholly justified by evidence and is still a matter for debate and 
further investigation. Nevertheless, if this 10% uplift were to be accepted for 
the new Local Plan, this would give a borough-wide housing requirement of 
between approximately 15,100 and 16,900 new dwellings (to the nearest 100 
dwellings, 2011-2036). The Inspector’s comments suggest that he considered 
a figure towards the upper end of the range would be the most robust 
approach for determining housing needs (paragraph 25, Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Inspector’s Report, February 2015).

17. Further work now needs to be undertaken to consider in more detail the 
remaining implications of the Inspector’s Report concerning affordable 
housing, the 2012-based household projections from the DCLG and other 
relevant evidence on the borough’s future housing requirements. The results 
of this work will be reported to a future Cabinet meeting and will need to be 
tested through  Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations Assessment 
and Transport Assessment processes. They will also inform discussions with 
other local authorities in south Hampshire as part of the Council’s duty to co-
operate on planning issues such as housing provision. At this stage, the 
overall figure for the borough’s future housing requirements could be greater 
or less than 16,900 new dwellings in the period 2011-2036.

Preliminary Indications of Future Land Supply

18. The Council’s SLAA is prepared in order to assess and identify a future supply 
of land which is both deliverable and developable. It was last updated in July 
2014 to support the submitted 2011-2029 Local Plan. A full review of the 
SLAA will need to be undertaken in due course to inform the preparation of 
the new 2011-2036 Local Plan. In advance of this review, the Council has re-
considered the housing potential and capacity in the urban areas of the 
borough. Greenfield sites will only be re-considered as part of the full SLAA 
review. In the meantime, ahead of this full review the estimated capacity of 
greenfield sites from the July 2014 version of the SLAA has been used in this 
report.

19. The Inspector’s report stated that the SLAA appears to have been 
comprehensive in its approach to identifying potential sites. However he also 
found the Council’s approach to be unjustified in relation to its assessment of 
certain sources of supply. (paragraphs 59-82, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Inspector’s Report, February 2015).

100



Eastleigh Borough Council

20. In relation to urban supply the Inspector considered the approach of the SLAA 
unjustified in some areas. He thought the allowance for residential 
development in Eastleigh town centre and Hedge End, West End and Fair 
Oak district centres focused on physical capacity rather than providing 
evidence of the reasonable prospects of deliverability (paragraph 61, 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, February 2015).

21. He also identified a minor inaccuracy between the threshold set for site 
assessment and the unidentified small site allowance which should be 
corrected (paragraph 62, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, 
February 2015).

22. Finally he commented on the Council’s approach to including an allowance for 
unidentified (windfall) sites. Whilst he found the Council’s approach in years 3-
5 justified, he had concerns relating to this allowance from year 6 onwards.  
He suggested that the discount applied should be increased from 10% to 25% 
for year 6 onwards to allow for uncertainty of small sites continuing to come 
forward (paragraph 63, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, 
February 2015). Further, to accord with national policy, garden land should 
also be excluded from this source of supply (paragraph 64, Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Inspector’s Report, February 2015).

23. By taking account of the Inspector’s conclusions above, the supply position in 
urban areas has been recalculated. It’s important to note that this re-
calculation only represents an indicative positon. Further work to assess 
residential capacity alongside the Council’s aspirations for Eastleigh town 
centre and the district centres will need to be undertaken, along with 
consideration of trends to ensure the small site allowance can continue to be 
justified. It is also important to note that a full review of the SLAA will shortly 
commence, including an assessment of greenfield sites. 

Preliminary implications for 2011-2036 Local Plan 

24. By comparing the early indications of the borough’s future housing 
requirements for 2011-2036 to the interim update of the Council’s urban 
capacity (see Appendix 1) and the previous estimates of greenfield capacity in 
the 2014 SLAA, an indication of the requirement for additional development 
sites can be ascertained. For the purposes of providing an interim calculation, 
it has been assumed that all of those sites already identified in the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011; through planning 
permissions; and other sites with recognised development potential, along 
with all of the allocations of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 form 
part of the housing land supply. The July 2014 estimates of greenfield 
capacity will be updated in a full review of the SLAA. 

25. The interim update of urban capacity in Appendix 1 has estimated that the 
borough’s urban areas could accommodate around 4,400 new dwellings over 
the period 2011-2036. Previous estimates of greenfield capacity have been 
used to identify a supply of a further 5,901 new dwellings (2011-2029). In 
comparison with a preliminary future requirement of up to16,900 new 
dwellings, this means that sites may need to be identified within the new local 

101



Eastleigh Borough Council

plan 2011-2036 to accommodate approximately 6,600 new dwellings. This 
requirement may change, given the potential for additional requirements to 
fully recognise the borough’s affordable housing needs, address market 
signals and to meet some of the shortfall in housing land supply to 2026 
across the Southampton Housing Market Area.

Financial Implications

26. None arising from this report.

Risk Assessment

27. If the Council does not have a robust assessment of the borough’s housing 
requirements, or has not identified a supply of land that is suitable, available 
and achievable to meet these requirements, there is a high risk that the Local 
Plan would be found unsound and could not progress to adoption. Preliminary 
estimates of the borough’s future housing requirements and land supply 
provide a starting point for a more detailed work and a robust assessment.

Equality and Diversity Implications

28. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

29. For the reasons given in this report, the borough’s future housing 
requirements to 2036 cannot be fully determined at this stage. However, 
preliminary indications are that up to 16,900 dwellings may be required. More 
detailed appraisals of the existing and emerging evidence will now be 
undertaken and will be reported to a future Cabinet meeting. It is anticipated 
that the outcomes of these appraisals will be available for reporting to Cabinet 
in June 2015.  

30. At this early stage in the plan-making process, initial assessments of the 
future supply of housing land within the borough which is both deliverable and 
developable suggest that there is capacity in the borough’s urban areas and 
on committed greenfield sites for approximately 10,300 dwellings in the period 
2011-2036. By comparing this to the indicative requirement of around 16,900 
additional dwellings, it appears that additional development sites will need to 
be identified by the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036. New greenfield 
sites may need to be identified to accommodate at least 6,600 new dwellings, 
as an approximate estimate. It is important to emphasise that this is only an 
early indicative estimate and is subject to more detailed assessments. 

31. Further work on the new Local Plan will provide certainty on both the extent of 
the borough’s future housing requirements and the potential supply of housing 
land within the borough. A full review of the Council’s SLAA will be necessary 
in order to identify strategic options for public consultation. In the meantime, 

102



Eastleigh Borough Council

the potentially significant additional needs arising will require the Council to 
engage with developers, land owners and the local community at the earliest 
opportunity.

PAUL RAMSHAW
HEAD OF REGENERATION & PLANNING POLICY

Date: 26 March 2015
Contact Officer: Kevin Thurlow
Tel No: 023 8068 8240
e-mail: kevin.thurlow@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1
Report No PP000153

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (Final Report), 
Partnership for Urban South Hampshire, January 2014

Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) (Background Paper G4), Eastleigh 
Borough Council, July 2014

103



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Strategic Land Availability Assessment 

Interim Urban Capacity Update (base date of data remains 31 
March 2014)

1.  Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA)

1.1 The purpose of the Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) is to 
identify a future supply of land which is deliverable and developable for 
housing and economic development over the plan period of the Local 
Plan.  The requirement to prepare an assessment is set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the methodology is 
set out in the Planning Policy Guidance (PPG).  

1.2 The SLAA was last updated in July 2014 with a 31 March 2014 base 
date. It formedpart of the evidence base to support the submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 (background paper G4). The 
assessment will need to be reviewed over the coming months to 
provide the evidence base for the new Local Plan (2011-2036) which is 
now being prepared. 

1.3 The SLAA begins by seeking to identify specific deliverable and 
developable sites within existing built up areas. An allowance is also 
made for broad locations within these built up areas where it is 
anticipated additional development could come forward but where 
specific sites cannot currently be identified. Once the capacity of urban 
areas has been considered, an assessment of the potential greenfield 
sites to accommodate the borough’s development needs is also 
undertaken. The SLAA (July 2014) can be found here: 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-
documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx

1.4 This paper focuses exclusively on re-considering the housing potential 
in urban areas as an interim update. Its scope is limited to urban 
capacity, greenfield sites have not been assessed. A full update of the 
SLAA will be undertaken in due course to inform the preparation of the 
new Local Plan (2011-2036). This full review will consider urban 
capacity in further detail along with potential greenfield sites. The 
conclusions set out in the Inspector’s final report on the Local Plan 
2011-2029 have been taken into account, along with a roll forward of 
the plan period to 2036 in this interim urban capacity update.  

2. Housing potential in existing urban areas

2.1 The assessment of housing potential in existing urban areas was 
covered in chapter 4 of the SLAA (pages 12 to 29). This chapter splits 

1
105

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning--building-control/published-documents/ldf-evidence/slaa.aspx


the potential supply components into five different categories which are 
considered in turn below: 

A - Completions 

2.2 Housing completions cover the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2014; 
as shown in the table below. These completions will be updated to 31 
March 2015 in the preparation of the new SLAA. No interim completions 
data has been included at this stage to allow for comparison with the 
SLAA as previously prepared. Technically both greenfield and urban 
sites are included in this section to give a picture of overall completions.  

B - Commitments 

2.3 This category includes: small and large sites with planning permission 
and sites with resolutions to grant planning permission, where the sites 
are allocated in the adopted Local Plan or are in urban areas. This data 
has a 31 March 2014 base date.  It will also be updated to 31 March 
2015 in preparation of the new SLAA.  This section does not include 
permissions or resolutions to grant permission on the proposed 
allocations contained in the Local Plan 2011-2029 as they fall under 
chapter 7 of the SLAA where the potential of greenfield sites is 
assessed (see paragraph 3.2 below).   

C- Local Plan Review sites without planning permission or resolution to 
permit

2.4 The only remaining allocation without planning permission is Scotland 
Close, Fair Oak (policy 88.H); it is not considered appropriate to 
continue to identify this site for a certain number of dwellings given the 
uncertainty about land contamination and the potential for it to be 
developed for other uses. 

2.5 In addition to allocations, the Local Plan Review (2001-2011) also 
identified four brownfield opportunity sites which could come forward 
within the defined urban areas. Two of these sites remain without 
permission: Nuttall’s Yard, which is no longer included in the potential 
land supply for the borough due to uncertainty about its delivery; and 
Central Precinct, Chandlers Ford (87 net additional dwellings). Planning 
permission has been granted for part of the site identified at Toynbee 
Road, Eastleigh for 120 dwellings; the remainder (71 dwellings) is likely 
to come forward later in the plan period. 

D - Newly identified sites1

Previous planning history:

1 At July 2014 when the SLAA was last published.

2
106



2.6 This category includes sites where there is a previous planning history. 
At 31 March 2014 there was one site where a revised application to 
address the reasons for refusal has yet to be received. This is 11-17 
Shamblehurst Lane, Hedge End (10 dwellings). 

2.7 Officers have not been able to assess whether or not there are any 
other sites which fall into this category at this stage. Any update will be 
reported in the publication of the SLAA later this year. 

Land currently in employment use:

2.8 The SLAA identified three sites currently in employment use which 
could be developed for housing. One of these sites the Civic Offices 
and former Magistrates’ Court, Eastleigh now has a prior approval for 
residential development. That leaves two sites previously identified 
within this category: land at Common Rd Industrial Estate, Chandlers 
Ford (30 dwellings);  and Depot south of Botley Rd, West End (90 
dwellings) 

2.9 Officers have not been able to assess whether or not there are any 
other sites which fall into this category at this stage. Any update will be 
reported in the publication of the SLAA later this year. 

Sites received in call for sites:

2.10 Given that the original call for sites took place a number of years ago 
(2008), it will be important to engage with the landowners and site 
promoters again in preparing the new SLAA over the coming months. 

2.11 One site remains from the original call for sites exercise: Moorgreen 
Hospital West End (110 dwellings). Discussions are at an advanced 
stage with the site promoters.  

Sites identified by Borough Council Officers: 

2.12 Given that the site survey was undertaken in 2008, it will be necessary 
to undertake this exercise again to inform the preparation of the new 
SLAA over the coming months.
  

2.13 The SLAA identified sites to accommodate 23 dwellings in years 6-10 
and 368 dwellings in years 11-17. A discount of 40% was applied to the 
11-17 year total yield as there was a degree of uncertainty about the 
timescales for their development.

2.14 The Inspector identified an inaccuracy between the threshold set for 
site assessment (0.2ha) and the allowance made for dwellings coming 
forward on small sites (windfall). This was because there was potential 
for an overlap where sites have been identified which are above 0.2 ha 
in size, but anticipated to deliver less than 10 dwellings. He suggests 
that this inaccuracy should be corrected by removing the sites with net 

3
107



potential for less than 10 dwellings from this source of supply. This 
result is a reduction to the number of dwellings falling into this category 
from 368 to 334 dwellings for years 11-17 (223 to 202 dwellings after 
40% discount has been applied).

2.15 This gives an overall total of 225 dwellings anticipated to come forward 
from sites identified by officers in site surveys. 

E - Broad areas 

2.16  The SLAA makes an allowance for broad areas within existing 
settlements. This broad area allowance is made up of small sites 
coming forward in urban areas, the potential for development within 
Eastleigh town centre, Eastleigh Riverside and in Hedge End, Fair Oak 
and West End centres. 

Eastleigh Riverside:
  

2.17 Whilst Eastleigh Riverside is seen principally as an employment 
regeneration area, previous assessment suggests there is residential 
potential for 200 dwellings for the period to 2029. 

Eastleigh Town Centre:

2.18 Work previously undertaken on the residential capacity of Eastleigh 
town centre concluded that 300 dwellings was a reasonable and 
conservative estimate.

2.19 The Inspector was of the view that the only evidence of reasonable 
prospects of delivery would be from those sites in the Council’s 
ownership (or intended acquisition) given the Council’s commitment to 
change the town centre (paragraph 60, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Inspector’s Report, February 2015). He was of the view that the supply 
should be amended from 300 dwellings to 137 dwellings to reflect those 
sites which the Council owns.   

2.20 The Council’s commitment to regenerating the town centre should be 
noted, however further evidence to ascertain the likely residential 
capacity will need to be undertaken to update the SLAA in full.

Fair Oak centre, Hedge End centre & West End centre:

2.21 The SLAA considered the comprehensive redevelopment of these 
centres with residential elements alongside retail. The Inspector 
concluded that the assessment of these centres had been too focused 
on physical capacity without providing evidence of reasonable 
prospects (paragraph 61, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s 
Report, February 2015). He suggested that land assembly could make 
delivery uncertain. He concluded that the discount on delivery should 

4
108



be increased from 25% to 50%. Supply from these sources therefore 
falls from 226 to 148 dwellings. 

2.22 The Council will need to re-consider and comprehensively assess the 
residential capacity of these areas as part of its work on a review of the 
SLAA, to inform the new local plan and ascertain whether there are 
realistic prospects of delivery in these areas.

Small housing sites within existing built up areas:

2.23 The SLAA provided for an allowance for small sites not specifically 
identified to come forward (windfalls). This was based on the average 
number of completions from this source historically with a 10% discount 
applied. 

2.24 . The Inspector was of the view that the small site allowance from year 
6 onwards should also be recalculated to ensure that garden land is not 
included in this allowance (paragraph 65).

2.25 The Inspector was also of the view that the discount should be 
increased from 10% to 25% from year 6 onwards, to reflect the 
uncertainty that there may be fewer sites from this source in the future 
(paragraph 63, Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Inspector’s Report, 
February 2015).

2.26 This would reduce the supply from this source from 826 to 656 
dwellings to 2029. 

Update to table 4.13 of the SLAA: Capacity of sites in urban areas – 
interim figures (31 March 2014)

April 1 
2011- 
March 
31 
20142

April 1 
2014 -
March 
31 
2019

April 1 
2019- 
March 
31 
2024

April 1 
2024-
March 
31 
2029 

April 
1 
2029-
March 
31 
2036

Totals

A. Completions
Completions March 
2011-April 12

402 402

Completions March 
2012-April 13

275 275

Completions March 
2013-April 14

394 394

Completions total 1,071 1,071
B. Commitments
Small sites with planning 0 159 0 0 0 159

2 Unlike the five year housing land supply position doesn’t include interim completion data to 
December 2014 in order to remain consistent with previous SLAA assessment.  

5
109



permission
Large allocations of 
adopted Local Plan 
Review with planning 
permission 

0 453 0 0 0 453

Large unallocated sites 
with planning permission 

0 500 0 0 0 500

RSL renewal programme 0 -17 0 0 0 -17
Large allocations of 
adopted Local Plan 
Review with resolution to 
permit

0 94 0 0 0 94

Large unallocated sites 
with a resolution to permit 

0 0 0 0 0 0

Commitments Total 0 1,189 0 0 0 1,189
C. Local Plan Review sites without planning permission or resolution to 
permit
Adopted Local Plan 
Review Allocations 
without planning 
permission

0 0 0 0 0 0

Adopted Local Plan 
Review ‘brownfield 
opportunity sites’ without 
planning permission

0 0 71 87 0 158 

Adopted Local Plan 
Review sites without 
planning permission 
Total

0 0 71 87 0 158 

D. Newly identified sites
Sites with a planning 
history with future 
potential

0 0 10 0 0 10

Existing employment 
sites with residential 
potential

0 0 120 0 0 120

Sites received during call 
for sites

0 110 0 0 0 110

Sites identified by EBC 
officers

0 0 23 202 0 225

New Sites Total 0 110 153 202 0 465
E. Broad areas
Eastleigh Riverside 0 0 83 117 0 200
Eastleigh Town Centre 0 0 80 57 0 137
Fair Oak Village Centre 0 0 0 23 0 23
Hedge End District 
Centre

0 0 40 43 0 83

West End Village Centre 0 0 20 22 0 42
Small sites within the 0 126 265 265 371 1,027

6
110



urban edge
Broad Locations Total 0 126 488 527 371 1,512
Overall total 4,395

    
3 Conclusion

3.1 The table above identifies the potential of the borough’s urban areas to 
accommodate 4,395 dwellings over the period 2011-2036. This figure 
only represents a starting point. A more detailed assessment of the 
urban areas needs to be undertaken as part of the review of the SLAA. 

3.2 Chapter 7 of the SLAA (July 2014) assessed the potential of greenfield 
sites, the findings concluded that through the emerging Local Plan 
2011-2029 new greenfield allocations had been identified capable of 
accommodating 5,901 dwellings. Some of these proposed allocations 
now have planning permission or are subject to resolutions to permit. 
The potential for greenfield sites to accommodate housing 
development has not been re-considered at this stage, this assessment 
will form part of the full SLAA review.   

3.3 Taken together the overall interim total supply is 10,296 dwellings for 
the period 2011-2036. This figure is only a starting point for further 
more detailed assessment.  

7
111



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET

Thursday 9 April 2015

Eastleigh Borough Travelling Communities DPD:

Representations on the draft Travelling Communities DPD and next 
steps

Report of the Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy 

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

i. careful consideration is given to the representations received on the draft of the 
Eastleigh Borough Travelling Communities Development Plan Document which 
are set out in a summary form in the schedule at Appendix 1 to this report;  

ii. the officer comments on those representations, as also set out in the schedule, 
are noted and used to further develop the strategy and policies for meeting the 
needs of travelling communities; and 

iii. work ceases on preparing a separate Travelling Communities DPD, with the 
evidence gathered from this consultation and further work to meet travelling 
communities needs being taken forward within the new Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2011-2036; 

Summary

This report draws attention to the most significant issues raised in the representations 
received in response to the recent consultation on the draft Eastleigh Borough Travelling 
Communities Development Plan Document published in December 2014.  A schedule 
setting out all the representations received on the draft DPD is appended to this report in 
Appendix 1. Officer comments on the representations are also set out in the schedule. The 
outcomes of this consultation will inform the preparation of the new Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan 2011-2036.

Statutory Powers
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
Localism Act 2011
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

113

Agenda Item 8



2

Introduction

1. The purpose of this report is to present all the representations received on 
the Draft Travelling Communities DPD together with officer comments to 
those representations. It is proposed that work to meet the needs of 
travelling communities is continued in preparation of the new Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2036, informed by the evidence gathered from 
the recent consultation. 

Consultation

2. The Draft Eastleigh Borough Council Travelling Communities Development 
Plan Document consultation ran from Monday 1st December 2014 to 
Monday 2nd February 2015. Details of the consultation programme, 
including the dates of the public exhibitions, were publicised in the Borough 
News, by press release and by posters and leaflets made available to local 
libraries and parish and town council offices. Site notices were also 
displayed at the sites proposed to be allocated for development. 

3. A total of approximately 210 visitors to the exhibitions were recorded. A 
total of 124 individual representations from 108 respondents were received 
by the close of the consultation period. 

Representations on the draft Travelling Communities DPD

4. A schedule summarising all the representations received on the Draft 
Travelling Communities DPD is at Appendix 1 to this report. The schedule 
includes  officer comments on these representations.

5. The most significant issues raised in the representations on the Draft 
Travelling Communities DPD are as follows:

 General objections to principle of allocating sites

 Concerns raised regarding the identified preferred spatial strategy, in 
particular the proposed allocation of existing unauthorised sites

 Concerns about the suitability of the proposed site allocations, most 
notably:

- Land at Cockpit Farm, Horton Heath (policy TC9). Members should 
be aware that the site has been withdrawn by the landowners.  

- Land at the junction of Botley Road and Bursledon Road, 
Southampton (policy TC11). Objections are primarily from nearby 
residents; and

- Land at Kestrel Farmhouse, Grange Road, Netley (policy TC12). 
Objections are primarily from the existing community in the area. 

114



3

Proposed Responses 

6. The schedule of representations at Appendix 1 to this report includes officer 
comments on all of the representations received. 

Next Steps

7. Preparation of a new Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036 provides an 
opportunity for the needs of travelling communities, and associated site 
allocations, to be considered and developed alongside the needs of other 
communities’. Addressing communities’ needs together in a single 
document is consistent with Public Sector Equality Duty and will support 
development of a Plan to address sustainable development needs of the 
borough up to 2036.  Whilst this will delay adoption of planning policy 
document for addressing the needs of travelling communities, progressing 
this DPD in isolation is not considered to be a prudent use of resources, or 
in the best interests of planning for sustainable development of the 
borough. 

Financial Implications

8. Continuing to progress a separate Travelling Communities DPD would 
require consultation on a pre-submission version of the document and then 
examination by a Planning Inspector. These processes would result in 
additional costs to the Council compared to the alternative of incorporating 
the policies and site allocations into the Local Plan 2011-2036. As such, the 
cost to the Council would be reduced in progressing site allocations to meet 
the needs of the travelling communities. 

Risk Assessment

9. In order to minimise the risk of any legal challenge to the process adopted 
by the Council for the preparation of the Travelling Communities DPD, 
members should take into account all of the representations on the draft 
document, and all other material considerations in agreeing how the needs 
of travelling communities will be addressed in future policy documents. 

10. Members should also consider that not proceeding with the DPD will delay 
having an adopted planning document to address the needs of travelling 
communities. Nevertheless, proceeding with the DPD in isolation of the 
Local Plan risks failing to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty. The 
needs of travelling communities would be incorporated into the Equalities 
Impact Assessment of the new Local Plan 2011-2036. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

11. An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken on the Travelling 
Communities DPD. There were no issues arising from the assessment. The 
risk assessment has highlighted the equality and diversity implications of 
proceeding or not with the DPD (see paragraph 10 above).  

115



4

Conclusions

12. This report and its appendix present for members, in summary form, all of 
the representations received in respect of the draft Travelling Communities 
DPD and officer comments to those representations. It is recommended 
that members note these comments and that, in the best interests of 
sustainable development, work to meet the needs of the travelling 
communities is continued in preparation of the Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2011-2036. Evidence gathered as part of the recent consultation will 
be used to inform this future work.

PAUL RAMSHAW
Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy

Date: 09 April 2015
Contact Officer: Katharine Stuart
Tel No: 023 8068 3893
e-mail: Katharine.stuart@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1
Report No: PP000154

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information:

None

116



APPENDIX 1

Draft Eastleigh Borough Travelling Communities Development Plan Document 

Representations and proposed responses 

117



Policy/paragraph 
number

Representation 
number

Representations summary  Officer comment

Principle of 
allocating sites

Comment: 2195 (Fair 
Oak and Horton 
Heath Parish Council)

Designation of travellers sites could encourage other travellers to the 
area and locate on land abutting the sites

Council has responsibility to 
plan to meet the OAN of the 
travelling communities. Many 
of the proposed allocations 
relate to sites which have 
been occupied for some time. 
There is very little evidence 
to suggest that these sites 
have led to other travelling 
community co-locating.

Proposed change: none
Principle of 
allocating sites

Object: 4655 Objects to the principle of Council providing sites for the travelling 
communities. If required by law, sites should be basic with proper 
refuse disposal facilities

The Council is not proposing 
to give sites to, or manage 
sites for, the travelling 
communities. Sites which 
progress through to 
allocations in an adopted 
Plan would be likely to be 
purchased by 
Individual families to meet 
their needs.

Proposed change: none
1.15 Support: 6868 (Test 

Valley Borough 
Council)

Support para 1.15 with respect to Duty to Co-operate Noted

Vision and 
objectives

Support: 102 
(Bursledon Parish 
Council)

Vision and objectives are supported Noted

118



3.2 Object: 6856 Lack of clear definition of pitch and plot size. Each site should have 
a proposed plan that must be approved.

There is limited guidance 
available on this matter, as 
para. 1.5 of the draft DPD 
recognises. Appendix B of 
the DPD sets out the criteria 
used for site requirements 
and policy TC2 requires that 
all sites proposed to be 
allocated in the DPD have a 
management plan agreed by 
the local planning authority. 
Allocation of sites in the DPD 
does not constitute planning 
permission, and a planning 
application would still be 
required, accompanied with 
details including the layout of 
the site, before development 
would be permitted. 

Proposed change: none
3.8 Object: 6857 Objection on grounds of:

- what would stop the traveller community from expanding in the 
site?
- value of property would decrease
- increase in crime
- capacity of doctors facilities
- Consultation not sufficiently publicise

Site has been withdrawn 
from further consideration by 
the landowner.
Proposed change: omit site 
from further consideration

3.10 Object: 6755 The site at Netley Firs is on the open market and there is no 
certainty the allocation will therefore be deliverable. Likely only if the 
Council were to purchase the site. The allocation of this site is 

Disagree. Whether the site is 
in public or private ownership 
is not of significant relevance. 

119



unsound whilst the land is within private ownership. The Council will continue to 
discuss the merits of this site 
in the preparation of a new 
local plan for the period 
2011-2036. 

Proposed change: none
3.11 Object: 6867 ORS study says the need can be met in south Hampshire, and does 

not have to be in Southampton/Eastleigh. Also applies to table 1. 
Agreed. Proposed change: 
Policy will be drafted to 
revise accordingly.

4.2 (strategy) Comment: 102 
(Bursledon Parish 
Council)

Comment: 2195 (Fair 
Oak and Horton 
Heath Parish Council)

Unsure how much new provision will be made given the proposed 
strategy which focuses on regularising existing sites

Concerned that sites mentioned in the parish are already occupied 
by permanent residents and therefore not available for 'travellers'

Regularising existing 
unauthorised sites which are 
considered to be suitable for 
permanent provision would 
make a significant 
contribution to meet the 
needs of the exiting travelling 
communities in Eastleigh 
Borough who are seeking 
authorised and permanent 
accommodation. 

The Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites (2012) says 
that ‘for the purposes of this 
planning policy “gypsies and 
travellers” means: Persons of 
nomadic habit of life 
whatever their race or origin, 
including such persons on 

120



grounds only of their own or 
their family’s or dependants’ 
educations or health needs 
or old age have ceased to 
travel temporarily or 
permanently’. 

Proposed change: none
4.3(iii) Object: 6755 The site at Netley Firs is on the open market and there is no 

certainty the allocation will therefore be deliverable. Likely only if the 
Council were to purchase the site. The allocation of this site is 
unsound whilst the land is within private ownership.

See response to paragraph 
3.10, ID 6755, above. 

Proposed change: none

TC1 Support: 102 
(Bursledon Parish 
Council)

Supports regularising and safeguarding set out in this policy Noted

TC2 Support: 102 
(Bursledon Parish 
Council), 5563 
(English Heritage)

General support for the policy including:
- Supports good design and conditions compliance in this 

policy
- Criterion ii. for its reference to the character and appearance 

of the wider area

Noted

TC2 Object (and 
comment): 6867 
(Southampton City 
Council)

Should not refer to ‘a minimum of 7 plots’ (also applies to para 1.13, 
table 1, para 3.10, 4.5)
Criterion ii. should also consider amenity of adjoining occupiers and 
also landscaping
Criterion iv. supported but only covers management issues

Agreed. Proposed change: 
Policy will be drafted to take 
into account the changes 
proposed in this 
representation.

TC2 Object: 6591 
(Environment 
Agency)

No specific consideration given to disposal of foul drainage for these 
sites

Agreed. 

Proposed change: Policy 
will be drafted to take into 
account disposal of foul 

121



drainage. 
TC4, Tansfield 
Stud

Object: 102 
(Bursledon Parish 
Council)

Objection on grounds of:
- Proximity to PRoW, conflict with pedestrians, horses and 

vehicles
- Impact on local gap and countryside

Disagree. The site is 
relatively well screened from 
views from the public rights 
of way network. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that there 
would be moderate impacts 
on highway generation, gap 
and countryside, this has to 
be balanced against the need 
to identify sufficient sites to 
meet travelling community 
needs.

Proposed change: none

TC6, Woodleigh, 
Windmill Lane 

Support: 5563 
(English Heritage)

Supports Policy TC6 for its recognition that the need to meet the 
needs of travelling communities should not result in unacceptable 
impacts on the natural and historic environment.

Noted

5.3 Comment: 2195 (Fair 
Oak and Horton 
Heath Parish Council)

Concerned that sites mentioned in the parish are already occupied 
by permanent residents and therefore not available for 'travellers'.  
These four sites would not make a meaningful contribution in finding 
sites for travelling communities.

Please see 4.2 (strategy)

Proposed change: none

TC7, Hillview 
Caravan Park

Object: 6765, 6801, 
6802, 

Inappropriate for residents and the surrounding community and lack 
of facilities and infrastructure. Other sites should be considered 
instead. Directed to CLG Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 2012, 
Policy H, highlighting 'local planning authorities should ensure that 
sites in rural areas respect the scale of and do not dominate the 
nearest settled community'.

The draft DPD proposed an 
allocation for a single pitch 
for a gypsy or traveller family. 
This is considered to be of an 
acceptable scale. No suitable 
alternative sites have been 
identified which could 

122



address this need.

An appeal regarding a 
certificate of lawful use 
application for stationing of a 
mobile home for residential 
purposes  was allowed on  
24th March 2015 
(APP/W1715/X/14/2221824)

Proposed change: 
proposed allocation deleted 

TC8, Homeleigh Object: 6591 
(Environment 
Agency)

The site at Homeleigh lies within flood zone 3 according to the EA 
Flood Map for Planning. A sequential approach should be taken. The 
pitch should be allocated to the southern part of the site where it 
would be at lower risk. Occupants should sign up to the EA Flood 
Warning Service.

Acknowledged. This matter 
will be addressed in the next 
iteration of this policy. 

Proposed change: Policy 
will be drafted to take into 
account of flood risk. 

TC9, Cockpit 
Farm

Object: 4117, 6857, 
6862, 

Objections to the proposed allocation, including a range of the 
following points:

- The site would not relate effectively to existing development, 
contrary to the requirements of the Urban Character Area 
Appraisal for the area.

- Concern that the community would expand beyond the 
proposed site boundaries

- Increase in crime and disturbance
- Capacity of facilities
- Site is not suitable and access are not suitable
- No local need in the immediate area for pitches

Site has been withdrawn by 
the landowner. 

123



- Private land should not form part of the Council's proposals 
prior to contact with the landowner

Objectors also raised concerns that they were not properly notified 
about the consultation and associated events. There were also 
concerns that the Council intends to make compulsory purchase of 
the site. 

5.4.1 Object: 6755 The site at Netley Firs is on the open market and there is no 
certainty the allocation will therefore be deliverable. Likely only if the 
Council were to purchase the site. The allocation of this site is 
unsound whilst the land is within private ownership.

See response to paragraph 
3.10, ID 6755, above.

TC11, Botley 
Road

Object: 3873, 6761 
(petition), 6767, 6769, 
6770, 6771, 6772, 
6773, 6776, 6777, 
6779, 6780, 6781, 
6782, 6783, 6784, 
6785, 6787, 6788, 
6789, 6790, 6791, 
6792, 6793, 6794, 
6796, 6797, 6799, 
6803, 6804, 6806, 
6807, 6808, 6809, 
6810, 6811, 6813, 
6815, 6816, 6817, 
6818, 6819, 6820, 
6821, 6822, 6823, 
6824, 6825, 6826, 
6827, 6828, 6829, 
6830, 6831, 6832, 

Objection on grounds of:
Access and road safety 

 Access to the site is at the Bursledon Road and Botley Road 
junction. The junction is very busy, with poor visibility. Not 
suitable for the scale of vehicles accessing the site.

 Accessed through land in Southampton City Council

Disturbance 
 Proximity to residential properties (6867 Southampton City 

Council and others) 
 Noise from activity on site
 Concerns regarding privacy of residents

Appearance 
 proposed development would have adverse impact on the 

character of the area, the fields are an important feature
 Visual impact of accommodation and storage of large 

vehicles.

Access
Paragraphs 5.5.2 and 5.5.3 
acknowledge that potential 
access from Botley Road to 
the site is a matter for 
decision-takers at 
Southampton City Council 
and that alternatives would 
be considered in Eastleigh 
Borough. 

Disturbance
Policy TC2(iv.) of the DPD 
requires a management plan 
to be agreed by the local 
planning authority setting out 
how the site will be managed 
to protect the amenity of 
adjoining occupiers and the 

124



6833, 6834, 6835, 
6836, 6837, 6840, 
6841, 6842, 6843, 
6844, 6845, 6846, 
6847, 6848, 6849, 
6850, 6851, 6852, 
6853, 6861, 6863, 
6864, 6865, 6866, 
6867 (Southampton 
City Council), 6869, 
6870, 6871, 6872, 
6873, 

 Inadequate screening of activity.

Strategic gap 
 Limitations on development
 Located in a narrow and sensitive part of the Southampton-

Bursledon strategic gap (6867 Southampton City Council and 
others)

Environment 
 Concern regarding potential damage to trees with TPO and 

valuable hedgerows and the resulting impact on wildlife

Alternative sites
 Netley Firs is more appropriate a site and is sufficiently large 

to meet the identified need (6867 Southampton City Council)

Other matters
 Site has been opposed at all prior planning applications and 

the illegal occupation of the site is causing significant tension 
and distrust. 

 Use of the site has effectively changed before permission 
has been sought 

 There have been three separate incidents of criminal activity 
at Kanes Hill Caravan Site (500yds from the proposed site) in 
one month. Putting more travellers in this location has the 
potential to create more trouble.

 Not confident that limit of two plots would be adhered to.
 Illegal occupation, should be prevented not encourage

wider area. 

Appearance 
As above. 

Strategic gap
Policy TC11(i) of the DPD 
requires a 15m wide 
landscape buffer along the 
south-eastern boundary of 
the site in order to mitigate 
the impact on the gap 
between Bursledon and 
Southampton. 

Environment
Please see response for 
‘disturbance’ above. 

Alternative sites
The Council is continuing to 
explore the potential for the 
Netley Firs site to meet some 
of the travelling people’s 
needs. However, there 
remains uncertainty about 
the deliverability of the site 
and the identification of only 
one site does not provide for 
any choice or flexibility of 
accommodation for travelling 

125



A petition opposing the use of the site for travelling showpeople plots 
was submitted with a total of 66 signatures. 

showpeople. With a longer 
plan period (up to 2036), the 
overall needs for travelling 
showpeople may also 
increase over and above the 
7 plots currently needed. 
Other sites will continue to be 
investigated in the 
preparation of a new Local 
Plan.

Other matters
The views of the local 
community are a material 
planning consideration which 
would need to be taken into 
account in the determination 
of any future planning 
application. It is recognised 
that the site is currently being 
occupied without planning 
permission. However 
planning law is clear that this 
fact can neither be an 
advantage or disadvantage in 
determining a planning 
application. There is no 
evidence that the creation of 
a travelling showpersons site 
in this location would lead to 
increased risk of criminal 

126



activity. 

Proposed change: none
TC12, Grange 
Road

Object: 6466, 6778, 
6838, 6839, 

There is an existing community of travellers on Grange Road. There 
is concern that not all types of travellers are happy to mix. The 
current community are happy with the way things are now.  No 
additional provision should be made because of the negative effects 
this would have on the existing community.

The proposed allocation of 
sites across the borough 
provides for current unmet 
needs and anticipated future 
needs e.g. formation of 
households from existing 
families. The Council has a 
responsibility to meet the 
objectively assessed housing 
needs of travelling 
communities and therefore 
this site has been identified.  

Proposed change: none
Whole document 5574 (Office of Rail 

Regulation), 6246 
(Highways Agency), 
6251 (Natural 
England), 6760 
(Marine Management 
Organisation), 6859 
(Winchester City 
Council)

No objection Noted

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

THURSDAY 9 APRIL 2015

FLEMING PARK LEISURE CENTRE REDEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT

Report of the Corporate Director

IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT CABINET:

(1) approve continuing work on the procurement of the construction 
contractor for the Fleming Park project.

(2) note this report, including progress to date and the future 
programme for the project.

SUMMARY 

This report outlines the progress made for the redevelopment of Fleming Park 
Leisure Centre including the proposed design of the centre through our 
architects (AHR), submission of the planning application, the feedback to date 
from the user group consultative meetings and public exhibition.

There is also reference to the procurement route and the future anticipated 
timetable and cost for the project.  As the development of the new leisure 
centre is dynamic and relies upon many significant factors, including the 
granting of the planning application and the appointment of a contractor, 
Cabinet will be regularly informed as the programme is updated.

Statutory Powers
Localism Act 2011, Section 1

Introduction

1. The new leisure centre project is progressing well.  This report 
demonstrates progress to date alongside future key dates to enable the 
successful delivery of an outstanding leisure facility for the Borough in 
2017.  The report also discusses community and stakeholder 
involvement and consultation, determination of design, procurement 
processes, financing of the project, project risks and Combined Heat 
and Power (CHP) provision. 

2. The next stage of the process is to gain planning consent and Cabinet 
are asked to approve the initial work to procure a construction 
contractor whilst the planning process is undertaken.  Cabinet on 7 

1 129

Agenda Item 9



November 2013 approved an initial budget of £1.5M to take the project 
to full planning stage and no further funds are sought at this time.  
Cabinet received a further update on progress in June 2014.  

Progress to Date including Procurement Routes

3. A change in direction on the procurement route during 2014 moved the 
Council from an operator led, single stage appointment where the main 
contractor led team would design and build the centre, to a two stage 
process.  This procurement route offers stronger governance and 
demonstrates improved value for money. 

4. The Council appointed an Architectural team in December 2014 (AHR) 
through an OJEU compliant procurement process to design the centre.   

5. The design of the centre, as submitted in the planning application on 2 
April 2015, has been led by AHR.  There has been significant input 
from the leisure centre operator (Places for People), Sport England, 
user groups and Members to ensure that the needs of all stakeholders 
have been considered.  It is expected that the planning application will 
be considered by Eastleigh Local Area Committee Members on 2 June 
2015.

6. A summary of the facilities the new centre will offer include:

 The new leisure centre would provide the following sports facilities: 
 One 25m 8-lane swimming pool with viewing gallery
 One 20m x 10m learner pool with movable floor 
 15 court sports halls with retractable spectator seating for 500 people 
 Four squash courts with movable walls
 Fitness suite with spin studio 
 Three multipurpose studios 
 Refurbished AWP to provide a 3G pitch 
 Four new tennis courts (replacing 8 existing tennis courts) 
 Three 5-a-side pitches (refurbishing the existing pens) 
 Café
 Soft Play
 Space for three Concessions

7. The OJEU procurement process for the construction team is also 
underway with the initial advertisement placed in March 2015.  The 
contractor selection will run in parallel to the planning application 
process.  Cabinet are asked to approve the work on the procurement 
process so that if planning consent is granted, construction will be able 
to commence soon after.  The procurement routes chosen at all stages 
comply with Contract Standing Orders and have been discussed with 
the External Auditor, EY.

2130



Consultation and Community Involvement

8. A communications programme has been developed by the internal 
Communications Unit and is continually reviewed.  The programme 
includes engaging with several internal and external partners, the 
leisure operator’s staff and several user groups.

9. The AHR team have presented to Planning Policy and Development 
Management officers before presenting to Member groups including 
the Council Leader and Portfolio Lead, Eastleigh Local Area 
Committee, and Fleming Park Consultative Group consisting of Leisure 
Centre users and access groups.

 
10. A meeting of the Winchester and Eastleigh Design Review Panel was 

held at Eastleigh House on 12 March 2015.  This group of independent 
architectural services teams provide comment to planning authorities 
on the proposals for prominent schemes.  The input from the group 
was very positive and the design was commended as well considered.

11. A public exhibition was held at Fleming Park Leisure Centre from 2-7 
March 2015.  The exhibition included details of the pre application 
designs offering the public the opportunity to comment.  During the 
exhibition week 168 responses were received of which 127 were 
Borough Residents (86 electronic and 82 manual).  It is a very busy 
centre attracting around 1,000,000 visitors a year and although this is a 
relatively small sample it should still enable us to draw some 
conclusions.

12. When asked ‘Will the proposed Leisure Centre facility meet your 
needs?’ 36 % reported it would meet their needs, 0.17 percent said it 
would not and 24% were not sure. However, it is promising that only 
10% of respondents reported that they would use the facility less.

Percentage of respondents using each facility
Swim 60
Café 48
Gym 32
Sports Hall 23
Creche 21
Outdoor Facilities 17
Keep Fit 14
Studio 11
Squash 7

13. The information displayed at the Leisure Centre can now be found in 
the foyer of Eastleigh House where Customer Services staff are 
coordinating consultation responses.

Operation of the New Leisure Centre
 

3 131



14. There is a contract in place with Places for People to manage the 
current leisure centre.  This contract ends in 2020.  The Council will 
negotiate a further 20 year contract with Places for People.  This will be 
in two parts.  The first element will cover the contractual requirements 
for the ongoing operation of the centre.  The second part will determine 
the structure of the fixed management fee to cover the Council’s 
borrowing costs and additional profit/income share.

15. An initial draft document has been produced based on the latest Sport 
England Toolkit and template documentation.  Positive initial meetings 
have been held with Places for People to determine draft terms within 
the agreements and these negotiations are ongoing. 

Sport England

16. A formal Expression of Interest document was submitted by EBC to 
Sport England for the Strategic Facilities Fund for £2m on 30th January 
2015.  The aim is for the form to be taken to Sport England panel in 
April 2015 for a decision to progress to full application.  Steve Welch 
(Sport England) attends the Project Board and is an integral Consultee 
regarding design decisions to ensure compliant design.

Combined Heat and Power (CHP)

17. The intention is to redesign our CHP facility to the benefit of the new 
leisure centre.  The aim is to commission a larger engine that can 
satisfy the needs of the new leisure centre, the former Civic Offices site 
and also potentially other surrounding buildings such as the adjacent 
hotel and the Fire & Police Headquarters.  This will need to be 
considered in detail and reported back to Cabinet before any decision 
is made.

Risk Management

18. There are a number of risks associated with a project as significant as 
the development of a new leisure centre.  The Project Manager 
maintains an extensive risk log of all known potential risks and this is 
reviewed regularly at Board meetings.  Actions are taken to mitigate 
risks wherever possible.

Financial Implications

19. The development of the new leisure centre is to be self financing.  This 
is to be achieved through the Council committing New Homes Bonus 
grant income, grant income anticipated from Sport England.  The 
balance will be funded initially from prudential borrowing with the 
borrowing costs being repaid from the management agreement with the 
leisure operators.  

4132



Equality and Diversity

20. A key element of designing the new centre has been the consideration 
to accessibility issues for all users.  This has included looking at areas 
such as dimension of doors and equipment, accessible parking, 
changing facilities and hoist provision.  Meetings continue to be held 
with user groups to ensure that facilities are inclusive and meet the 
needs of users.

Conclusion

21. The development of the new leisure centre is progressing well.  A 
summary of future key points is as follows:

 Determination of the planning application at ELAC which 
expected to be on 2 June 2015. 

 Procurement processes are being followed to ensure that a 
suitable construction contractor can be appointed as promptly as 
possible.

 Negotiations with Places for People are ongoing to secure a 
management contract

 Work is ongoing to identify the best way to provide an enhanced 
CHP facility    

Alex Parmley

Corporate Director

Date: 18 March 2015
Contact Officer: Paul Phillips
Tel No: 023 8068 8218
E-Mail: - paul.phillips@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: nil
Report No: 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D

The following documents disclose facts or matters on which this report or an 
important part of it is based, and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report:-

None

5 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

CABINET

Thursday 9th April 2015

PROJECT INTEGRA; CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION AND 
APPROVAL OF THE ACTION PLAN 2015-2018

Report of the Head of Direct Services

Recommendations

It is recommended that approval is given to:

(a) a change to the Project Integra constitution;

(b) the Project Integra Action Plan 2015-2018

Summary

This report seeks Members consideration and approval of a change to the Project Integra 
constitution (allowing the Action Plan to become a true 3 year plan rather than a rolling 3 
year plan) and to approve the Project Integra Action Plan 2015-2018

Statutory Powers

Environmental Protection Act 1990

Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Local Government Act 1972

Introduction

1. Project Integra is the adopted brand name for the waste management 
partnership covering the councils of Hampshire.  Its membership comprises all 
eleven district councils, the two unitary councils of Southampton and 
Portsmouth, Hampshire County Council and Hampshire Waste Services, (a 
subsidiary of Veolia Environmental Services) as the waste disposal contractor.  
The partnership is controlled by a Management Board constituted under 
S.101 (5) and S.102 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972.

135

Agenda Item 10



Eastleigh Borough Council

2. In common with other partner authorities, Cabinet approved Project Integra’s 
refreshed Joint Municipal Waste Strategy (JIMWMS) at its meeting in March 
2013.  This strategy provides strategic direction for its operational work, the 
basis for the action plan and a common strategy framework for each partner 
authority to deliver its services.

Background to the Project Integra Annual Action Plan 2015-
2018

3. The Action Plan (Appendix 1) is the mechanism by which the Project Integra 
Strategic Board (PISB) receives its mandate to work on behalf of the 
partnership.  It also details the costs of running the Board and the associated 
joint activities of the partnership.

4. The council may approve the Annual Action Plan without reservation, or it may 
approve it subject to a reservation in respect to any particular matter with 
which it has concerns.  Where approval is given subject to a reservation, the 
Board will consider the matter formally as laid down in paragraph 13.3 of the 
constitution.

5. This draft action plan covers the period 2015-2018. Amendments to this plan 
can be made during this period and progress will be regularly reported. The 
next full action plan will cover the period 2019- 2022.

The Action Plan sets out the operational focus for its activities through a 
number of work steams, as follows;

a. Working to reduce costs across the whole systems through;

 Communication and behavioural change

 Waste prevention including reuse

 Recycling and performance improvements through;

 Reducing contamination

 Increasing material capture

 Improving income from sale of materials

 Changing management arrangements

 Reducing landfill

 Joint working arrangements and activities

b. Looking ahead together

 Long-term solution and strategy

 Collaborative and joint working

136



Eastleigh Borough Council

6. The tables in pages 6 to 10 of the Action Plan (Appendix 1) provide the 
agreed key actions for Project Integra.

7. Perhaps of particular significance is Action 4 in the Plan the ‘Resource 
Capture and Treatment Review - Implementation’.  This will consider the 
impending outcomes of this review, including potential new capture methods 
and treatment options, together with associated costs for waste collected in 
PI. 

8. This work stream focuses on expanding the range of materials that residents 
can recycle together with the ramifications of any potential change, particularly 
around quality versus quantity of recyclate. The partnership has always 
focussed on the capture of high-quality recyclate, delivered to sustainable and 
ethical end markets. This has been brought into sharp focus with the February 
demise of Aylesford Newsprint (a leading reprocessor and paper mill), a 
company who have reprocessed a significant quantity of Hampshire’s paper 
for many years. This closure leaves only two paper mills in the UK, a position 
which will undoubtedly reduce the value of paper and make the issue of 
material quality more important than ever before.  

9. It is imperative therefore that all potential changes are fully understood given 
the prevailing economic climate and the potential impacts on the council’s 
recycling income and performance. Fully costed options are being prepared 
and will be presented to the PI Board, including the impacts that each change 
will have on partner authorities.

10. The partnership runs a ‘Recycle for Hampshire’ (R4H) campaign, delivered on 
its behalf by Hampshire County Council. Its aims are to encourage waste 
minimisation, recycling and sound environmental stewardship to all 
Hampshire residents in a consolidated and consistent manner. This approach 
is accepted best practice and is widely used by other waste partnerships, 
augmented by targeted local campaigns. To illustrate the effectiveness of this 
approach, the partnership has recently been successful in securing £60K 
‘Pledge for Plastics’ funding for a targeted campaign to boost plastics 
recycling in poorly performing rounds, including some in Eastleigh.

11. However during 2013/14, four members of the partnership withdrew from 
‘Recycle for Hampshire’ citing financial reasons or the belief that they could 
provide this function more effectively using other means. This decision 
resulted in a commensurate loss of funding for R4H activity. Recently two 
further partners (Winchester City Council and East Hampshire District 
Council) have served notice of their intention to follow suit on 1st April 2015; 
however both expressed their reluctance in taking this action, acknowledging 
the benefits of joint communications for the greater good of the partnership. 
Both stated they would be willing to re-consider this decision, pending the 
outcome of a review into the partnership’s communications work and 
recommendations as to its future direction.  

12. The suggested way forward is to retain the R4H website and social media 
activity but to cease the wider campaign. Where there is a requirement, 
communications will be built into the business case for future PI Actions in the 

137



Eastleigh Borough Council

Action Plan.  Additionally the partnership will bid for external funding for 
specific communications activity, which may require match funding and which 
would proceed on the basis of a “coalition of the willing.” This fulfils partner 
desire for change, presents the opportunity to retain the R4H brand, will lead 
to consistent messages on specific issues across the partnership, and 
enables PI to bid for external funding.  

13. The reduced funding will result in a reduction in the number Education 
Officers (from two to one) being employed by Hampshire County Council to 
work on behalf of the partnership with schools and young people promoting 
recycling and waste minimisation agendas. There will be a commensurate 
cost reduction to the council for this element of work from £10.5k to £3.5k, a 
saving of £7k. It is proposed to use this funding internally to continue this 
council’s work in support of its key priority of ‘a Green Borough’. 

14. The current PI constitution reflects the fact that the current action planning 
process sees the production of a rolling three year plan produced annually. A 
draft is signed off by the PI Management Board and then taken by each PI 
partner for approval in their own authority. Approval must be confirmed by all 
partners before the plan is adopted. In practice, officers spend time 
considering the following years Action Plan little more than 6 months after the 
previous one has been approved.

15. In order to address this it is proposed to change the action planning process, 
which will require the constitution of the PISB to be amended (Appendix 2, 
1.5, 13.1, 13.2, 13.4, 13.5, & 13.6). The proposed change will see the PI 
Action Plan become a true 3 year plan rather than a rolling 3 year plan. This 
will reduce time spent by the PI Executive and partner authorities in reviewing 
and approving action plans and allows a more strategic approach to be taken, 
reflecting practice in other successful waste partnerships. The plan will still be 
subject to an annual review by partners with changes/ amendments being 
progressed at PI Board level. 

16. This change does not commit individual partners to remain as members of the 
partnership should they decide otherwise; additionally all have the right to 
question/challenge decisions in the same way as they do currently. The 
change is designed to support a more strategic approach whilst reducing the 
administrative burden that adds little, if any value to partners.   

Financial Implications

17. Authority contributions required to administer the partnership in 2019/22 are 
shown on pages 12 & 13 of the Action Plan (Appendix 1).  The contributions 
cover the PI Executive and the Material Analysis Facility for which there is a 
marginal increase (£238) in this authority’s contribution for 2015/16 for these 
two areas.  However factoring in the reduction in the Recycle for Hampshire 
contribution will deliver an overall saving to the council of circa £7k.

18. The council receives an income from the sale of recyclable materials, which is 
paid annually in arrears.  It should be noted that the materials market is liable 
to fluctuate during the year.  The situation is monitored by Veolia, Hampshire 

138



Eastleigh Borough Council

County Council and the Project Integra Waste Technical Group with each 
authority being provided with a detailed income forecast on a quarterly basis. 
It should be noted that all partners and VES have a vested interest in securing 
the best price for material sales due to the profit share arrangements that 
have been in place since the inception of the contract.

19. The income covers price fluctuation for recycling materials and contributes 
towards the councils recycling initiatives, in addition to its research and 
development activities.

Risk Assessment

20. There are no significant risks to the council associated with the approval of the 
Action Plan.

Equality and Diversity Implications

21. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

22. The 2015-2018 Action Plan sets the key actions for the PI Partnership and 
reaffirms the benefits of partnership working.  The most successful councils in 
terms of waste and resources management are those who work in strategic 
partnerships with others.  Officers will be working proactively in leading these 
agendas with like-minded partners in order to deliver tangible benefits to the 
council and its stakeholders

ANDREW TRAYER
HEAD OF DIRECT SERVICES

Date: 20th March 2015
Contact Officer: Andrew Trayer
Tel No: 023 8068 8370
e-mail: andrew.trayer@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Two
Report No ds163

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None

139



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

1

Draft Project Integra Action Plan

2015-2018

141



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

2

1 Introduction

1.1 Project Integra is partnership of local authorities with responsibility for waste management in 
Hampshire, Portsmouth and Southampton. The long term waste disposal contractor Veolia 
Environmental Services (VES) is a non-voting member of the Partnership.

1.2 The Project Integra Strategic Board is constituted as a Joint Committee of the 14 local 
authorities, and is the decision making body for the partnership.

1.3 The Project Integra Review and the refresh of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
led to development of focused action plans covering the periods 2013-2016 and 2014-17. Both 
these plans have been rolling three year plans, refreshed every year, in accordance with the PI 
Strategic Board Constitution. Some of these actions have now been completed, and some will 
remain on the next action plan. In addition there are some new actions added.

1.4 This Draft Action Plan has been developed in parallel with a proposed change to the PI 
Strategic Board Constitution. The proposal changes the planning process as follows:

Current procedure Proposed Procedure
Rolling three-year Action Plan 
produced annually. A draft is 
signed off by Board and then 
taken by each PI partner for 

approval in their own authority. 
Approval must be confirmed from 
all partners before Action Plan is 

adopted.

Action Plan is a true three-year 
plan. It is approved every three 

years instead of annually. Progress 
reports are still delivered at the end 
of each year. Amendments can be 
made to the plan during the three 

year period.

1.5 This Draft Action Plan therefore covers the period 2015-18. Amendments to this plan can be 
made during this period, and progress will be regularly reported. The next full Action Plan to 
follow this one will cover the period 2019-22.

1.6 An outline proposal for the Action Plan was presented at PISB in October 2014, and this has 
been used to develop this Draft Action Plan.

2 PI aims and objectives

2.1 The refreshed (2012) Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) had the following 
overarching vision:

“In period to 2023 Hampshire will manage the effectiveness of  its sustainable material 
resources system to maximise efficient re-use and recycling of material resources and 
minimise the need for disposal in accordance with the national waste hierarchy.”

2.2 The PISB also agreed, in 2012, the operational focus for its activities through a number of work 
streams as follows: “Working to reduce costs across the whole system” through:

1. Communication and behaviour change.

142



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

3

2. Waste prevention including reuse.
3. Recycling and performance improvements - for instance through reducing 

contamination, increasing capture of materials, improving income for materials, 
changing management arrangements. 

4. Reducing landfill.
5. Joint working arrangements and activities. 
6. Improve efficiency and effectiveness of services through collaboration with neighbouring 

authorities including SE7.”

3 Future challenges and opportunities

3.1 Existing and future targets

3.1.1 National targets for household waste were set for England by the Waste Strategy 2007. The 
targets are to recycle or compost at least 45% of household waste by 2015 and 50% by 2020. 
The latter is a requirement of the EU Waste Framework Directive (the EU target applies to 
Member States as a whole i.e. the UK. rather than individual local authorities). 

3.1.2 The rate at which recycling is currently increasing will not enable the UK to meet this target. 
This could lead to fines for the UK Government for infraction. The UK government has not set 
targets for individual local authorities, but under the terms of Section 48 of the Localism Act, 
these fines could be passed to the local authorities which are deemed to be responsible for the 
UK Government’s non-compliance. Defra have not confirmed that this will be the case and 
there is no mechanism for how this would work in practice.

3.1.3 In July 2014, the European Commission published a proposal to amend six waste-related 
Directives. The proposal included setting more challenging waste-related targets for the period 
2020-2030. However the new EU Commissioner withdrew this proposal, in favour of developing 
something “more ambitious” in 2015. Given the lead times for developing new waste legislation, 
the impact of this work is unlikely to be fully understood until 2018 onwards.

3.2 Waste trends

3.2.1 At the time of writing, the latest statistical update from Defra covers the calendar year 2013. It 
notes that, for England: 

 The annual rate of recycling of ‘waste from households’ was 44.2 per cent in 2013 and 
continues to be stable with just a slight increase from 44.1 per cent in 2012. 

 Total ‘waste from households’ dropped 1.8 per cent to 21.6 million tonnes.
 Local authority managed waste to landfill and incineration fell by 5.2 per cent

3.2.2 In the PI area, residual waste tonnages increased significantly (4.67%) in 2013-14. It could be 
expected that increasing residual waste tonnages will be a key pressure on collection and 
disposal infrastructure if the economic recovery continues. This means the PI Waste 
Prevention Plan acquires an even higher level of significance in reducing whole system costs.

3.2.3 Recycling rates in PI authorities have plateaued or even reduced in recent years. Previous PI 
reports have looked further into this, but in summary there is a decreasing quantity of recyclate 
available (especially paper) but residual waste tonnages have increased.

3.3 Other future areas of policy and legislation

143



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

4

3.3.1 Defra’s role in waste policy development - A letter sent by Defra to stakeholders in November 
2013 revealed the future direction of Defra in the waste/resources sector - “From April 2014 we 
will be stepping back in areas where businesses are better placed to act and there is no clear 
market failure.”

3.3.2 Quality of materials - As of 1st October 2014, new legislation require all MRFs to sample inputs 
and outputs according to a common methodology, which will allow more accurate comparisons 
between facilities. This sampling data is submitted to the EA on a quarterly basis and once 
verified will be available in the public domain. These Regulations, along with the requirements 
for separate collection of paper, glass, metal and plastic, as per the Waste (England and wales) 
Regulations 2011 (as amended 2012), means there is a need to have a strong focus on 
material quality in the future.

3.3.3 Plastic Bag Levy - The Government announced in 2014 that they will introduce a 5p charge on 
all single-use plastic carrier bags in England in October 2015. This may reduce the quantity of 
plastic bags in DMR bins and in the waste stream overall. There could be opportunities for PI 
partners to communicate with residents in the run-up to October 2015, to advise of both the 
charge itself and the requirement for loose recyclate.

3.3.4 Landfill Tax - Landfill tax has been increasing by £8 per year, currently standing at £80 per 
tonne. From 1st April 2015, it shall increase annually in line with the RPI.

3.3.5 National agreements with industry on Packaging and food waste - WRAP have been working 
with retailers and manufacturers since 2005 via a series of “Courthauld Commitments,” aiming 
to reduce the weight and carbon impact of household food waste, grocery product and 
packaging waste, both in the home and the UK grocery sector.
WRAP has been having discussions with governments and industry stakeholders about a new 
framework for collaborative action in the UK to follow Courtauld 3. This is proposed to be a new 
ten-year framework (2016-2025). Courtauld 2025 is still being developed and currently no 
targets have been identified. WRAP will announce a formal proposition in 2015.

3.4 WDA Developments

3.4.1 The existing HWRC contract has been extended to the end of March 2016, but some policy 
changes will be trialled during this period. Procurement of a new contract, from 2016, is 
underway. The waste disposal contract with VES has been extended to 2030.

3.4.2 WDAs and VES have been exploring a number of options to increase landfill diversion – for 
example diverting HWRC Amenity Wastes to Veolia’s Solid Recovered Fuel (SRF) and Refuse 
Derived Fuel (RDF) facility and recycling street sweepings – these trials may be extended and 
expanded if successful.

3.5 Housing trends

3.5.1 HCC provides forecasts of population and no. of dwellings. Between 2015 and 2018, a 2.75% 
increase in house numbers is expected across Hampshire, equating to 21,000 new homes. 
WCC, TVBC and HDC will see the most significant increases. Increases of this order will have 
significant impact of quantities of waste for collection and disposal.

4 PI Action Plan 2015-18

144



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

5

4.1 In order to meet the aims of the JMWMS and the challenges described, the action plan will 
consist of the following actions.

Action 1 Activity to increase quality and quantity of recyclable 
material

Workstream 
Contribution

Detail Increasing capture of and reducing contamination of 
materials collected for recycling by PI will have a significant 
impact upon whole system costs. It is also increasingly 
important in order to comply with recent legislation.  In the 
absence of an ongoing county-wide communications 
campaign, the following is required:
 A focus on local communications by each partner 

authority.
 When appropriate work together on communications 

where an approach will have a known impact or clear 
business case, and pursue external funding to this end, 
including partnerships with other sectors.

 Sharing of best practice in communications among PI 
partners e.g. via Recycling officer group.

 Development of an agreed set of communications 
principles for use across the partnership, to ensure that 
messages across Hampshire are consistent.

 Further development of the PI Contamination Compact
 Monitoring of MRF sampling data and benchmarking 

with other MRFs
 Identify methods of reducing MRF residue, developing 

business cases where appropriate
Targets  Increase material capture from 78.3% (13-14) 

 All partners reduce own  input contamination rates
 Reduce MRF residue rate from 15.73% (13-14)
 Agree set of principles (see above) by October 2015.

How will this 
be measured?

 Monitoring capture, contamination and residue rates via 
the Materials Analysis Facility

 Benchmarking of data with other LAs and MRFs
Responsibility  All PI partners

 Led by Head of Project Integra
Resources  At partner level

 External funding where available
 Business cases presented where appropriate

Timescale 2015-18 – progress reported annually

 Communication and 
behaviour change

 Waste prevention 
including reuse

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill
 Joint working 

arrangements and 
activities

145



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

6

Action 2 Schools Education Workstream 
Contribution

Detail  To deliver the Schools Education Programme to 
participating partners. Partners to be engaged in design 
of the education programme within their own authority 
areas to ensure all needs are met. 

 Educational resources available to schools across 
Hampshire to be revised to enable and encourage self-
service in schools and other groups. 

 Individual partners to support schools where possible. 
 Opportunities for partnerships with other sectors will 

continue to be explored.
Targets  Deliver revised educational resources for all partners 

(Oct 2015)
 Improve awareness of waste & resource management 

among the population as a result of the education 
programme.

 Targets for no. of school visits and level of engagement 
to be agreed with individual partners.

How will this 
be measured?

 Parent and school surveys
 Monitoring capture, contamination and residue rates via 

the Materials Analysis Facility
 Note that attributing specific changes in performance to 

a schools education programme is not straightforward
Responsibility  All PI partners 

 Led by Head of Project Integra
Resources  Schools Education programme cost TBC once 

participating partners are confirmed 
 At partner level
 External funding where available

Timescale Annual Programme to be agreed with individual partners, 
progress reported termly to partners and annually to PISB.

 Communication 
and behaviour 
change

 Waste 
prevention 
including reuse

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill
 Joint working 

arrangements 
and activities

Action 3 Waste Prevention Plan (WPP) Workstream 
Contribution

Detail Implementation of PI WPP 2014-17, approved by PISB in 
June 2014 (further detail available within that plan). Key 
activity to include:
 Annual report on progress (June)
 Bulky waste – improving communications, liaising with 

3rd sector, identifying new ways of working.
 Organics – programme of activity around home 

composting and Love Food Hate Waste.
 HWRCs – maximising reuse opportunities within new 

contract
 Waste collection policies – reviewing and developing 

new waste collection policies that may reduce waste – 
collection frequencies, size and number of waste 
container etc.

Targets   Limit annual increases in residual waste to 0.5% per 

 Communication 
and behaviour 
change

 Waste 
prevention 
including reuse

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill
 Joint working 

arrangements 
and activities

146



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

7

annum.
 Reduce organic and bulky waste

How will this 
be measured?

 Waste tonnage data
 MAF analysis

Responsibility  Head of PI – monitoring of progress against WPP
 Responsibilities around specific actions detailed in the 

approved WPP - all Project Integra authorities have a 
role

Resources  PI working groups where appropriate
 Resources allocated via HCC WP workstream

Timescale Approved plan of activity up to June 2017.

Action 4 Resource Capture and Treatment Review - 
Implementation

Workstream 
Contribution

Detail Implementation of recommendations from RCTR. These will 
include:
 Development of business cases where appropriate
 Actions for the partnership and  for individual partners to 

consider improvements in current collection/disposal 
systems

Targets  Increased recycling rates
 Reduced whole system costs
 Present costed proposal to increase capture of plastic 

(June 2015)
 Exact targets TBC following completion of RCTR

How will this 
be measured?

 Waste data and MAF analysis
 Monitoring of cost benefits

Responsibility  Led by Head of Project Integra
 Actions for individual partners TBC

Resources  At individual partner level
 Business case development where appropriate 

Timescale  Costed proposal on plastic at June 2015 PISB
 Exact targets TBC following completion of RCTR

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill 
 Joint working 

arrangements 
and activities

Action 5 Joint Working outside of PI Workstream 
Contribution

Detail Ensure engagement with:
 Further developments of the SE7 waste workstream
 Waste partnerships in the south east region
 iESE Waste and Resources Innovation Club
 Other networks including National Association of Waste 

Disposal Officers 
 Central Govt, to influence future policy development

Target Increased opportunities for performance improvement and 
reduced costs, and influence of future waste policy

How will this 
be measured?

Annual report from Head of PI

Responsibility Led by Head of Project Integra
Resources Project Integra Executive Budget. Membership of iESE 

Waste & Resources Innovation Club is £2,750 pa which will 
in 15-16 would be funded from underspend held on PI 

 All

147



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

8

account rather than increased partner contributions, and 
then reviewed for 16-17.

Timescale 2015-18

Action 6 Health and Safety Workstream 
Contribution

Detail Through the PI group Common Approach to Safety and 
Health (CASH) ensure best practice shared and projects 
delivered by task and finish groups, including:
 Noise impact of glass collections
 Organising a CASH conference
 Induction training review
Review current group set up and reporting lines to ensure 
effectiveness.

Target  Reduction in lost-time incidents in Hampshire
How will this be 
measured?

 Monitoring of H&S statistics
 Produce annual report for PISB on the progress made 

by the group
 Influence national H&S debate through multi-agency 

H&S forums
Responsibility Head of Project Integra, Chair of CASH, Joint Client team 

Manager WCC/EHDC
Resources Individual partner officer time.
Timescale Annual Report at June PISB. Review completed by June 

2015.

 Joint working 
arrangements 
and activities

Action 7 Glass Processing Contract Workstream 
Contribution

Detail PI authorities have a joint contract for processing of glass 
collected at kerbside or via bringsites. Current contract 
ends in 2016, but there is a 2-year extension option. 
Depending on decision of PISB, either:

(a) Extend for 2 years and re-procure contract ahead 
of 2018

(b) Do not extend, re-procure contract during 2015
Target To secure a value for money outlet for PI glass from 2016 

and beyond. Achieve income levels at or above the 
national average.

How will this be 
measured?

Monitoring of average values of collected glass.

Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra in partnership with a lead 
authority for procurement - TBC 

Resources To be determined 
Timescale As described above, depending on option chosen.

 All

Action 8 Joint Procurement Workstream 

148



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

9

Contribution
Detail Carry out joint procurement exercises where feasible, 

including for example:
 Vehicles
 Training and work placements

Targets  Achieve better value for money and significant savings 
for Project Integra partners.

 Produce annual report on progress.
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra

With procurement advice from a lead individual authority 
when required

Resources Project Integra Budget
Timescale 2015-18

 Joint working 
arrangements 
and activities

 Whole system 
costs

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill 

Action 9 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) Workstream 
Contribution

Detail The existing strategy stated that it would be reviewed in 
2017. The legal status of JMWMSs in the future is not 
clear, but PI will benefit from an overarching strategy to 
guide the partnership.

Targets Review or replace the existing JMWMS.
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra
Resources TBC
Timescale 2017

 Joint working 
arrangements 
and activities

 Whole system 
costs

 Recycling and 
performance 
improvements

 Reducing landfill 

149



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

10

5 Resources

5.1 The forecast for the PI Executive and Materials Analysis Facility for the next three 
years is given in Table 1. Note that these are estimates only, and that more accurate 
forecasts will be given annually in the annual report on Action Plan progress. Authority 
contributions are based on:

 Executive - total number of households with elements for collection (80%) and 
disposal (20%);

 Materials Analysis Facility – one third WCAs (evenly split), one third WDAs 
(split by tonnage), one third VES.

The contributions for each authority are set out in Table 2.

5.2 Proposals to utilise the current underspend held on the PI account will be agreed by 
the PI Strategic Board as and when required.

5.3 Individual partner authorities will need to give consideration to how they will support 
the actions in this plan, through staff or other resources, to ensure the partnership 
achieves its objectives.

150



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

11

Table 1

Budgets

  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18 
 Forecast  Forecast  Forecast 

    

Expenditure

Salaries and On-Costs 72,600 73,300 74,000
Staff Training and subscriptions 700 700 700
Staff Travel Expenses 2,000 2,000 2,000
Staff Costs 75,300 76,000 76,700

Conference Expenses 1,000 1,000 1,000
Events & Activities 1,000 1,000 1,000

Printing & Stationery 500 500 500
Legal Costs / Audit 1,200 1,200 1,200
Communications & Research SLA 41,000 41,000 41,000
Other 42,700 42,700 42,700

Gross Expenditure 119,000 119,700 120,400

Income

Annual Membership Fees -119,000 -119,700 -120,400
Annual Interest 0 0 0

Total Income -119,000 -119,700 -120,400

151



APPENDIX 1
Project Integra Draft Action Plan 2015 - 2018

12

Table 2

 Partner Contributions 2015/16 Partner Contributions 2016/17 Partner Contributions 2017/18

 
PI 

Executive MAF

Sch 
Educatio

n Total
PI 

Executive MAF

Sch 
Educatio

n Total
PI 

Executive MAF

Sch 
Educatio

n Total
Basingstoke 8,716 6,267 0 14,983 8,759 6,423 0 15,182 8,802 6,584 0 15,386
East 
Hampshire 6,010 6,267 1,189 13,466 6,039 6,423 0 12,462 6,069 6,584 0 12,653
Eastleigh 6,437 6,267 2,649 15,353 6,469 6,423 2,582 15,474 6,501 6,584 2,634 15,719
Fareham 5,810 6,267 2,714 14,791 5,839 6,423 2,645 14,907 5,868 6,584 2,698 15,150
Gosport 4,396 6,267 2,119 12,782 4,418 6,423 2,066 12,907 4,439 6,584 2,107 13,130
Hart 4,486 6,267 2,252 13,005 4,508 6,423 2,195 13,126 4,530 6,584 2,239 13,353
Havant 6,386 6,267 0 12,653 6,417 6,423 0 12,840 6,449 6,584 0 13,033
New Forest 9,670 6,267 4,436 20,373 9,718 6,423 4,324 20,465 9,766 6,584 4,410 20,760
Portsmouth 13,385 15,781 0 29,166 13,451 16,175 0 29,626 13,518 16,579 0 30,097
Rushmoor 4,657 6,267 2,449 13,373 4,680 6,423 2,388 13,491 4,703 6,584 2,436 13,723
Southampton 15,374 17,194 0 32,568 15,450 17,624 0 33,074 15,526 18,065 0 33,591
Test Valley 6,073 6,267 0 12,340 6,103 6,423 0 12,526 6,133 6,584 0 12,717
Winchester 6,047 6,267 1,094 13,408 6,077 6,423 0 12,500 6,107 6,584 0 12,691
Hampshire 17,172 61,026 6,300 84,498 17,257 62,552 5,400 85,209 17,341 64,116 5,508 86,965
Veolia 4,382 81,467 0 85,849 4,513 83,504 0 88,017 4,648 85,592 0 90,240
Total 119,001 244,402 25,202 388,605 119,698 250,512 21,600 391,810 120,400 256,775 22,032 399,208

Authority Contributions

152



APPENDIX 2

Page 1 of 11

PROJECT INTEGRA STRATEGIC BOARD

CONSTITUTION

1. BACKGROUND

1.1. The partner authorities have been widely acknowledged for their cooperation since 
1995 on an integrated waste management partnership programme, known as 
Project Integra.  This has resulted in impressive facilities, generally high recycling 
performance, high diversion from landfill and a contribution to the fundamental shift 
in thinking from waste to resource management.

1.2. In order to further this agenda, in 2001 the partner authorities set up a Joint 
Committee (the Project Integra Management Board) in order to increase clarity, 
accountability and respond in a more effective and coordinated way to new 
challenges.

1.3. The effectiveness of the Board was reviewed during 2005/6 in parallel with the 
development of a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS).  To 
underline its strategic, rather than operational role, the Board became known as 
the Project Integra Strategic Board.

1.4. Further changes, including scrutiny being undertaken by authorities individually 
rather than through a joint scrutiny committee, were agreed following a review of 
the partnership and a refresh of the JMWMS, concluded in 2012.

1.5. This revised Constitution for the Project Integra Strategic Board complements the 
JMWMS as one of three core documents underpinning the partnership.  The third 
document is the three year Action Plan. The JMWMS sets out the long term 
strategic aims of the partners.  The Action Plan sets out priorities and how strategic 
aims will be delivered in the short to medium term.  The Constitution sets out how 
decisions are made, scrutinised and supported. 

1.6. For the purposes of the Constitution the parties comprise:
 Basingstoke & Deane Borough Council
 East Hampshire District Council
 Eastleigh Borough Council
 Fareham Borough Council
 Gosport Borough Council
 Hampshire County Council
 Hampshire Waste Services Ltd (a registered subsidiary of 

Veolia Environmental Services (UK) Plc) 
 Hart District Council
 Havant Borough Council
 New Forest District Council
 Portsmouth City Council
 Rushmoor Borough Council
 Southampton City Council
 Test Valley Borough Council

153



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 2 of 11

 Winchester City Council
2. PURPOSE

2.1. The purpose of this Constitution is to set out in clear terms how the Project Integra 
Strategic Board operates and how decisions are made.  It also sets out the role of 
the Project Integra Executive. 

2.2. The Constitution may be amended from time to time, where all Partner Authorities 
and HWS agree such amendments.  The Board may propose amendments for 
consideration and approval in its Draft Action Plan.

3. DEFINITIONS

“Annual General Meeting” means the annual meeting referred to in Paragraph 10.1.

“Approved Action Plan” has the meaning given in Paragraph 13.3. 

“Board” means the Project Integra Strategic Board.

“Board Member” means a person appointed to the Board under Paragraph 8.1.

“Chairman” means the Board Member appointed as Chairman further to Paragraph 
10.2.

“Deputy” means a person appointed as a deputy member of the Board further to 
Paragraph 8.4.

“Draft Action Plan” has the meaning given in Paragraph 13.2.

“Head of Project Integra” means the person designated under Paragraph 15.1.

“Functions” means the functions of the Board set our in Paragraph 6.

“HWS” means Hampshire Waste Services Limited (a registered subsidiary of 
Veolia Environmental Services (UK) Plc.

“Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS)” means the current 
Strategy of that name as formally agreed and adopted by the Partner Authorities 
and submitted to DEFRA.

“Legal Adviser” means the legal adviser of Hampshire County Council or of another 
Partner Authority as the Board may from time to time agree shall advise it.

“Memorandum of Understanding” means the Memorandum of Understanding 
between WCAs and WDA agreed in 1997 and clarifying the responsibilities and 
obligations of the WCAs and WDA in Project Integra, including all matters relevant 
to the WCA/WDA interface.

“More from Less” is the title of a stakeholder document produced in 2005.  It can be 
downloaded from:  http://www3.hants.gov.uk/morefromless.pdf 

“Objectives” means the objectives of the Board set out in Paragraph 5.

154



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 3 of 11

“Partner Authorities” means the local authorities set out in Paragraph 1.6.

“Partner Authority’s Executive” means the Cabinet or other main executive body 
within the authority or the Chairman of the Committee or Board with responsibility 
for waste management.

 “Project Integra” means Hampshire’s integrated waste management partnership.

“Project Integra Executive” means the executive structure set up to support the 
Board and the partnership.

“Recovery Economy” means an economy that uses and recovers material and 
energy resources in the most sustainable and efficient manner, with particular 
regard to minimising carbon emissions.

“Role of the Board Member” is as specified in Paragraph 9.

“Special Meeting” means a meeting convened under Paragraph 11.

“Standing Deputy Chairman” means the Hampshire County Council Board Member 
designated in accordance with Paragraph 10.4.

“Supplementary Document to the Constitution” means a document as described 
and approved in accordance with Paragraph 16.  

“Vice-Chairman” means the Board Member appointed as Vice-Chairman further to 
Paragraph 10.2.

“Voting Member” means any Board Member other than that appointed by HWS.

4. VISION

In the period to 2023 Hampshire will manage the effectiveness of its sustainable 
material resources system to maximise efficient re-use and recycling of material 
resources and minimise the need for disposal in accordance with the national waste 
hierarchy.

5. AIMS & OBJECTIVES

The Objectives of the Board mirror those in the JMWMS as follows:

5.1. To deliver this overarching vision, the fundamental aim of Project Integra is to 
provide a long-term solution for dealing with Hampshire's household waste1 in an 
environmentally sound, cost effective and reliable way.  Success in achieving this 
depends on joint working between all the parties in the best interests of the 
community at large.  Specifically, the aims of the Strategic Board are: 

5.2. To deliver the relevant municipal waste and recycling elements of the Material 
Resources Strategy as set out in the stakeholder document ‘More from Less’; 

1  As defined in the Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012

155



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 4 of 11

5.3. Win the support and understanding of the wider public, leading to a change in 
behaviour towards material resources;

5.4. Make access to recycling and related facilities a positive experience for residents 
and businesses by improving the coverage of kerbside collection systems, 
implementing further material recovery streams and continuous improvement of 
services;

5.5. Sustain recent reductions in the growth of household waste;

5.6. Improve the understanding of, and promote waste avoidance and minimisation;

5.7. Maximise value for money by considering the system as a whole through delivery 
of an integrated waste management process;

5.8. To provide suitable and sufficient processing facilities for existing and new material 
streams; 

5.9. Secure flexible, sustainable and ethical markets for recovered materials and 
products; 

5.10. Ensure each partner clearly understands its roles and responsibility for delivery in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding; 

5.11. Meet the statutory obligations but at the same time maintain Hampshire at the 
forefront of the waste to resources agenda;

5.12. Incorporate commercial and trade waste where possible to improve efficiency of 
waste management systems, including those for municipal waste; and

5.13. Improve the efficiency and effectiveness of services through collaboration with  
neighbouring authorities. 

6. FUNCTIONS

The functions of the Board are as follows:

6.1. To develop a strategic policy framework within which the Partner Authorities can 
each discharge their functions as waste disposal authority or waste collection 
authority (as the case may be) and as set out in the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy and in other ways so as to achieve the Objectives.

6.2. To produce, for consideration and approval of the Partner Authorities, the Draft 
Action Plan and associated budget, and to implement the Approved Action Plan.

6.3. To discharge, on behalf of the Partner Authorities, their functions in respect of the 
making of arrangements for the recycling of waste, where such arrangements:

(a) Affect two or more of the Partner Authorities; and

(b) Have been authorised by all of the Partner Authorities by being specifically 
referred to in the Approved Action Plan.

156



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 5 of 11

6.4. To influence, advise and lobby government and other agencies, both nationally and 
internationally, where to do so is consistent with the Objectives.

6.5. To commission and promote research into matters relevant to the Objectives.

6.6. To develop proposals for the future development of Project Integra (to be included 
for consideration in the Draft Action Plan).  Such proposals may include the 
creation of separate entities to undertake particular lines of activity, such as the 
commissioning of research, public awareness or behavioural change campaigns 
and the provision of training and consultancy services. 

6.7. To develop proposals on how the Partner Authorities can discharge their functions 
in the field of resource management, promote a recovery economy, improve 
economic, social and environmental wellbeing in Hampshire and contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. 

6.8. To promote opportunities for joint working, collaboration, efficiencies and 
economies of scale at an operational or management level between the Partner 
Authorities and with other authorities inside and outside Hampshire.

6.9. To carry out such other activities calculated to facilitate, or which are conducive or 
incidental to the discharge of the Board’s Functions in implementing the Approved 
Action Plan. 

7. NAME AND LEGAL STATUS

7.1. The Board is a joint committee constituted by the Partner Authorities under Section 
101(5) and 102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972.  Its name is the “Project 
Integra Strategic Board”.  Meetings of the Board are subject to the provisions of the 
Local Government Act 1972, including provisions on access to information and 
meetings being held in public. 

7.2. The area within which the Board is to exercise its authority is the administrative 
county of Hampshire together with the unitary authority areas of Portsmouth and 
Southampton.

8. COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

8.1. The Board shall comprise 15 Members, being one Member appointed by each 
Partner Authority, and one co-opted Member representing HWS.

8.2. Each Partner Authority shall ensure that its appointed Board Member is a member 
of their executive, except where the Authority concerned: 

(a) has adopted a Mayor and council manager executive, in which case the 
Board Member may be the council manager or other officer, or

(b) has adopted the Committee model.  In this case, the Partner Authority shall 
ensure that the appointed Board Member has the skills and qualities required 
to fulfil the strategic nature of the role and has the authority to speak on 
behalf of the Partner Authority.

157



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 6 of 11

8.3. The representative of HWS shall be the Managing Director of Hampshire Waste 
Services Limited, with the skills and qualities required to fulfil the role of the Board 
Member.  

8.4. Partner Authorities, and HWS, may each appoint another named person to act as a 
Deputy for their appointed Board Member.  Where the appointed Board Member is 
unable to attend a meeting, a suitable Deputy may attend and carry out their 
responsibilities, including, in the case of a Voting Member, voting in their absence.  

8.5. The term of office of a Board Member and any Deputy shall be determined by the 
appointing partner authority, provided that for the duration of that period they 
remain a person who is capable of being appointed to the Board in accordance 
with Paragraphs 8.2 and 8.4 or, where appropriate, Paragraph 8.3 above.  Partner 
Authorities and HWS may change their appointed Board Member or Deputy at any 
time provided that written notice of any such change is provided to the Head of 
Project Integra, taking effect upon receipt.

9. ROLE OF THE BOARD MEMBER

The responsibilities of a Board Member are as follows: 

9.1. To be committed to, and act as a champion for, the achievement of the objectives 
both within their own authority and in other arenas.

9.2. To be a good ambassador for the Board and for Project Integra.

9.3. To attend Board meetings, vote on items of business and make a positive 
contribution to the achievement of the Objectives.

9.4. To remain acquainted with emerging technologies and processes in the area of 
waste/resource management. 

9.5. To act as an advocate for the Board in seeking the approval of their Partner 
Authority to the Draft Action Plan.

10. MEETINGS

10.1. The Board shall meet three times a year.  The venue for meetings shall be 
determined by the Board.  The Board shall hold an Annual General Meeting 
annually on one of the meeting dates.

10.2. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board shall be appointed at the Annual 
General Meeting.  Appointments take effect until the next Annual General Meeting.  
In the absence of the Chairman for any reason the responsibilities of the Chairman 
shall be discharged by the Vice-Chairman.  A Chairman or Vice-Chairman may be 
re-elected to serve for another period of one year if that is the wish of the majority 
of the Board but should not normally serve in the same role for more than two 
consecutive years. 

10.3. If the Chairman is for any reason unable to continue in the role, the Vice-Chairman 
shall automatically assume the role of Chairman until the next routine or Special 
Meeting of the Board, where a new Chairman shall be appointed.  

158



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 7 of 11

10.4. Unless the Hampshire County Council Member is elected Chairman or Vice-
Chairman in accordance with Paragraph 10.2 above, the Hampshire County 
Council Board Member shall assume or resume the role of ex-officio Standing 
Deputy Chairman.  The purpose of the position is to:
(i) provide assistance and advice to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman in the 

preparation of meeting agendas and other member events or 
communications; and

(ii) ensure the Hampshire County Council Member is fully informed of strategies 
and policies being formulated for consideration by the Strategic Board.

The role reflects the unique responsibility of Hampshire County Council within the 
partnership.  In all other respects the role is the same as other Voting Members.  

10.5. A printed copy of the summons and agenda for each meeting and the minutes of 
the previous meeting, shall be despatched by the Head of Project Integra at least 
fourteen days before such meeting to each Board Member. The summons shall 
contain notice of all business, except urgent business, which is in the ordinary 
course or by direction of the Chairman or Head of Project Integra required to be 
brought before the Board.

10.6. If within ten minutes of the appointed time for the commencement of the meeting a 
quorum (that is four Voting Members) is not present, the meeting shall be 
dissolved.  Any business not disposed of shall be considered at the next meeting.

10.7. The Chairman may invite any person to attend a meeting of the Board for the 
purpose of making a presentation, or participating in discussion, on any item 
relevant to the Board’s Functions, where that person is able to provide a 
professional or commercial viewpoint, which the Chairman considers would be of 
assistance to the Board.

10.8. All decisions of the Board will be notified in writing to Board Members and Deputies 
within five working days of the Board meeting.  

11. SPECIAL MEETINGS

11.1. The Chairman may summon a Special Meeting of the Board at any time.

11.2. A Special Meeting shall also be summoned on the requisition in writing of not less 
than four Voting Members, which requisition shall be delivered to the Head of 
Project Integra and shall specify the business to be considered at the Special 
Meeting.

11.3. The Head of Project Integra shall arrange for any Special Meeting to be held in 
accordance with the timetable in Paragraph 10.5 above. 

12. DECISION MAKING

12.1. Voting Members shall be entitled to a vote on items of business considered by the 
Board (the Board Member appointed by HWS, as a co-opted member, is not 
permitted to vote by virtue of Section 13(1) of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989).

159



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 8 of 11

12.2. Subject to Paragraphs 12.4 and 13.3 below, every question shall be determined by 
the voices of those Voting Members present, provided that if there is a Voting 
Member who indicates dissent to this procedure then a vote by a show of hands 
shall take place.  A simple majority shall be required. 

12.3. In the event of there being an equal number of votes for and against a particular 
proposition, the Chairman shall have a casting vote.  

12.4. Where the effect of a particular proposition, if adopted by the Board, would be to 
give rise to contractual or financial implications for any Partner Authority, then in 
addition to the normal requirement for a simple majority of votes, the vote of the 
Member appointed by that Partner Authority, in favour of the proposition, shall be 
required. Where a particular proposition does not have the support of the Members 
appointed by all Partner Authorities so affected, the proposition cannot be adopted 
by the Board.

12.5. Where the effect of a decision of the Board is that the Partner Authorities, or any of 
them, shall enter into contractual arrangements, the Partner Authorities so affected 
shall delegate authority to complete the contractual documentation on their behalf 
(subject to Paragraph 12.6 below) to the lead Partner Authority further to Section 
101 Local Government Act 1972. 

12.6. Where, further to a resolution of the Board, contractual arrangements are entered 
into by one of the Partner Authorities, as lead authority on behalf of itself and other 
authorities, the Partner Authorities so affected shall complete a legal agreement 
setting out the basis on which risks and liabilities are apportioned between them. 

13. ACTION PLAN

13.1. Every three years, at the Annual General Meeting, the Board shall consider and 
approve the Draft Action Plan.

13.2. The Draft Action Plan shall set out the strategy for the achievement of the 
Objectives over a three year period.  It will specify the activities to be undertaken in 
support of that strategy, together with the resources required and responsibilities 
for each activity.

13.3. The Draft Action Plan shall be considered by each of the Partner Authorities with a 
view to giving it their approval.  On being approved by all of the Partner Authorities, 
the Draft Action Plan shall become the Approved Action Plan.  A Partner Authority 
may approve the Draft Action Plan subject to a reservation in respect of any 
particular matter that it has concerns with.  Where approval is given subject to such 
reservation, the Partner Authority’s Voting Member is not entitled to vote on the 
matter in question when it is subsequently considered by the Board, and any 
resolution of the Board on the matter in question does not bind that Partner 
Authority.

13.4. The Board may consider and propose a draft amendment to the Approved Action 
Plan, where necessary to accommodate unforeseen circumstances, which have 
arisen which would assist the Board in achieving the Objectives.  Any proposed 
amendment, which does not result in additional cost for Partner Authorities, can be 

160



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 9 of 11

agreed by the Board. Any proposed amendment which would lead to additional 
cost being incurred by Partner Authorities which is agreed by the Board, shall then 
be submitted to the Partner Authorities for approval.  On being approved by all the 
Partner Authorities, the amendment is then incorporated in the Approved Action 
Plan.  

13.5. In years where a new Draft Action Plan is not being considered by the Board, the 
PI Executive shall present a written report detailing progress against the actions 
contained within the plan. Partner Authorities may wish to scrutinise progress 
formally, according to their own authority’s scrutiny framework.

13.6. Unless the PI Strategic Board is notified otherwise by 30th October of any given 
year, it will be assumed that all Partner Authorities wish to remain as participants in 
all actions of the Approved Action Plan in the following year. Under circumstances 
where a Partner Authority notifies the PI Strategic Board that they do not wish to 
participate in any actions of the Approved Action Plan in the following year, that 
authority will cease to be a Partner Authority in the following year and will not be 
represented at PI Strategic Board.

14. DELEGATION TO SUB-COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS

14.1. The Board may arrange for any of its functions to be discharged by a sub-
committee or by an officer of one of the Partner Authorities, provided that any such 
arrangements do not include delegation of matters falling within the scope of 
Paragraph 12.4 above or Paragraph 16 below, which shall remain the sole 
responsibility of the Board.

14.2. The Board may appoint working groups of Members and officers to consider 
specific matters referred and report back to the Board.

15. EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PROFESSIONAL SUPPORT

15.1. The Board shall designate a named person to fulfil the function of Head of Project 
Integra. The responsibilities of the Head of Project Integra shall be set out in a job 
description approved by the Board as a Supplementary Document to the 
Constitution.  In respect of the business of the Board, its sub-committees and 
working groups the role shall include:

(a) To make all necessary arrangements for the convening of meetings.

(b) To provide, or, where necessary, procure the provision of, all necessary 
advice on the technical, legal and financial implications of matters under 
consideration.

(c) To bring attention to relevant matters which merit consideration.

(d) To take and maintain minutes of meetings, and ensure that business at 
meetings is conducted in accordance with legal and constitutional 
requirements.

(e) To be responsible for communications with other agencies, including the 
media.

161



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 10 of 11

(f) To manage and co-ordinate the day-to-day affairs of the Board and its 
administrative support.

15.2. The Board shall obtain legal, financial and other professional advice as required.

15.3. The business address for all communications relating to the administration of the 
Board’s affairs shall be determined by the Board.

16. SUPPLEMENTARY DOCUMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION

16.1. Supplementary Documents to the Constitution (SDCs) set out agreements such as 
operational protocols, financial arrangements or specifications that the Board have 
agreed to apply either generally or under specified circumstances.

16.2. The Board may from time to time consider amending, deleting or adding to the 
Supplementary Documents and may, subject to Paragraphs 12.4 above and 16.3 
below, approve such changes without the need to refer to each authority for 
individual approval. 

16.3. Nothing in this Constitution shall empower or permit the Board to override 
contractual or legal arrangements agreed between partner authorities or between 
one or more partner authorities and third parties.  

17. URGENT MATTERS

17.1. Subject to Paragraph 15.2, this Paragraph applies where the best interests of the 
Board require that action should be taken, or a decision made, on a matter which 
would normally fall to be considered by the Board in the exercise of its functions, 
but where such best interests would be compromised by the action, or decision, 
being deferred until the next meeting of the Board.  In such cases the Head of 
Project Integra is authorised to take such action or decision, following consultation 
with the Legal Adviser, Chairman and Vice-Chairman.  Any such action taken shall 
be reported to the next meeting of the Board.

17.2. Paragraph 17.1 does not apply to decisions falling within the scope of Paragraph 
12.4 or 16.2.

18. CONDUCT AND EXPENSES OF MEMBERS

18.1. All Board Members shall observe at all times the provisions of the code of conduct, 
adopted by their Partner Authority under Section 51 of the Local Government Act 
2000.  In the meantime, Members are required to observe the provisions of any 
existing code of conduct adopted by their Partner Authority or, where none exists, 
the National Code of Local Government Conduct.

18.2. Except as outlined in Paragraph 18.3 below, each Partner Authority shall be 
responsible for meeting any expenses to which any Board Member appointed by 
them, as their representative is entitled as a result of their attendance at duly 
authorised meetings.  HWS are responsible for meeting any expenses incurred by 
their appointed representatives.

162



Project Integra Strategic Board – Constitution   

Page 11 of 11

18.3. The Board shall meet appropriate expenses, properly incurred by the Board 
Chairman or Vice Chairman in relation to circumstances where they have 
represented the partnership rather than their individual authority.  A summary of 
such expenditure shall be reported to meetings of the Board.

19. LIABILITIES OF BOARD MEMBERS

19.1. Board Members have the same responsibilities and liabilities as those which apply 
when sitting on other committees and bodies as appointed representative on behalf 
of their authority.  Where contractual arrangements are authorised by the Board, 
any liabilities arising under those arrangements will rest with the constituent 
Partner Authorities who are parties to those contractual arrangements.  
Indemnification for any liabilities, which do arise, is a matter between the Board 
Member and their Partner Authority.  It is noted that under Section 101 of the Local 
Government Act 2000, the Secretary of State may by order make provision 
conferring power to local authorities to provide indemnities to some or all of their 
members and officers.

20. PRESS AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

20.1. The Board shall have power to issue such press releases and carry out such 
further publicity as it deems necessary for the furtherance of the Objectives, 
including the dissemination of information relating to the functions and workings of 
the Board, and any action taken or proposed to be taken for the benefit of the 
residents of Hampshire and other stakeholders. 

Dated November 2012

163



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY 

 LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday 9 March 2015

CABINET

Thursday 9 April 2015

LAND AT MOORGREEN HOSPITAL AND MOORGREEN DAIRY 
FARM DEVELOPMENT BRIEF 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

Report of the Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy

RECOMMENDATIONS

Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee: 

It is recommended that:

 the development brief is updated in accordance with the changes specified in 
Appendix One; and

Cabinet be recommended to adopt the subsequent revised development brief for 
Moorgreen Hospital and the adjoining field as a supplementary planning document 
and, in relation to land at Moorgreen Dairy Farm, to adopt the brief as non-statutory 
guidance  

Cabinet: 

Subject to any further modifications requested by the Hedge End, West End and 
Botley Local Area Committee, it is recommended that the development brief for 
Moorgreen Hospital and the adjoining field be adopted as a supplementary planning 
document and, in relation to land at Moorgreen Dairy Farm, adopt the brief as non-
statutory guidance 

Summary

This report relates to land at Moorgreen Hospital, the adjoining field and Moorgreen Dairy 
Farm in West End. It is recommended that the development brief in relation to Moorgreen 

165

Agenda Item 11



Hospital and the adjoining field the subject of policy 187.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001 – 2011) be adopted by the Council as a supplementary 
planning document (SPD), following amendments proposed following public consultation. 
The brief also addresses the development potential of land at Moorgreen Dairy Farm, 
West End. The development of this part of the wider site is not provided for in the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001 – 2011) and therefore the guidance issued in 
this document in respect of this land can only be approved for use on a non-statutory 
basis.

The brief sets out design principles and planning requirements for the development of the 
site. It describes the main constraints and opportunities relating to the site and specifies a 
phasing programme for its development. A full statement of consultations is attached as 
Appendix A. The original consultation draft development brief is attached as Appendix B.

Statutory Powers

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Localism Act 2011

Introduction

1. A draft development brief was approved by the Hedge End, West End and 
Botley (HEWEB) Local Area Committee and by Cabinet on the 8 and 11 
December 2014 respectively for consultation. The consultation ran from 19 
December 2014 to 30 January 2015 and included two staffed exhibitions held 
at West End Parish Centre from 7.00pm - 9.00pm on Friday 23 January and 
10.00am - 12.30pm on Saturday 24 January. In total, approximately 130 local 
people visited the events.

2. This report brings before Members the results of the consultation exercise on 
the draft brief and resulting amendments to the brief for approval in order that 
the final version of the brief can be adopted. 

Vehicular route connection to Monarch Way

3. The issue of most concern to local residents is the proposal to create a general 
vehicular link between Monarch Way and the phase three area (see ’Plan 18: 
Transport Framework Plan’ on page 52 of the brief). This link was originally 
promoted in the brief for the following reasons:

 To improve general accessibility for the existing estate and proposed 
development. Traffic calming, a dog-leg in the route, plus existing congestion 
around St James School at pick-up and drop-off times should have minimised 
the risk of it being used as a ‘rat run’.

 To improve access for emergency vehicles and bin lorries to Monarch Way.

166

%5Cebc01-100usersRegeneration%20&amp;%20Planning%20PolicyPP&amp;DS4%20-%20Site%20specific%20foldersS4WEWE5%20-%20Moorgreen%20HospitalMoorgreen%20development%20briefCommittee%20reportsReport%20for%20HEWEB%20final.doc


 To provide an alternative route under the road or associated footway into the 
estate for underground services provided by the statutory service providers. 
This may have reduced the cost of providing improved links to the existing 
Monarch Way service network.

4. However, although there were a majority of Monarch Way residents in favour of 
a proposed pedestrian and cyclist link, there was a very large and strongly felt 
response against a proposed vehicular link. Whilst in theory an alternative 
access to and from the site would be good practice in movement network 
terms, the constraints of Monarch Way are such (with a narrow width and 
congestion at drop off and pick-up times around the school) that taking the risk 
of extra vehicle movements may not be appropriate. Accordingly it is 
recommended that the brief be amended to downgrade this link to provide links 
for pedestrians, cyclists and underground services only. The fire service will still 
have relatively easy access through the removal of lockable bollards.

Health service issues 

5.  Another issue that also caused large numbers of residents to comment was 
concern regarding a perceived cut-back in NHS services and a call for an 
increase in health facilities on the site. The NHS has already sold off the phase 
1A area (the western third of the site bordering Moorgreen Road) as surplus to 
its requirements (see also ‘Plan 19: Development Phasing’ on page xx of the 
brief). The NHS has yet to indicate how it proposes to deliver a modern model 
of healthcare and make the best use of the land remaining in NHS ownership. 
However, it is likely to involve the development for health uses of the field to the 
north of Dawson Lodge, known as the Donkey Field (see ’Plan 1: Existing 
layout’ on page 3 of the brief), which would potentially free up land for much-
needed housing. The Council has a responsibility to plan for the use of land 
which is no longer needed for health uses, if there is evidence that they are no 
longer needed. The brief makes it clear that the Council will require substantive 
evidence to be submitted alongside any relevant planning application on any 
part of the site to demonstrate that the land subject of proposals is no longer 
needed for health uses. 

6. In its consultation response on the draft brief, NHS West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group has advised the Council that in the short term, it will 
maintain the existing services on site.  In the medium term, it plans to provide 
more clinical services on this site whilst reducing its administrative functions. 
This would mean using a similar floorspace of building to the present provision 
to deliver increased clinical services on the site. At the same time. more land 
could be released for housing beyond the land already sold to the Homes and 
Communities Agency. Should the NHS decide to retain its current 
administrative function within the site, or decide to increase clinical services 
beyond the increase already planned, then it would be free to retain its 
landholding for this purpose. 

7. During the consultation period the issue of creating a GP unit integrated with 
other health services was raised. Co-locating the surgery and local community 

167



(non-in-patient) health facilities at the Donkey Field in the future could be of 
significant benefit to the local community. Communication between the GP 
surgery in primary care and others in the community teams would be improved 
and, if ‘hospital’ outpatient services were ever to start, clinical care would 
improve, as cases could easily be discussed with the GP’s secondary care 
colleagues. If the surgery was to be in the same building as the community 
facilities, there could be flexible use of clinical space. There may also be other 
advantages that are not apparent at the present, but will be obvious in 5 to 10 
years to come, depending on the future model for primary care delivery.

8. It is not yet possible to confirm the deliverability of this proposal. Therefore it is 
proposed that the draft brief be amended to continue to provide for the 
expansion of the existing GP surgery to address increased demand in the short 
and medium term, whilst advocating a longer term strategy of co-location of the 
surgery with the health facilities re-provided on the Donkey Field. This will help 
to ensure that extra capacity at the GP surgery is provided for in the short to 
medium term. 

9. Should the GP surgery come to be moved from its existing site, then its land 
holding could be released for housing development. The brief is proposed to be 
amended to ensure that, as far as possible, the approved layout of the phase 
1A site which bounds the surgery site on two sides facilitates expansion in the 
long term onto the surgery site.

10. Another issue raised during the consultation was the potential to use some of 
the site not used for NHS health facilities, or for housing, for a modest 
horticultural therapy facility. Horticultural therapy uses gardening to bring about 
positive changes in the lives of people who are living with disabilities or ill 
health, or are isolated, disadvantaged or vulnerable. This process is known as 
social and therapeutic horticulture.

11. West End Parish Council already supply one allotment locally free of charge to 
the charity Eastleigh Borough & Romsey MENCAP. Although it does not 
describe its work as horticultural therapy, the charity works with adults who 
have learning disabilities and this can include people with autism or Aspergers 
who may have associated learning disabilities or communication issues. Its aim 
is to provide outdoor activity, which includes physical exercise through 
horticulture, so members have the opportunity to learn about horticulture and to 
grow their own food.  

12. The charity has indicated that it would welcome the expansion of the existing 
project onto the Moorgreen site. The brief will be amended to indicate that the 
Council, together with its partners, will work to investigate the potential for 
supporting this existing facility through planning gain, either by providing a 
facility within the phase two or three area or by other support to the existing 
site. Alternatively a project with another charity could be conceived for 
horticultural therapy on the site, again underpinned through planning gain.

Status of this development brief

168



13.Since the publication of the consultation draft of the development brief, the   
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029 has been rejected by the Planning 
Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State to examine the soundness of the 
Plan. This judgement means that the 2011 - 2029 Local Plan can no longer be 
adopted by the Borough Council as its ‘Development Plan’. Consequently the 
extent of the site covered by this development brief, which previously aligned 
closely with the site proposed to be allocated through policy WE5 of that Plan, 
can no longer be adopted as a supplementary planning document. 

14.Recognising the value of an adopted supplementary planning document to guide 
development, this report recommends that the Council adopts as a 
supplementary planning document the brief in so far as it relates to the land 
identified for development in saved policy 187.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001 – 2011). The guidance offered in this brief in 
relation to all other land within the wider site can only be adopted on a non-
statutory basis.

Other issues arising

15. Foreman Homes has requested that the site area of the brief be increased to 
include the full area of its 2013 planning application for the Moorgreen Dairy 
Farm site. This is recommended for inclusion in the brief, subject to an 
increased requirement for screening alongside the countryside edge. This small 
additional parcel of land is not considered to contribute significantly to the 
strategic gap between West End and Hedge End. The capacity figure for this 
phase will be increased by 3 units to 23 homes. 

It has also been suggested that a small (c.280m2) retail convenience store is 
provided for on part of the site. Given the site’s distance from existing local 
centres, the amount of existing and proposed housing in the vicinity and its 
proximity to large crowd-generating facilities at the Ageas Bowl, a small 
convenience retail facility in this location is considered to be acceptable in 
principle. It is recommended that the draft brief be amended accordingly.

16. A full list of the significant issues raised in the consultation is attached as 
Appendix A. Changes to the brief in response to the points are described. 
Further minor changes will be made as necessary for purposes of clarification 
and correction. The consultation Draft Development Brief is available on the 
Council’s website; www.eastleigh.gov.uk/moorgreen . The final version will 
incorporate the changes set out in this report.

169

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/moorgreen


Financial Implications

17. The cost of publication of the planning brief will be met from existing resources 
held by the Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy. The cost of issuing hard 
copies will be recouped by charging for them. 

Risk Assessment

18. The risk of not proceeding with a development brief for this site is that 
development takes place in a piecemeal fashion and that some of the Council’s 
aspirations for the site are more difficult to achieve or do not take place.

Equality and Diversity Implications

19. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

20. A successful formal consultation process has taken place. Whilst the changes 
proposed to the brief do not have a major impact on the overall proposals, the 
changes to the access arrangements are considered essential. The 
reassurances and clarification about the Council’s position regarding the health 
service offer on the site, and the additional ideas to improve the health offer are 
also very important. Once the development brief has been adopted, the 
document will provide more detailed guidance on the Council’s objectives for 
this site, helping to achieve a greater level of control over future development 
than currently exists. This will result in higher quality development, reflecting 
the needs of the community.

PAUL RAMSHAW
Head of Regeneration and Planning Policy

Date: 17th February 2015
Contact Officer: Mark Waller-Gutierrez
Tel No: 023 8068 8164
e-mail: mark.waller-gutierrez @eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1
Report Number: RPP508

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

No background papers submitted. 

170

%5Cebc01-100usersRegeneration%20&amp;%20Planning%20PolicyPP&amp;DS4%20-%20Site%20specific%20foldersS4WEWE5%20-%20Moorgreen%20HospitalMoorgreen%20development%20briefCommittee%20reportsReport%20for%20HEWEB%20final.doc
%5Cebc01-100usersRegeneration%20&amp;%20Planning%20PolicyPP&amp;DS4%20-%20Site%20specific%20foldersS4WEWE5%20-%20Moorgreen%20HospitalMoorgreen%20development%20briefCommittee%20reportsReport%20for%20HEWEB%20final.doc


 Appendix A Statement of consultations Moorgreen 
Hospital Development Brief
The consultation period commenced on 19th December 2014 and lasted until 30th 
January 2015. Public exhibitions held at West End Parish Centre on Friday 23rd 
January and Saturday 24th January. Approximately 130 people in total attended the 
two events.
Written responses were made by 97 local residents and businesses. Table 1 below 
reports the significant issues raised. Written responses were also received by 18 
organisations. Where these raised issues that were not already raised by residents 
they are reported in Table 2. In addition 42 signatures signed a petition: these 
support issues 1 and 22 in Table 1 below. Some of these signatures are of residents 
who have also made written responses. These numbers are not included below but 
have been taken into account in the council’s responses. 

Table 1 Summary of consultation responses; individual residents, and local 
businesses 

ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

1. Oppose road link to 
Monarch Way

1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
(70)

Vehicular link proposal changed to be 
emergency vehicle, pedestrian, cycle and 
underground service use only. General 
motor vehicles will be prohibited.
Revised para 5.15:
5.15 A link for pedestrians, cyclists and 
emergency vehicles only should be made into 
the phase 3 site from the north via Monarch 
Way (refer also to notes on the Transport 
Framework Plan), and again, this should be 
investigated as part of the TA.

The reference to a potential vehicular link 
from Monarch Way in the Development 
Principles: Executive Summary on page 8 has 
been removed.

2. Concern regarding increase 
in population and effect on 
infrastructure generally 

111111111
(9)

Planning gain receipts will be taken from 
developers to fund infrastructure 
improvements required as a result of this 
development.

3. Concern about increasing 
traffic demand on Botley/ 
Moorgreen Roads / High 
Street and Junction 7 of 
M27

1111111
(7)

Any application for development on this site 
would need to be supported by a transport 
assessment of the impact of additional traffic 
on the local road network. Planning gain 
receipts will be taken from developers to fund 
highway improvements required as a result of 
this development.

4. Opposition to new 11 The highway authority will only permit direct 

171



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

driveways onto Moorgreen 
Road/concern re 
availability of parking on 
Moorgreen Road

(2) access to Moorgreen Road from new houses 
along the frontage where it is satisfied that 
appropriate sight lines, parking and turning 
facilities can be secured.

5. Call for an integrated 
transport system

1 The council will seek improved foot, cycle 
and public transport facilities as part of this 
development to try to encourage alternative 
uses to the private car.

6.                                              Monarch Way not to be 
used by vehicles from the 
dairy farm development.

1 The document does not propose general 
vehicular access to Monarch Way from dairy 
farm site. However the proposal for a link for 
pedestrians, cyclists and emergency vehicles 
will remain. 

7. Concern about proposed 
vehicular entrance into 
phase 1A from Botley 
Road.

1 This will be investigated in depth as part of 
any planning application and be subject to a 
transport assessment, prepared by consultants 
on behalf of the developer.

8. Traffic calming on Botley 
Rd needed

1 This will be considered as part of any 
planning application.

9. No link between GP 
surgery and hospital

1 There is not likely to be a demand for a more 
direct link where the GP surgery is currently 
located. However, there will be new 
pedestrian/cycle links across the site.

10. Support for widening of 
existing cycleway along 
Botley Road

1 Noted

11. Support pedestrian/cyclist 
access to Monarch Way

1111111
(7)

Noted

12. Oppose pedestrian/cyclist 
access to Monarch Way

11
(2)

Pedestrian and cyclist links to Monarch Way 
form an essential part of the sustainable 
transport proposals for the site.

13. Exacerbation of overflow 
parking problem from 
Ageas

11111117 General vehicular link to Monarch Way will 
not now go ahead. Monarch Way could be 
added to the Ageas event traffic management 
plan if this becomes necessary.

14. Concern re impact on 
parking court to far east end 
of Monarch Way

1 This is a private parking court over which the 
Council has no control.

15. Concern re parking 
provision for new 
development

1113 The Council’s parking standards will be 
rigorously enforced for any planning 
application. A sentence will be added to 
make it clearer that any non-residential 
uses, including new hospital building, will 
be assessed in terms of their parking 
provision in accordance with adopted EBC 
policy.

16. Suggestion for review of all 
double yellow lines in the 
area.

1 Noted. 

17. Opposition to more housing 1111111111 Most of this site has been a Local Plan 

172



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

1
(11)

allocation for housing since 2006. The 
Council has a responsibility to allocate sites 
for substantial numbers of new homes to meet 
needs.

18. Support for principal of 
new housing

1111111111
111111111
(19)

Noted

19. Affordable housing 
allocation to be adhered to.

1111
(4)

Agreed

20. Affordable housing element 
to be reduced

1 The Council has a target of securing 35% 
affordable housing on the site. No evidence 
has been submitted which would suggest that 
this target is not achievable in this instance. 

21. Affordable housing should 
all be for old people

1 Disagree. Housing need arises from a wider 
cross-section of our community. To restrict 
the use of additional affordable housing only 
to old people is not considered to be 
appropriate in providing for sustainable 
development with mixed and balanced 
communities.  

22. Concern regarding  
perceived cut-back in NHS 
services/Call for increase in 
health facilities

1111111111
1111111111
1111111111
1
(31)

No cut-back in service is proposed in this 
document. Planning for NHS services is not 
within the remit of this development brief. 
The NHS has yet to indicate how it proposes 
to deliver a modern model of healthcare and 
make the best use of the land available; 
however this is likely to involve the 
development for health of the Donkey Field, 
which would potentially free up land for 
much-needed housing. The Council has a duty 
to plan for the use of land which is no longer 
needed for health uses, if there is evidence for 
this.

23. Suggestion for a 
convalescent unit to be 
built on part of the site

1 This is a matter for the NHS and this 
suggestion has been forwarded to them.

24. Concern about the high cost 
of land for the extension to 
the GP surgery.

1 Whilst the surgery is a commercial concern, 
the Council is working to support the facility 
as far as it can within its powers.

25. Accommodation for 
nursing staff required

1 There is no specific scheme for key worker 
accommodation nationally now. But nurses 
would be eligible to apply for affordable 
housing. The NHS is also free to build 
nursing accommodation.

26. Provide public art provision 1 This is included in the document
27. Air impact study/ concern 

about increased traffic 
generated air pollution

11
(2)

Environmental Health will require assessment 
of air quality as part of a planning application. 
The provision in the brief for tree planting 
will have a beneficial impact on air pollution.

28. Concern about noise 1 Paragraph 5.6 of the brief addresses noise 

173



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

pollution pollution.
29. Concern about ‘noise 

tunnel’ on Botley Road
1 New houses will be set back by 

approximately 10m
30. Frontage of hospital should 

be retained/ historically 
important

111111
(6)

Already allowed for in the plans

31. Workhouse building 
should/could be demolished

11
(2)

This building is locally listed and the frontage 
is planned to be retained.

32. Support for preservation of 
distinctive gateposts to 
south of Hawthorn  Lodge

1 Noted

33. Concern that historical 
aspect of buildings will be 
lost. Call for donation to 
West End Local History 
Society.

11
(2)

A good deal of information about the 
Workhouse already exists, along with its 
original archive. The brief requires that 
records, including a photographic record of 
the building will be made. The policy 
covering percent for art would not be 
appropriate for a solely historical use. 
However the Local Plan already has policies 
covering the preservation/recording of 
archaeology, areas of historic interest and 
listed buildings. 

34. Need spaces for wildlife 1111
(4)

The Council has polices in place to maximise 
the biodiversity value of new development. 
However the needs of wildlife must be 
balanced against the need for more housing.

35. Existing drainage problems 
of hospital site/concern 
about drainage

111
(3)

Any development as a result of this brief will 
be required to produce a sustainable drainage 
plan. Text will be added to the brief to re-
inforce this requirement and to report the 
flooding incident of 2011/12.
Revised para 2.52:

2.52
To date no drainage studies have been 

carried out on the site. A full 
drainage study will be required by 
the developers of the site. There is 
a report of existing flooding from 
drainage across the hospital site in 
2011/12 recorded in the draft 
SWMP for Eastleigh (which is 
available at the County Council’s 
website here; 
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/floodin
g/hampshireflooding/surfacewater
management/swmp-eastleigh.htm 
- see in particular page 45 of the 
Appendix D Eastleigh Parish 

174



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

Maps and section 7.2.11 on pages 
23 and 24 of the main SWMP 
document (29/30 of the PDF). 
This area covered the Phase 1A 
and phase 3 areas (refer to 
phasing plan number 19). The 
development site is likely to have 
a hydrological link to the
Moorgreen Meadows SSSI – this 
will require further investigation 
and consideration in due course.

36. Noise disruption during 
build

1 A condition will be placed on any planning 
consent to limit construction and demolition 
hours and have an agreed construction 
management plan.

37. Use site for a new school 1 Beyond the scope of this brief. Comment 
noted and forwarded to Hampshire County 
Council.

38. Doctors surgery car park 
needs enlarging

1 This is already allowed for in the plans.

39. Can St James School cope 
with extra demand?

1111111111
111
(13)

HCC addressing this issue.

40. Need for an additional Park 
and Stride facility

1 Reference to Park and Stride facilities will 
be added to the brief.
New Para 5.28:
Park and stride facilities for St James School

5.28 Should it become necessary to expand 
the intake of St James School then the council 
will work with the school, Hampshire County 
Council and West End Parish Council to seek 
to address any additional parking requirement 
in a sustainable way that, ideally, keeps 
additional traffic well away from Monarch 
Way and the school gates.  The council would 
like to see developer’s suggestions about how 
some additional capacity could be provided 
for ‘park and stride’ perhaps either within the 
site area, or via the current car park and rec 
ground- perhaps by changes to current 
utilisation of land. There is already a fair level 
of parking and striding from Moorgreen Rec 
to the school, however school parking 
problems commonly occur on Monarch Way 
as the rec ground car park isn’t currently big 
enough. 

41. Concern re capacity of GP 
surgery

11111111
(8)

The brief already allows for expansion of the 
surgery into the phase 1A area.

42. Concern re capacity of 
local dentists

1 This is a matter for the NHS.

175



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

43. Small corner shop would be 
beneficial

11
(2)

The brief will be altered to allow 
developers the flexibility to build a small 
corner shop if they consider it viable.
New Para 5.101:
Retail use

5.101 The council would welcome the 
inclusion in phase 1A or phase 3 of a 
convenience store provided that it had the 
following;
• Frontage on Botley Road
• Suitable parking arrangements, 
conveniently accessible from Botley Road 
without causing disturbance to residents 
• A maximum floor area of 280m2
The limit on floor area relates to the 
maximum size of store permitted to be open 
for more than six hours on Sunday and to 
ensure that the store does not have an adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of West 
End village centre.

44. Provide or improve sports 
facilities

11
(2)

Planning gain contributions will be required 
of developers and these could be used to 
improve sports facilities subject to the 
priorities of the Local Area Committee and 
the Parish Council.

45. Concern about crime 11
(2)

This is a matter for the Police.

46. Support for landmark 
building

11
(2)

Noted

47. Concern about landmark 
building at junction of 
Moorgreen/Botley

111 (3) This is a standard urban design response to a 
significant junction to promote ‘legibility’ 
(the ease with which people can navigate 
around a place). It is also espoused in official 
national guidance and page 19 of the 
Council’s adopted Quality Places SPD. The 
dotted, circular symbol used in plan no.23 is 
an abstract symbol to indicate the 
approximate position of the building. It does 
not mean that the building should be 
cylindrical in form. The land on which the 
building will be built is lower than the 
Botley/Moorgreen Road junction. This will 
reduce the impact of any building here and 
this has been taken account of in the setting of 
building height limits here.

48. 10 metre set-back to 
frontages on Moorgreen 
and Botley welcomed.

11
(2)

Noted. The brief fixes this, however if the 
developer can justify very minor and localised 
reduction of this set back in their design 

176



ISSUE NUMBERS 
OF 
RESIDENT
S

RESPONSE; text in bold indicates where a 
change to the brief will be made

statement, then the Council will consider this.
49. Tennis Court on the rec 

needs resurfacing/ facilities 
for older children needed; 
eg more tennis courts/ 
contribution to youth club

1 Planning gain receipts towards play/leisure 
provision will be taken. The Parish Council 
will be responsible for prioritising any 
improvements to the rec.

50. Provision for a church 1 The Council is not aware of any need for a 
new church building within the area. If such a 
need is identified, the Council will seek to 
work with the relevant groups to find an 
appropriate site

51. Opposition to building on 
the ‘Donkey Field’ on 
grounds of ecology and/or 
limiting of urban sprawl

11
(2)

This land has been identified as a potential 
development site since at least the publication 
of the 2001-20011 Local Plan. Development 
will, however, be required to mitigate any 
impact on ecology in accordance with Council 
policy and national legislation.

Table 2 Summary of consultation responses from organisations

Where a consultee organisation has raised an issue previously raised by another consultee (resident or 
organisation), the issue and response will not be repeated. Only significant issues, relevant to the 
content and purpose of the brief are listed.

CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made

1. Graham Paisley
Network Development
 Planner, Scottish 
and Southern Energy

Standard comment made on most 
development sites which are 
accommodating local electricity 
distribution facilitating supplies.

Noted. No change to document.

2. Steve Carrington
Planning Director
Foreman Homes-
Landowner 
representative

Request to include a small area of 
land outside the Local Plan 
allocation within the developable 
area for Moorgreen Dairy Farm 
site.

Agreed, subject to increased 
requirement for screening along 
countryside edge. The capacity 
figure for this phase will be 
increased by 3 units to 23 homes.
 All plans have been updated to 
include this small extra area. 
Last line of Revised para 5.37 
(formerly 5.35):
This phase has the capacity for 

in the region of 23 
units. The area of this 
site is just under 0.82 
hectares.

177



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made
Extra lines added to para 5.57 

(formerly 5.55):
There is a small triangular 

fragment of land to 
the north east of the 
Moorgreen Dairy 
Farm site beyond the 
basic square shape of 
the plot. This is 
included within the 
area considered by 
this brief on the basis 
that it shall be 
wholly planted with 
tree and hedge 
planting. See 
development concept 
plan number 20.

3. Mr S Parmer
Hampshire Fire and 
Rescue Service

General, non-site specific advice Information noted, but is generic 
advice, not needed in the document.

4. Helen Batty
Assistant Asset 
Manager
Highways Agency

Concern regarding access to the 
motorway if noise mitigation is 
required.

Information noted, but is generic 
advice, not needed in the document.

5. James Rowley
Area Manager North 
Hampshire
Homes and 
Communities 
Agency- Landowner

a)Could be more clarity on the 
vision for the development
b)Section on additional design 
guidance should include 
architectural guidance.
c) Development on HCA site 
should seek to reflect existing 
identity and scale of that site, rather 
than focus the design response to 
the suburban context.
d) Clarification sought on the 
context of the brief given the 
demise of the latest Local Plan.

Further comments of relatively less 
importance relating to points of 
detail were made. Some of these 
have resulted in minor changes to 
the brief. These comments are 
included in the attached annotated 
copy of the HCA’s response below.

a) This will be addressed in the 
design code to be produced by the 
developer and agreed with the 
Council.
b) This will be addressed in the 
design code. Further more detailed 
advice is not required at this stage 
in the development  process. The 
HCA was given the opportunity to 
produce a Design Guide for the site 
which could have included such 
advice, which could then  have 
been reflected in the brief.

c) The HCA site consists of two 
pockets of high density 
development surrounded by lawns 
and car parks of limited merit in 
terms of character. Outside of the 
workhouse frontage and its 
curtilage area to the south, this 
overall development pattern is not 

178



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made
appropriate for this site.   

d) The brief has been redrafted to 
relate principally to the adopted 
Local Plan (2001-2012).
Numerous changes, removing or 
qualifying references to the 
Submitted Local Plan (2011-2029) 
policies and  new references to 
Adopted Local Plan (2001-2011) 
policies have been made 
throughout the document and 
particularly in paras 4.7-4.12

6. Pete Errington
HCC

Support principal of access.
Suggestion to include more in the 
brief regarding drainage and 
Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDS).

Additional text is added to 
address concerns regarding 
drainage and SUDS.
Additional two lines in para 5.101 
(formerly 5.98):
In view of the history of flooding 
on the site the Council will expect 
developers to investigate the 
potential flood risk and to drain the 
development by means of a 
sustainable urban drainage system. 
A hierarchical approach should be 
taken, with ‘soft engineering’ 
solutions such as swales,  ditches, 
ponds and reed beds utilised first 
and hard engineered solutions only 
used as last resort.

7. Tiffany Hallett
Legal Property 
Manager 
Southern Health 
NHS Foundation 
Trust, and
Paula Melhuish
Head of Capital 
Planning & 
Compliance
University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust
Inger Hebden
Director of 
Commissioning, Long 
Term Conditions and 
Community
NHS West 
Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning 

Concern regarding parking 
displaced from HCA site.
Statement of future plans for the 
site, which is in line with the 
proposals in the brief.

A paragraph is added to explain 
the council’s position 
in relation to the problem of 
parking displaced  from the HCA 
site.
New para 5.29:
Displaced parking demand from 
NHS users and staff

5.29 The significant short and 
medium term need  by the existing 
NHS tenants for increased parking 
is recognised, given the uses of the 
site and the removal of parking 
availability on the derelict site 
(phase 1A) once a developer takes 
ownership.  The NHS have 
indicated that they may wish to 
provide additional parking by 
intensifying the existing parking 
within the phase 3 area. Depending 
on the extent of the proposal, this 

179



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made

Group would be considered by the 
Council. However, a suitable soft 
landscape structure would be 
needed to preserve some of the 
existing verdant character of the 
space, and designs to encourage 
non car use e.g. car share spaces 
and bike parking space would also 
be required. Site users (Southern 
health et al) have been advised 
already to develop a travel plan. 
The Council is also considering 
encouraging the NHS to build a car 
park on the Donkey Field and is 
also attempting to facilitate 
temporary provision at Ageas 
Bowl.

8. Alison Appleby
Natural England

Several small amendments 
requested to improve the advice in 
relation to the impact on Moorgreen 
Meadows SSSI and other nearby 
sites.
Welcome the reference to deep 
soakaways to augment water supply 
to this site and also the stainable 
drainage paragraph.

Agreed

9. Clare Gibbons
Development Manager
Southern Water

Request to include a sentence 
regarding connection to the 
sewerage network.

Agreed. Included as new 
paragraph 5.100:
5.100       A full drainage study will 
be required by the developers of the 
site to include a connection to the 
nearest point of adequate capacity 
in the sewerage network, in 
collaboration with the service 
provider.   

10. St James School a) Concern regarding the reference 
to adopted parking SPD regarding 
the option to reduce parking 
provision where unallocated 
parking is provided.
b) Concern regarding ‘potential 
deep soakaways’. 
c) Land ownership plan label, 
‘countryside’.
d) reference to distances to local 
schools and concern about shortage 
of secondary school places.

a) This brief cannot change the 
adopted parking policy, which will 
stand. All developments will, 
through the parking SPD referred to 
in the brief, provide for their own 
needs in terms of parking. Due to 
differing car use patterns, 
unallocated parking is more 
efficient than normal.
b) The soakaway drains would be 
within the site. These would not 
have an effect at surface level. 
However the relevant graphic 
will be tweaked to reassure the 

180



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made
consultee.
c) This is in fact correct. The term 
refers to the planning designation 
and land can be both designated 
countryside and still be used as 
school playing fields. However the 
label will be removed to avoid 
further confusion.
d) Distances to schools corrected. 
Education is a matter for 
Hampshire County Council, who 
have been consulted on the brief 
and raised no objection in terms of 
this issue.

11. Andrew Strange Head 
of Planning and 
Development
 
NHS Property 
Services Ltd

a)If the site has not been the subject 
of a tree survey to British 
Standards, the SPD should not 
include detailed proposals in 
respect of individual trees.
b)The SPD should not include 
specific proposals for tree 
“avenues” within the site unless 
there is some evidence of a need for 
them in these particular locations. 
These should be “indicative”

c) The SPD should be explicit 
about the archaeological 
investigations that the Council will 
expect in respect of the 
development of the different parts 
of the site. 

d) Decisions about the 
commissioning of healthcare 
services for people in this area will 
be taken by the CCG and NHS 
England.  The commissioners 
engage with the Council through 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. It 
is not clear from this SPD as to the 
role that the Council, acting as local 
planning authority, has in 
determining whether there is a need 
for healthcare facilities on this site 
to serve the current and future 
needs of local people. If the local 
planning authority will require 
anything other than confirmation 
from the commissioners as to the 
need for the facilities to deliver 
healthcare, please could the SPD be 

a)Not accepted. The Council has 
expert officers who are capable of 
passing judgement without 
including all the detail requirements 
of a survey to full British 
Standards.

b) The Council considers there is a 
need for avenues in 
the locations proposed.

c) The document references to 
guidance issued by Hampshire 
County Council on archaeology and 
development.

d) The Council does  have a role in 
health planning within its wider 
responsibilities to facilitate 
sustainable development, whilst 
also democratically representing the 
views and needs of residents.. 
However it is not within the remit 
of this development brief to set out 
the case for improved healthcare 
within the borough. This brief 
merely provides a framework, 
within which health care can be 
facilitated and any land 
demonstrated to be surplus to 
requirements for health uses can be 
developed for housing. The Council 
looks forward to closer engagement 
with NHS bodies including NHS 
Clinical Commissioners and NHS 
England, through both Hampshire’s 
and Eastleigh’s Health and 
Wellbeing Boards. Further 

181



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made

more specific about the precise 
nature of the information that will 
be required?

e) The precise area to be retained as 
open space should be determined 
via a planning application, rather 
than be identified specifically on 
this plan, unless there is evidence 
why this particular area needs to be 
retained as open space.

 f) Objection to the identification of 
separate parts of the site owned by 
NHS PS as being suitable for 
healthcare and residential 
development. The whole area in 
NHS PS ownership should simply 
be allocated for a mix of healthcare 
and residential development.

g) Objection to the retention of the 
gate piers to the south of Hawthorn 
Lodge

information about the evidence 
required to support a case for the 
change of use from health to other 
uses will be provided, as necessary, 
on a site by site basis. This is likely 
to include evidence that satisfies the 
Council that adequate and 
accessible provision is being made 
across the health system and the 
local area for older people and for 
communities that experience health 
inequalities.

e) There are good planning reasons 
set out in paras 5.45-5.49 (formerly 
5.43-5.47) why the main areas of 
open space have been identified 
where they are.

f) Not accepted. There are good 
planning reasons why the land uses 
have been identified for different 
areas. These are set out in paras 
5.38 and 5.39 (formerly 5.36 and 
5.37). extra clarification has been 
added, in para 5.38:
It is also the preferred option of the 
Council as it is likely to result in 
more efficient use of land and 
several other urban design benefits 
and would allow better integration 
of phase 1a and phase 3 residential 
developments as well as a 
consolidation of all healthcare 
facilities in one place.
 And in para 5.39:
New housing here would enable 
better integration with the phase 1a 
development and would also not be 
subject to the same level of noise 
issues experienced further east, 
nearer to the motorway.

g) Not accepted.
12. Robert Lloyd-Sweet

Historic Places 
Adviser (South East 
England)
English Heritage

Support the proposal to provide 
green open space as a landscape 
setting for the barrow.
Support retention of locally listed 
buildings.
Request clarification that land 
between lodges fronting Botley 
Road is to remain undeveloped.

Noted

Noted

Agreed Plan 23 has been 
amended to show publicly-
accessible open space between the 

182



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made
two lodge s.

13. West End Parish and 
Moorgreen Rd Res 
Assn

2) Object to max allowable 
building height fronting 
park of 3 storeys.

b) Proposed footpath improvements 
within Moorgreen Rec.

c) Object strongly to new footpath 
proposed along east side of 
Moorgreen Road along side the rec 
where there is currently no 
footway.

d) There is a need for an overview 
of all developments in the area and 
the impact of these all together on 
West End and surrounding areas 
including the environment and the 
infrastructure.

e) no suggestions of any factors to 
ameliorate the extra traffic 
generated by this site

f) The Recreation Ground is also at 
a higher level than our properties 
(along Moorgreen Road) and the 
drainage ditch that runs along this 

a) There is currently no significant 
informal surveillance of the park 
from surrounding houses. It is good 
design practice to have natural 
surveillance on at least the lengths 
of 3 sides of a park, for the safety 
and security of its users. The brief 
proposes surveillance along only a 
short section of the park. It is not 
ideal to rely on CCTV for safety (as 
suggested by the consultees) and 
the proposed new paths alongside 
the south and east sides of the park 
would need surveillance.  3 storeys 
are appropriate in terms of the scale 
of building vis-à-vis this significant 
piece of open space and will 
maximise the opportunity for 
natural surveillance and attractive 
views. No change to the brief is 
proposed.
b) Change suggested for route of 
new footpaths to introduce paths 
along southern and eastern 
boundaries on plan nos. 18 & 23. 
The Council would expect these 
to be delivered by the developer.

c) The scheme is on the HCC / 
EBC Transport Scheme Inventory 
list as TSI 678, and was prioritised 
as High by HEWEB on 30.9.13.  
As such the scheme will remain in 
the brief.

d) Noted. The 2011-2029 Local 
Plan considered the in-combination 
impact of development across the 
borough through the supporting 
evidence base, including 
Sustainability Appraisal and 
Transport Assessment. The new 
2011-2036 will take a similar 
approach to assessing the impacts.”

e) These can only be determined 

183



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made

boundary must be retained after a transport assessment (funded 
by developers) has been carried out. 

f)Agreed

14. Botley Parish Council The document should be
strengthened to include a specific 
requirement for the positive 
enhancement of the
medical facilities available.

Lack of clarity regarding parking 
for re-provided hospital building.

The Council does  have a role in 
health planning within its wider 
responsibilities to facilitate 
sustainable development, whilst 
democratically representing the 
views and needs of residents. 
However it is not within the remit 
of this development brief to set out 
the case for improved healthcare 
within the borough. This brief 
merely provides a framework 
within which health care can be 
facilitated and any land 
demonstrated to be surplus to 
requirements for health uses can be 
developed for housing.
All new development on the site 
must serve its own parking needs. 
This is adopted Council policy and 
will not change. It is not the 
purpose of this brief to provide 
detailed information regarding 
parking requirements; this is 
covered in other SPD. However for 
the purpose of clarity a sentence 
will be added to the brief to 
clarify that new hospital 
buildings will be required to 
provide sufficient parking.
Extra line added at the end of 
para 5.38 (formerly 5.36):

The new buildings shall be 
provided with 
sufficient parking to 
serve employees and 
patients.

15. Eastleigh Southern 
Parishes Older 
People’s Forum and 
Bursledon Parish 
Council

Various issues already raised by 
other organisations or residents.

16. HEWEB local area 
committee

Consider the co-location of GP 
services with a re-provided 

The brief will be amended to 
recommend this as a longer term 

184



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made

‘hospital’ to deliver the benefits of 
an integrated service to residents.

option.
Extra line to para 5.39 (formerly 
5.37):
Eastleigh Borough Council 
recommends that the co-location of 
GP services with a re-provided 
‘hospital’ to deliver the benefits of 
an integrated service to residents 
should be considered.

17. Eastleigh Borough 
Council officers and 
Eastleigh Borough and 
Romsey MENCAP

Potential for social and therapeutic 
horticulture on the site.

The brief will be amended to 
facilitate the option for the 
inclusion of a horticultural 
therapy (or similar) facility on 
the site.
Extra line to para 5.39 (formerly 
5.37):

A new horticultural therapy 
facility (or similar) 
would also be 
encouraged on this site.

18. Eastleigh Borough 
Council Planning 
Policy team

Document needs to be refocused on 
adopted 2001-2011 Local Plan, 
rather than 2011-2029 Local Plan. 
Various other minor corrections 
and suggestions for improving the 
structure and clarity of the 
document

The brief will be amended to take 
into account these comments

      
19.

Eastleigh Borough 
Council Planning 
Policy team

Need to refer to potential impacts 
on overwintering birds on the 
Solent

New para. 2.48:
2.48 Concern has been 
raised with regard to the 
impacts of the scale of 
residential development 
proposed across the south 
Hampshire area on migrating 
and overwintering birds on the 
Solent shores, as a result of 
recreational disturbance (e.g. 
through dog walking). The 
Solent Disturbance and 
Mitigation Project examined 
potential impacts and 
mitigation measures. 
Resulting from this work, the 
Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Partnership1, comprised of 

1 Solent Forum 
http://www.solentforum.org/forum/sub_groups/Natural_Environment_Group/Disturbance_and_Mitigation_Proj

185



CONSULTEE ISSUE Response; text in bold indicates 
where a change to the brief will 
be made
authorities across south 
Hampshire, including 
Eastleigh Borough Council), 
have agreed an interim 
mitigation strategy2. This 
strategy requires financial 
contributions to be made 
toward mitigation measures by 
any development involving a 
net gain of dwellings that is 
within the 5.6km ‘zone of 
influence’ identified. This site 
is located within this 5.6km 
zone. 

    20. Eastleigh Borough 
Council 
Implementation & 
Design team

If the GP surgery eventually 
relocates with the other health 
facilities the vacated site would be 
appropriate for an extension to the 
residential development. For this 
reason the first phase of the 
residential development should be 
designed to allow for that 
eventuality.

New para 5.65:
The phase 1a development should 
be designed in a way which 
facilitates easy and efficient 
extension onto the existing surgery 
as and when this opportunity occurs 
if the GP surgery were to relocate 
with the other healthcare facilities.

 Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) Comments on Eastleigh Borough Council`s 
“ Land at Moorgreen Hospital Draft Development Brief” Dated November 2014.
EBC response added in bold at the end of each paragraph or issue. 

Thank you for providing the HCA with the opportunity to comment on the draft development 
brief for this site. Please find below a summary of our comments. We would welcome the 
opportunity to discuss these with you at your earliest convenience. 

1. Background 

HCA took over the 2.65 Hectare site (shown in plan 1 outlined in red p3 of the draft brief) 
from the NHS in April 2014. Following this transfer, we met with the council to discuss 
submitting a formal pre-application and have had extensive pre-application discussions since 
this was submitted in August 2014. In September, we produced and shared the Moorgreen 
Developers Brief with Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC), which was used as part of our 
tender process. This has been a collaborative design process to date, which in our view 
forms part of the context for the preparation of the Draft Development Brief SPD, although 
we recognise this covers a wider area. 

ect/
2 Solent Recreation and Mitigation Partnership (2014) Interim Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-srmp-interim-mitigation-strategy.pdf

186



2. Overall Comments 

We would like to make the following comments provided in response to the brief: 
The Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) provides useful guidance, but we suggest that 
there could be adjustments which could improve its clarity. In particular, it would be good to 
give more clarity on the vision for the development, as there is a real opportunity to create a 
quality landmark development at this site. To illustrate what can be achieved by other case 
studies, we would be a happy to provide further details of precedent HCA and/or local 
schemes or arrange a tour of comparable sites where high quality former hospital/workhouse 
conversion schemes have been achieved. Similarly, we also felt that ‘Additional Design 
Criteria’ (p73) focusses on distances from trees, set-backs, hedge width, etc. rather than on 
the type of place that will be designed and should provide some architectural guidance. 
We feel that the SPD analysis rather underplays the range of locally listed buildings in the 
local context, as well as the variety of land uses (especially south of the site) and scale of 
development. As a result, at present the SPD may not be picking up the opportunity to do 
something different and create a landmark development within an area of suburban 
development. Due to the presence of the locally listed Workhouse and lodge buildings being 
there before any of the suburban development, the HCAs site has always been substantially 
different to the local context. We are of the view that it has always had its own identity and 
the new development should seek to reflect that identity and scale, rather than focus the 
design response to the suburban context. 
In terms of character assessment, we suggest that West End is clearly identified as a series 
of character areas, illustrating different age, form, scale and land use.
See main schedule for responses to the points raised in in this section.
 
3. Specific comments 

Our specific comments are made as follows: 
Plan 1 refers to Dawson Lodge as an ‘Old People’s Home’ – should this be referred to as a 
residential care home? Agreed.
Plan 2 shows an old aerial photo of the site which does not reflect its current appearance. 
We suggest the plan should annotate date this aerial photo was taken and/or replace it with 
a current image. Agreed

Plan 4 should show Dawson Lodge shaded as NHS Property Co. as Dawson Lodge land is 
leased from NHS (similarly Countess Mountbatten has a Southampton University Hospital 
Trust lease from NHS Prop Co). Agreed

Plan 5 is a little confusing and we suggest it could be broken up into a couple of plans to 
help emphasise key contextual matters. No building heights have been provided to coach 
depot or leisure development. This also shows Ageas Bowl land – should that not be shaded 
blue too? Also, if this is a Site Context plan could the existing hospital buildings be coloured 
to denote building heights to maintain consistency with surrounding area? Not accepted

Plan 12 references Principle hedgerows. These are not all of a high quality or to be retained 
on phase 1 and we suggest this is reflected. Not accepted- this level of detail is for the 
application stage.

Plan 13 should distinguish the range of sensitivity along the boundary with Countess 
Mountbatten House. We are of the view that the most sensitive edge is along the boundary 
with the eastern block, which is the actual Hospice accommodation. The text already 
distinguishes between the different levels of sensitivity. However the graphic will be 
altered to reduce the area of highest sensitivity in the vicinity of the training block.

187



The plan shows principal sections of hedgerow and that species rich hedgerow must be 
retained. This includes hedging next to the GP extension land which would prevent its 
expansion, so suggest this is amended. Agreed

Plan 17 & 23 should be amended to include updated requirements for additional land for GP 
surgery, following recent discussions. Agreed

Plan 19 may be better as a single phasing plan? Not agreed.

Plan 20 proposes density ranges are rather prescriptive and lend more rigidity to a scheme 
coming forward. We suggest a simple site wide density may be more effective and good 
design will achieve appropriate site wide density to respond to constraints and opportunities. 
Not accepted. 

Plan 23 - The planting details suggested along the sensitive area of Hospice should allow 
more flexibility. Not accepted.

Under Development Principles Exec Summary (p7) our detailed comments are: 

 1st bullet – 215-230 dwellings is quite a narrow range of development permitted. Can the 
wording be revised to say can accommodate approximately 230 dwellings or alternatively at 
least 215 dwellings to provide more flexibility. Partially accepted. The word 
‘approximately’ will be added. 

 3rd bullet – states frontage block and lodges must be retained and re-used. Whilst structural 
surveys have been done which demonstrates they can be retained and re-used, a viable 
scheme will need to be worked-up so this is achievable. The use of ‘should’ is preferable. 
Not accepted.

 4th bullet – ‘must provide for future expansion’ of the surgery. Again we support the principle 
for this, but expansion is not yet certain. Revised wording would be ‘should allow for the 
potential future expansion of the surgery’. Not accepted.
 8th bullet and Para 5.17 (p56) – we would prefer that the brief refers to development 
exploring the potential for enhancements to the strategic cycle network as this maintains 
flexibility. Not accepted.

 9th bullet – it is not in our control to improve visibility of the Recreation Ground, given that the 
boundary fence/planting appears to be in the parish councils ownership. The policy also 
‘requires’ a new access into the park. This is understood, but would be contingent on the 
parish agreeing to an entrance being provided and need to avoid any ransom situation. We 
suggest wording such as to ‘explore the potential for a pedestrian/cycle access into the 
recreation ground’. Sentence added to make this contingent on the parish council 
making the land freely available.

 11th bullet – this states development must provide 35% affordable. Policy DM28 of the draft 
local plan refers to a target of 35% so please can this be amended. Agreed

 15th Bullet - we don’t feel that adjoining frontages offer sufficient consistency to be justify 
being mirrored. Not accepted.

These comments on the principles will also apply to the relevant bodies of text in the SPD 
which refers. 

188



Paragraph 2.7 Townscape (p13) - In terms of character assessment, we suggest that West 
End is a more diverse area, clearly identified as a series of character areas, illustrating 
different age, form, scale and land use. We feel that the locally listed buildings on site are 
most relevant as the reference point. Comment noted, but no change to document.

Paragraph 2.42 (p32) – the HCA has carried out more than “partial” ecological surveys 
including an extended Phase 1 habitat survey, an invasive plant survey, assessment of 
buildings on site for bat roost potential and a bat emergence/re-entry survey to gather outline 
information on the likely presence/absence of roosting bats. Further details can be provided 
if required and we would request that this is included in the text. Agreed

Paragraph 2.44 (p32) refers to nesting birds within buildings on site. Please confirm which 
buildings are affected. Similarly this applies to 2.45 – please confirm where slow-worms 
been found on site. EBC ecologist to action later in the development process.

Paragraph 2.53 (p37) refers to noise pollution adjoining the M27, this comment really only 
applies to the east of overall site nearer to M27. Air pollution will still apply.

Paragraph 3.9 (p42) -This refers to evidence that no healthcare need is required on site. As 
we have discussed before, the HCAs site is a de-commissioned site and therefore this policy 
requirement is therefore unnecessary now. Please can this wording be amended, because 
as discussed during the pre-application process, HCAs land is a de-commissioned site, 
there is Ministers letter confirming this and therefore can we agree that quoting this policy 
requirement is therefore unnecessary now? Wording added, but any planning application 
will still need to be supported by robust evidence.

Para 3.18 (p43) - Reference is made to ‘probably’ not allowing individual access to plots 
from Moorgreen Road should be supported by highway evidence. This needs to be clarified 
as a couple of driveway accesses serving a few properties here may not give rise to highway 
concerns. The main site access will be from Botley Road. Paragraph 5.16 (p56) refers to a 
missing footpath along Moorgreen Road, towards the Primary School. This is outside of the 
site and is not directly related to the development so we suggest this proposal is removed. 
The development itself however will provide for safe routes through the site. Clarification 
made.
Paragraph 5.16 (p56) refers to a missing footpath along Moorgreen Road, towards the 
Primary School. This is outside of the site and is not directly related to the development so 
we suggest this proposal is removed. The development itself however will provide for safe 
routes through the site. Not accepted.

Paragraph 5.25 (p.58) - Shared surface streets may serve more than 15 dwellings. Already 
allowed for in paragraph 5.26.

Paragraph 5.29 (p60) Although we liked this affordable housing image, it does suggests a 
higher density approach. We suggest the document should be consistent generally on 
density by indicating that flexibility will be allowed within its different sub-areas. Not 
accepted.

Paragraph 5.40 (p60) - Could we discuss why the planting screen needs to be ‘at least 5m’? 
We would like to see wording that will enable some flexibility in a scheme coming forward. 
Not accepted.

Paragraph 5.34 (p63) – States that the 1st phase of site has capacity for in the region of 110-
115 homes. Following the HCAs capacity work, we consider that the site could 
accommodate at least 120 homes and have given wider range in the HCAs Developers 
Brief. We would like for the range stated here be more flexible than stated, including up to 

189



120 homes. Final numbers will have to be determined by the consideration of submitted 
detailed scheme and range of house types included. Not accepted, but wording clarified.

Paragraph 5.51 (p66) - the hedge row along Botley Road has been surveyed and found and 
not to be species rich as part of survey work undertaken by Peter Brett Associates and this 
was reported back to project meeting. Can this please be stated in the brief. Detail not 
required in the brief and not yet confirmed by EBC ecologist.

Paragraph 5.56 (p66) provides prescriptive requirements for bird and bat boxes. Could the 
first sentence should be retained but the remaining sentences requiring 50% of houses to 
have bird boxes and 50% to have bat bricks, etc be removed. Not accepted.

Paragraph 5.59 (p67) refers to floor to ceiling heights. Normally, apartments would be in the 
region of 2.5-2.6m floor to ceiling heights. Could this please be amended to allow more 
flexibility. Clarification made for 2.5 storey buildings.

Paragraph 5.61 (p69) - using large house types is only one solution which could be 
appropriate adjoining the eastern section of the hospice accommodation. Can this paragraph 
be consistent the revised wording in the pre-application response which seems more flexible 
and appropriate. Additional wording added.

Paragraph 5.66 (p73) Botley and Moorgreen Roads are different in terms of noise exposure 
and visual context. The set back along Moorgreen Road will probably be splayed at the 
corner focal point building as shown in your plan 22, but there seems to be no justification for 
this to be 10m set back along the short remaining frontage up to West End Surgery. Please 
can this be clarified. Not accepted.

On Botley Road frontage, the HCA understands the council`s ambition to introduce an 
avenue of trees, but the wording provided in the pre-application response is less prescriptive 
and we would prefer for this to be used. Not accepted.

Paragraph 5.80 (p76) -There are a number of solutions possible to create a sensitive 
relationship between the developments. This has been reflected in the updated wording 
within the pre-application response (see comment 5.61 above) and should be reflected in 
this paragraph also. Wording added to allow for older persons homes to be 
accommodated adjacent to Countess Mountbatten Hospice as an alternative solution.

Para 5.98 (p81) - The development of an energy centre will not be feasible or viable for a 
development of circa 120 homes on phase 1 of the site unless the council can guarantee 
connection and provide an indemnity to the house builder should there be any delays. 
Noted, but the wording in the brief doesn’t commit the developers to build one.

Appendix D (p87). The public art ideas reflecting the history of the workhouse are welcomed 
and we would like more discussion on this. Noted.

3 Conclusion 
We would like to thank Eastleigh Council for providing the opportunity for us to comment on 
this brief and believe that by working together (including the selected developer) we can 
ensure a quality residential scheme is delivered on HCA’s site. We would welcome the 
opportunity to meet with you to discuss our comments. 
With regards to the development timetable, the HCA expects to be able to confirm the 
selected developer partner for Moorgreen shortly following the 10 day standstill period 
ending 9 February. Going forward after then, we would like to move forward in the 
discussions regarding both the pre-application process and development brief. We have 

190



suggested to Dawn Errington in the planning team that there is a round table meeting with all 
key officers, HCA and the preferred developer. 
At this meeting we would also like to clarify the context of the SPD given that the emerging 
Local Plan is being withdrawn, will this require the SPD to be re-drafted as these draft 
policies are now not going to be in place? It would be useful to have clarification from how 
Eastleigh propose to advance the SPD in light of the withdrawal of their Local Plan and the 
implications this may have on developers. The brief has been redrafted to relate 
principally to the adopted Local Plan.

191



This page is intentionally left blank



Land at Moorgreen Hospital and Moorgreen Dairy Farm 
Development Brief - Supplementary Planning Document

Extract from the Minutes of the Hedge End, West End & Botley 
Local Area Committee held on 9 March 2015

Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Policy that related to the land at Moorgreen Hospital, the adjoining field and 
Moorgreen Dairy Farm, West End. A revised Appendix A, Statement of 
Consultations Moorgreen Hospital Development Brief’ was tabled.

A successful formal consultation process had taken place, and whilst the changes 
proposed to the brief did not have a major impact on the overall proposals, the 
changes to the access arrangements were considered essential. The reassurances 
and clarification about the Council’s position regarding the health service offer on the 
site, and the additional ideas to improve the health offer were also very important. 
Once the development brief was adopted the document would provide more detailed 
guidance on the Council’s objectives for this site, helping to achieve a greater level 
of control over future development than currently exists. This would result in higher 
quality development, reflecting the needs of the community.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the development brief be updated in accordance with the changes 
specified in Appendix A to the report; and

(2) That Cabinet be recommended to adopt the subsequent revised 
development brief for Moorgreen Hospital and the adjoining field, as a 
supplementary planning document and, in relation to land at Moorgreen 
Dairy Farm, to adopt the brief as non-statutory guidance.

(NOTE: The Chair of the Moorgreen Road Residents’ Association spoke with 
regards to the number of proposed applications in the area and felt that someone 
should be overviewing them. She thanked the planning officers for their consultations 
and passed her best wishes to Mark Ellison, author of the report, wishing him a 
speedy recovery. All Members concurred this last sentiment.)

193



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Community Investment Programme - Strategy Review and Approval of Schemes
	CIP - Appendix A
	CIP - Appendix B

	5 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029: Inspector's Report
	Inspector's report appendix

	6 Local Development Scheme for the 2011-36 Local Plan
	LDS appendix

	7 Preliminary estimates of the Borough's housing need and supply to 2036
	Housing Needs appendix

	8 Eastleigh Borough Travelling Communities DPD: Representations on the draft Travelling Communities DPD and next steps
	Travelling Communities appendix

	9 Fleming Park Leisure Centre Redevelopment Project
	10 Project Integra: Change to the Constitution and Approval of the Action Plan 2015-2018
	Appendix 1 - PI Action Plan 2015-18
	Appendix 2 - Constitution Revision 2015 (final)

	11 Land at Moorgreen Hospital and Moorgreen Dairy Farm Development Brief
	Moorgreen Hospital Appendix A
	Land at Moorgreen Hospital and Moorgreen Dairy Farm Development Brief - HEWEB minute


